
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 60

Agenda Item Type: Closed Session

• Title: Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of
conferring with county management and legal counsel regarding labor negotiations with
the Storey County Firefighters’ Association IAFF Local 422. This meeting will
commence at 9:00 A.M.

• Recommended motion: N/A

• Prepared by: Mitzi Carter

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: Pursuant to NRS 288 and the existing bargaining agreements between
the Storey County Firefighters’ Association and the Storey County Fire Protection
District and Storey County are proposed to be modified pursuant to tentatively agreed
successor agreement.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      1



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the Agenda for the May 16, 2023, meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary

• Prepared by: Drema Smith

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: see attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    4



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 21, 2023,
• regular meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See Attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    5



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING   

3/21/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_____________________________________________________________ 
MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER  JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK & TREASURER 

____________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, Recorder Dru McPherson, Sheriff Mike Cullen, County Manager 
Austin Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis, Comptroller Jennifer McCain, IT 
Director James Deane, Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar, Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, 
Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan, Communications Director Becky Parsons, 
Business Development Manager Lara Mather, Community Relations Director Honey Menefee, 
Community Development Director Pete Renaud, Senior Center Director Stacy York 
________________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER CLOSED SESSION MEETING AT 9:00 A.M. PURSUANT TO
NRS 288.220 FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONFERRING WITH THE COUNTY
MANAGER AND LEGAL COUNSEL REGARDING LABOR NEGOTIATIONS
WITH THE STOREY COUTNY SHERIFF'S OFFICE EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION
NAPSO LOCAL 9110: Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for
the purpose of conferring with county management and legal counsel regarding labor
negotiations with the Storey County Sheriff’s Office Employees’ Association NAPSO Local
9110. This meeting will commence at 9:00 a.m.

2. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.
Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m. Commissioner Gilman was
not in attendance. A quorum was present.



3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the March 21, 2023, meeting.

Mr. Osborne asked to remove Item 7.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the agenda with the one noted change of
removing Item 7. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

5. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I For possible action, approval of business license first readings:

A. Custom Sign Service LLC – Contractor / 3350 Centennial Park Dr. ~ Carson City, NV
B. RAD Pizza – Out of County / 825 Delucchi Ln. Apt. 1168 ~ Reno, NV
C. Sean Craig’s Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 3231 N. Decatur Blvd. Ste 225 Las Vegas, NV
D. Supreme Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 395 Freeport Blvd. Ste. 8 ~ Sparks, NV
E. Westex Consulting Engineers, LLC – Professional / 220 S. Rock Ste. 12 ~  Reno, NV

II Approval of claims in the amount of $2,786,731.84 

III Consideration and possible approval of an amendment to add in the included language into 
the Storey County Administrative Policies and Procedures, No. 212, Code of Ethical 
Standards, Section A), “13. Department heads and supervisors are prohibited from 
negotiating, reviewing, or administering a contract between their respective department 
and a relative or an entity controlled by a relative that is within the third degree of 
consanguinity or affinity with the department head or supervisor.” The additional 
language is required to prevent possible conflict of interest between Storey County 
Department Heads and Supervisors forming a contract with their relatives. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

7. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports Removed

8. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)
Commissioner Carmona said sandbags are still available.



9. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Public workshop and provide direction to staff
and contractor regarding elements to be included in a draft RFP for a successor franchise
agreement for the collection, transfer, processing, and disposal of municipal solid waste and
recyclables in Storey County, and for the draft RFP to be brought back to the board for further
consideration.

County Manager Osborne said this is for a successor for existing waste management draft
RFP. All issues including the cost of the RFP and the evaluation methodology would be
included in the discussion. He said Lockwood has its own arrangement, so this RFP would
involve only Virginia City/Gold Hill, the Highlands, Mark Twain Estates, and the Tahoe Reno
Industrial Center. Mr. Osborn introduced Mr. Joe Sloan, of Sloan Vazquez, who is consulting
on the project.

Competitiveness of Rates – this would be impacted by a bidders use of new or used
equipment; the length of the franchise agreement term; whether or not to have subscription or
mandatory service, the exclusivity of the franchise; and the availability of discounted rates.
Also important are rate adjustments and fee methodology; yard and drive-in service, vacation
holds; and animal-resistant carts. There are also issues of type and size of carts; recycling
services, seasonal leaf/pine needle services and free dump vouchers, the transfer station, and
the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center.

Mr. Sloan said the commissioners have the option of adding the cost of the RFP, at $100,000,
to the contracts, but it might result in fewer bidders.

The commissioners decided to absorb the cost, rather than discourage bidding. They sought a
reasonable price, regardless of whether new or used equipment would be involved, so long as
that equipment can handle the terrain. Mr. Sloan said it is typical to ask for bids involving 5, 7
or 10 year terms. Commissioner Mitchell was more interested in a longer-term contract. The
commissioners also preferred subscription services to mandatory services, except in the case
of TRIC, where service would be mandatory.

The exclusivity issue was discussed, with Commissioner Carmona saying residents object to
doing business with a monopoly. Mr. Sloan said the competition would be for the contract, so
it would not be a monopoly, and that companies may bid with and without exclusivity. Be
aware that bids with no exclusivity will be at higher rates. Commissioner Mitchell said if the
company awarded the bid cannot provide service, there should be no prohibition against
people finding private companies to provide service. Commissioner Carmona suggested
including a penalty for nonperformance.

The commission discussed different rules for C Street businesses and residents, as well as the
size of carts and yard and drive-in service which could add a distance fee if an employee has



to go on private property. Commissioner Carmona supported the option of paying extra for 
bear-resistant trash carts.  

Also discussed at the workshop regarded whether recycling services were required. Mr. 
Osborne said currently there are exclusive dumpsters provided by Waste Management. Mr. 
Sloan said pickup of recyclables is usually done in a densely populated area. 

Separately, the commissioners agreed that the county would continue to provide free dump 
vouchers available from the Courthouse/Public Works, as mail vouchers may not get to the 
right people. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct staff and RFP contractor to include 
elements discussed at today’s meeting in a draft RFP for a successor franchise agreement for 
the collection, transfer, processing, and disposal of municipal solid waste and recyclables in 
Storey County, and to bring a draft RFP back to the board for further consideration. Seconded 
by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.  

10. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
selection of Auditor for fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.

Comptroller Jennifer McCain said this was for a letter to be submitted to the state
Department of Taxation, and she recommended continuing to work with Joe Costanza of
DiPietro and Thornton.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the selection of DiPietro and Thornton
CPA. LTD as auditor for Storey County for fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. Seconded by:
Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

11. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for county
staff to apply for partial funding for the Lead Siphon Water Main Replacement project
through the Federal Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at
$11,840,620, with a request of $7,000,000 in federal funding.

Business Development Officer Lara Mather said this was in preparation for next term’s
Congressional federal grants. Community Relations Director Honey Menefee said these
grants are from the NDEP’s priority list and include three water projects.

Public Comment: None



Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve county staff to apply for partial funding 
for the Lead Siphon Water Main Replacement project through the Federal Community 
Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $11,840,620, with a request of 
$7,000,000 in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.  

12. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for county
staff to apply for partial  funding for the Public Safety Complex – Virginia City project
through the  Federal Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at
$10,000,000, with a request of $7,000,000 in federal funding.

Ms. Menefee said these funds would be available in 2025. Mis Mather said the county can’t
ask for something we  had already requested and did not receive.

Sheriff Mike Cullen said the county needed a public safety complex spread out among the
communities and that the jail needed repairs.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, , move to approve county staff to apply for partial
funding for the Public Safety Complex – Virginia City project through the Federal
Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $10,000,000, with a
request of $7,000,000 in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed
2-0.

13. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for county
staff to apply for partial funding for the Divide Water Main project through the Federal
Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $1,500,000, with a
request of $1,000,000 in federal funding.

Ms. Menefee said this covered water lines on South E, Sheldon and South D streets which
are out of compliance with Nevada Code. She said there had been 20 breaks from 2017-2023.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, , move to approve county staff to apply for partial
funding for the Divide Water Main Project FIX THIS– Virginia City project through the
Federal Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $10,000,000,
with a request of $7,000,000 in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion
passed 2-0.

14. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to add the
construction of a Storey County Sheriff’s Office substation in the existing Storey County
McCarran complex building to the Capital Improvement Plan for the year of 2025 and apply



for partial funding for this project through the Federal Community Project Funding program. 
The project total is estimated at $800,000, with a request of $450,000 in federal funding. 

Ms. Mather said she didn’t realize this was already in the CIP, but for 2029. This is to put it 
in the 2025 CIP list. 

Sheriff Cullen said the substation was built, but with the expansion of TRIC, more criminal 
activity was likely, and this would provide a place for one cell, evidence lockers and staff 
for people to register as ex-felons and for special licenses. 

Operations and Projects Manager Mike Northan said  the building was close to capacity, but 
that space was designed for a sheriff’s substation with infrastructure in place. He said 
TRIGID might move and other things could be relocated. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to move to approve staff to apply for partial 
funding for this project, the adding the construction of a Storey County Sheriff’s Office 
substation in the existing Storey County McCarran complex building through the Federal 
Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $800,000, with a 
request of $450,000 in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona Vote: Motion  passed 
unanimously. USE TAPE 

15. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for county
staff to apply for partial funding for the Gold Hill Sewer Collection System project through
the Federal Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at
$4,000,000, with a request of $2,500,000 in federal funding.

Ms. Menefee said this was another NDEP priority. She said the condition of the existing
system is unknown and has  had failure and leakage from pipes. This is for rehabilitation and
not expansion.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve county staff to apply for partial funding
for the Gold Hill Sewer Collection System project through the Federal Community Project
Funding program. The project total is estimated at $4,000,000, with a request of $2,500,000
in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.

16. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for county
staff to apply for partial funding for the Comstock Historic District Pedestrian Safety



Upgrades project through the Federal Community Project Funding program. The project total 
is estimated at $1,360,000, with a request of $1,000,000 in federal funding. 

Ms. Mather said this vote would allow for the application for funding. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve county staff to apply for partial funding 
for the Comstock Historic District Pedestrian Safety Upgrades project through the Federal 
Community Project Funding program. The project total is estimated at $1,360,000, with a 
request of $1,000,000 in federal funding. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 
2-0.

17. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT BOARD

18. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval to accept a
federal subgrant through the Nevada Division of Forestry for Hazardous Fuels Reduction in
the Virginia City Highlands for the amount of $597,330.

Fire Chief Loncar said this was a 50 percent match and NVEnergy funds will be the  match,
so it is cost-neutral to the county and helps create a firebreak coming out of Washoe Valley.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to accept a grant for Hazardous Fuels
Reduction in the Virginia City Highlands for the amount of $597,330 and approve the Fire
Chief to sign. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.

19. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration to approve disposal by means of
auction, donation, sale, or trade in of two (2) surplus Fire District vehicles.

Chief Loncar said this was intended to cover the district’s costs.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the disposal of 2 surplus Fire
District vehicles by means of auction, donation, sale, or trade in. Seconded by: Jay
Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.

20. ADJOURN TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS



21. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to appoint
Lara Mather to the Board of Directors of the Northern Nevada Transportation Management
Association, a new nonprofit corporation, focusing on transportation issues in the area of the
Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center and Northern Nevada.

Mr. Osborne said this was to update the list of appointees for staff and officials.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the appointment Lara Mather to the
Board of Directors of the Northern Nevada Transportation Management Association, a new
nonprofit corporation, focusing on transportation issues in the area of the Tahoe-Reno
Industrial Center and Northern Nevada. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed
2-0.

22. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No. 23-673 of the Board of Storey County Commissioners extending the
declaration of a state of emergency in Storey County due to unforeseen severe weather events
causing sudden flooding, avalanche, and mudslide due to snow runoff caused by atmospheric
river flows across the county starting March 9, 2023, and the end date extending from March
20 to April 4, 2023. The emergency declaration may provide the county access to state and
federal funds and other resources which otherwise may not be available for its response to
the weather emergency. This action should not cause alarm, but it should remind residents
and businesses to be vigilant and to prepare for potential impacts caused by storm events.

Emergency Management Director Mike Bullain said with more snow and rain in the
forecast, this could lead to flooding, avalanches, and mudslides. Since the governor’s
emergency declaration had no end date, he asked that the county’s declaration be extended
to April 4.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell,  move to approve Resolution No. 23-673 of the Board
of Storey County Commissioners extending the declaration of a state of emergency in
Storey County due to unforeseen severe weather events causing sudden flooding, avalanche,
and mudslide due to snow runoff caused by atmospheric river flows across the county
starting March 9, 2023, and the end date extending from March 20 to April 4, 2023.
Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.

23. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No. 23-674, a resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by
ordinance or resolution per NRS 245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2022-



23 fiscal year and superseding prior year action by resolution for appointed Storey County 
employees adding the title of Intermittent Part Time (IPT) Deputy to be added, step and wage 
to mirror the NAPSO Pay scale, attached, and will be retroactive to February 21, 2023. 

Human Resources Director Mitzi Carter said this was following the regular work schedule 
and was due to the sheriff’s office being at a critical staff level. This deputy will be limited 
to 1,039 hours per year, and this was a non-represented position. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution No. 23-674, a resolution 
setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution per NRS 
245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2022-23 fiscal year and superseding 
prior year action by resolution for appointed Storey County employees adding the title of 
Intermittent Part Time (IPT) Deputy to be added, step and wage to mirror the NAPSO Pay 
scale and will be retro-active to February 21, 2023... Seconded by: Jay Carmona Vote: 
Motion  passed 2-0.  

24. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Enter into agreement with MOU for the Storey
County Sheriff’s Office Employee’s Association/Nevada Association of Police & Sheriff’s
Officers  (NAPSO) for the one (1) year renewal of the NAPSO CBA which has been  negotiated
in good faith by both parties. This MOU will amend the current contract ending June 30, 2023.
We propose to end the current contract effective March 26, 2023, in order to have the new
contract start date of March 27, 2023, for the new contract ending date of June 30, 2024.

Ms. Carter said this MOU was designed to address critical staffing levels, with both 
increased wages ad comparison studies indicated Storey County was at the lowest wage than 
nearest counties. This has a 17 percent up front increase and 5 percent each year, starting 
June 30. 2023 

Ms. McCain said 17 percent is the increase in the salary chart and the 5 percent is for each 
step. The chart will stay the same through June 30, 2024. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve move to approve the MOU for the 
Storey County Sheriff’s Office Employee’s Association/Nevada Association of Police & 
Sheriff’s Officers (NAPSO) for the one (1) year renewal of the NAPSO CBA which has 
been negotiated in good faith by both parties. This MOU will amend the current contract 
ending June 30, 2023. We propose to end the current contract effective March 26, 2023, in 
order to have the new contract start date of March 27, 2023, for the new contract ending date 
of June 30, 2024. Seconded by: Jay Carmona Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.  



25. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For Consideration and possible approval of
business license second readings:
A. ADInvestigations – Home Based / 197 S. L St. ~ Virginia City, NV
B. BLC Builders LLC – Contractor / 1000 Riverberry Dr. ~ Reno, NV
C. Lendrum Consulting – Out of County / 210 Tangerine Dr. ~ Buda, TX
D. Leonard Electrical Industries LLC – Contractor / 3444 Careggi Ct. ~ Sparks, NV

Public Comment: 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve second readings of business licenses 
under Item 25 as A through D.  Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.  

26. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of second reading for a Home-Based
Business License - Viper Family Security, located at 3200 Cartwright Rd. Reno, NV 89521.
Applicants are Annette Woollard and Steve Oneil.

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve to approve the second reading for a 
Home- Based Business License - Viper Family Security, located at 3200 Cartwright Rd. 
Reno, NV 89521. Applicants are Annette Woollard and Steve Oneil... Seconded by: Jay 
Carmona. Vote: Motion  passed 2-0.  

27. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): None

28. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Commissioner Carmona adjourned the meeting at 12:26 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk-Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 23, 2023,
• special meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    6



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING   

3/23/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_________________________________________________________ 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK-TREASURER 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, Recorder Dru McPherson, Sheriff Mike Cullen, County Manager 
Austin Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis, Comptroller Jennifer McCain, IT 
Director James Deane, Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar, Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, 
Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan, Communications Director Becky Parsons, 
Business Development Manager Lara Mather, Community Relations Director Honey Menefee, 
Community Development Director Pete Renaud, Senior Center Director Stacy York 
________________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL MEETING

Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:00 AM

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the March 23, 2023, special meeting.

Public Comment: None 



Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's agenda as presented. Seconded 
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

5. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

County Manager Austin Osborne, for Community Relations Director Honey Menefee
• The Governor’s Office of Science, Innovation and Technology Broadband and Digital

Equity Team will present to the BOC on April 4th, 2023, on the Broadband Infrastructure
and Digital Equity Planning Process. Community Engagement Events will be held  that
same day - April 4th - at the Virginia City Senior Center from 11 a.m. to 1 p.m. and later
at the Lockwood Senior Center from 2:30 to 4:30 p.m.

County Manager Austin Osborne 
• An update on health benefits insurance open enrollment for all except the Fire District,

which is on a separate plan. LP insurance went to bid, and due to our rating; we received
0 bids. By law Cigna, our current provider, has to provide services but has changed the
rates.

• Our loss ratio is 128 percent, and that translates into an increased premium. We will stay
with Cigna, but the premium will go up 26 percent, or  an increase of about a $350,000.
We are meeting with employee groups for information and feedback on the plan, and we
are working with the Fire District to see if they would join our plan, which would help by
making our group bigger.

• We have dental, vision and life. We are moving dental to Cigna, achieving a 4 percent
decrease in our premium, Vision with IMED and life insurance coverage with Kansas
City Life will remain the same.

• We will research going to self-insured, but the risk is considerable.

Planning Manager Kathy Canfield 
• Next Thursday we are having the kickoff meeting for the Long Valley Creek Flood

Hazard Mitigation Plan. The Lockwood Community has been invited. The meeting will
be at 6 p.m. at the Rainbow Bend Clubhouse

Clerk-Treasurer Jim Hindle 
• The County has been in conversation with our advisors at Morton and Wells Fargo after

the collapse of SVB bank, and our exposure and risk are minimal and being managed.

6. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)

7. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Update, discussion, and provide direction to
county staff and lobbyists  regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County
including, but  not limited to, SB81 Regional Orderly Growth, and any BDR, bill, resolution, or



other action of the legislature or the government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other 
post-tax abatement revenues from Tesla or other tax abated or non-tax abated companies to be 
canceled, diverted away from Storey County, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and other 
properly related matters. 

Mr. Osborne said the county is monitoring matters on other potential bills, but none has been 
introduced so far. Regarding SB1, there was a meeting with Sen. Daly attended by 
Commissioner Mitchell. The bill would extend the county managers group from AB240, to 
include city officials and legislatures.  

Commissioner Mitchell said they had discussions with Sen. Daly and since he did not include 
items to make the bill more palatable to us, we decided to oppose it. NACO has introduced an 
amendment addressing what we were concerned about. Sen. Daly is reworking the bill to 
include that making it clear only county managers of five counties would have voting power. 
Also, this group could interact with state agencies such as NDOT. One sticking point with no 
consensus is who would appoint the legislators. Sen. Daly wants majority party to appoint both 
a Democrat and Republican from five-county area. Concern is that could still end up with four 
legislators who would all represent Washoe County, with no representation for the rurals. He 
said the county needs to decide if it will soften its position or  stick to its guns in opposition. 

Commissioner Lance Gilman said his 20-year history in development taught him that the 
visionary plan was the development agreement, and that companies will continue to come if 
the state doesn’t kill them. He said when others realized we were succeeding, they tried to have 
power and control. Other counties’ officials thought Storey County was not qualified and 
needed their departments, oversight, and direction. Storey County’s leaders at the time did not 
believe that, and now, everyone wants our money, and they want to control Storey County. Mr. 
Gilman said this bill is a remix of what happened several sessions ago, where they wanted to 
formulate committees and  he was advised to never give up on the Legislature trying to do that. 
Previous proposals indicated these positions were only advisory, then they’d give them a vote, 
then they’d have oversight, then they’d be given authority to come into the rural county. Mr. 
Gilman said this would lead to controls over Storey County and other rural counties. He said 
NACO was making a bad decision; that if you give in inch it turns into a mile, and another step 
in the ladder they would like to go up in the future. Mr. Gilman urged the BOC to be loyal to 
the history and fight this to the last breath. 

Commissioner Carmona agreed. 

Mr. Osborne said that Storey and Lyon counties agreed on SB81, but Douglas County and 
Carson City may be in favor.  

Commissioner Mitchell said that the Legislature finds current structures in place are inadequate 
to address regional impact, and as long as that is the mentality, the door is open to create 
additional levels of bureaucracy. That concept is carried over into this new bill and if our 



position is to oppose in all forms, we need to attack, and say that current structures are 
adequate.  

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to instruct staff and contractors to continue to oppose 
SB81 in all forms, and make that known at the legislature. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: 
Motion passed unanimously. 

8. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval authorizing
the County Manager with concurrence of the Emergency Management Director to cancel any
time before April 4, 2023, the declaration of emergency declared by the Board of Storey County
Commissioners on March 10 and March 21, 2023.

Emergency Management Director Mike Bullain said that it costs money to keep staff on 
standby, so it would save the county money if the county manager and emergency manager 
agree to cancel the declaration. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move  to authorize the County Manager with concurrence 
of the Emergency Management Director to cancel at any time before April 4, 2023, the 
declaration of emergency declared by the Board of Storey County Commissioners on March 
10 and March 21, 2023. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

10. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Adjourned at 10:45 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

___________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk-Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 30, 2023,
• special meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See Attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    7



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING   

3/30/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

__________________________________________________________________ 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK-TREASURER 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, Recorder Dru McPherson, Sheriff Mike Cullen, County Manager 
Austin Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis, Comptroller Jennifer McCain, IT 
Director James Deane, Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar, Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, 
Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan, Communications Director Becky Parsons, 
Business Development Manager Lara Mather, Community Relations Director Honey Menefee, 
Community Development Director Pete Renaud, Senior Center Director Stacy York, Assistant 
Sheriff Eric Kern. 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.

Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:03 AM

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the March 30, 2023, special meeting.

Public Comment: None 



Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's agenda as presented. Seconded 
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

5. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

6. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)

7. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Update, discussion, and provide direction to
county staff and lobbyists regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County
including, but not limited to, the following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80 Safety
Corridors; SB81 Regional Orderly Growth; AB143 Lands Transfer Bill; AB47 OHV Bill; SB92
Sidewalk Vendors; SB304 NFPA Mandates; and any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other
action of the legislature or the government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax
abatement revenues from Tesla or other tax abated or non-tax abated companies to be canceled,
diverted away from Storey County, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and other properly
related matters.

Commissioner Gilman recused himself from discussion on SB432 on the advice of the District 
Attorney’s Office because he holds a pecuniary interest in some of the subject matter. 

County Manager Osborne described SB432, which was introduced at 7 p.m. March 27, 
sponsored by Sen. Gansert of Washoe County. The bill takes any type of an abated company 
after their abatements expire, and that monies Storey County would have received are 
redistributed to others, with, according to the bill, 60 percent going to surrounding counties, 20 
percent going to the state and 20 percent going to Storey County. The bill would also create a 
Joint Powers Authority with seven members, most likely two from Storey County, one from 
Lyon County and five from Washoe County, giving Washoe County a majority, due to their 
larger population, based on the population of workers at the factories and where they lived that 
caused the impact. This board would decide the use of any future disbursements from any 
business in the economic diversification district, which Storey County created 10 years ago to 
accommodate the state's Tesla plan. 

Mr. Osborne said that Storey County could be getting up to $19 million a year from 
Gigafactory-1 post 2024, but this bill would bring that down to $3.8 million. The Fire District 
would go from $6 million under the original SB1, down to $1.2 million under this bill. He said 
when the TRI Payback and other obligations are considered, the amount could turn into $8 
million and $2 million, at which point there would be almost nothing left. He listed the 
obligations as water and sewer infrastructure the effluent pipeline whose county funds would 
be at risk. 



Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis highlighted legal and procedural requirements for 
disbursement of the abated property taxes, estimating that it would work out to $34 million not 
divided amongst Storey County taxing agencies, such as the county, school district and Fire 
District. His estimate did not include sales tax, modified business tax and others. 

Mr. Loomis said that in creating the regional powers authorities, GOED is required to make an 
analysis of where the employees working at the qualified project reside. And in deciding it is 
going to be a 7 person powers authority, two will come from Storey County and five will come 
from the counties that have the majority of the residents in them. In the Tesla case, it may well 
be that Lyon County would have one representative and the other four would come out of 
Washoe County. GOED is required to do that the last year that the abatements exist and even if 
the population changes, the allocation would not be analyzed again. 

Mr. Osborne said the white paper showed impacts claimed by Washoe County were not 
happening, rather Washoe County, Reno and Sparks benefited tremendously from the industrial 
park and the economic development district. He said the county has worked with a number of 
professional consultants to analyze the numbers. He said the deal that was made between the 
State of Nevada and Storey County 10 years ago indicated that if the county went without taxes 
for 10 years, except for a government services agreement to offset costs, that the later taxes 
would bring Storey County into alignment with its neighbors in terms of infrastructure. He said 
the staff position was that abrogating the original agreement was completely inappropriate and 
recommended that this board give direction to oppose the bill. 

In answering Commissioner Mitchell’s questions, Mr. Osborne said that he understood that the 
Gigafactory’s MBT would expire after 10 years, and also that each company’s abatements were 
different. Mr. Loomis said that there would be a separate Joint Powers Authority created for 
each company in the economic diversification district that had tax abatements. He also said that 
it was unclear if the same rules would apply to data centers. He was unsure if Redwood would 
be included in the proposed Gigafactory-1 Joint Powers Authority. Mr. Osborne said he was 
still working with GOED on Tesla 1 and Tesla 2. Mr. Loomis said if the ordinance to disburse 
monies includes schools, Fire District, etc. they will receive them, if not, those districts will 
not. No provision for the fire district. Commissioner Mitchell said that sounds like the county 
would receive money but would have to subsidize the Fire District. 

In answer to Commissioner Mitchell’s question, Mr. Osborne said the regional development 
authorities are different from the Powers Authority, and funds would go to the most densely 
populated areas of the state. Mr. Loomis said the state’s 20 percent would include funds going 
mostly to  

Commissioner Carmona, who was opposed to changing the rules of the game at the end, said 
he believed the county should oppose this in every form, and the county should get 100 percent 
of any abatements as the county was promised.  



Public Comment: Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar said based on how this is structured it could lead 
to layoffs in the Fire District. He opposed the legislation. In answer to Commissioner 
Mitchell’s question, Chief Loncar said the loss of Tesla funds would put at risk Station 75 and 
its staffin. He said the Fire District was planning on the funds to expand service to the 
industrial park, and added that if Painted Rock was developed, service would be at risk there. 
He said SB432 would remove the opportunity for the Fire District to expand with the park.   

Mr. Loomis added: under the $1 billion threshold, if a data center is contributing to the 
investment, that money will not be part of the $1 million investment.  

Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern agreed with the Fire Chief, saying both faced staffing problems in 
the past 10 years waiting for the Tesla abatements to end. Sheriff Mike Cullen said the office 
had been looking forward to the Tesla disbursement to upgrade staffing and infrastructure. 

Clerk-Treasurer Jim Hindle said lower disbursement would cause difficulties for the Clerk-
Treasurer’s Office as it would most likely have to manage the allocations and disbursements of 
funds to various entities specified by the Regional Board in order to remain compliant with 
state regulations. 

Commissioner Carmona said the park grew because the county was able to approve permits in 
record speed. If the Legislature intend to take away those proceeds from, then the county 
should make it known that it may not be possible to approve permits in a week or 30 days; it 
may take a year or two. This would stifle growth at the park. If we don’t have the money we 
were planning on, the park would suffer. If growth at the park stops, other counties are all 
going to suffer as well. 

Mr. Osborne said we have data that looks at all kinds of residences and there is positive net 
revenue going to other counties. He said data indicates the entire region is benefitting from the 
industrial park. 

Commissioner Mitchell said he wanted to instruct staff to add fiscal notes as to the impacts to 
Storey County. He also wanted a clearer picture of what the impact was going to be. He 
opposes the bill but wants to ensure the county has actual data. 

Mr. Osborne said Comptroller Jennifer McCain was working on data involving impact to the 
county of this bill. 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move that we take a position opposing this bill 
categorically, and instruct staff to prepare appropriate fiscal notes and complete analysis on the 
specific impact of the bill as written. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

Commissioner Gilman rejoined the meeting. 



Mr. Osborne said regarding SB81, remember AB240 approved in 2019? This required county 
managers to create a report on regional impacts. In SB81 Sen. Daly wanted to have city 
representatives and legislators as voting members, but has backed off. So, now they would not 
be voting members. The issue now is whether or not Democrats would be involved, urban vs. 
rural. The bill is moving forward. NACO is taking a soft approach. This bill could morph into 
something more, he said. We recommend a motion to continue opposing it.  

Commissioner Gilman recommended opposition. Commissioner Mitchell suggested that if Sen. 
Daly opposed SB432, the county could soften its opposition. Commissioner Carmona opposed 
the SB81 in its entirety. 

Public Comment: Hugh Gallagher opposed the bill, saying it could be a train wreck, and added 
that in the past, Storey County’s representatives in the Legislature were from Douglas County. 
Now they are from Washoe County, and P.K. O’Neill lives in Sparks[actually Carson City]. He 
recommends working to defeat this bill and SB432.  

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move for the county to oppose SB81 in all forms. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Mr. Osborne said AB143, there has been a recent hearing, regarding this bill, which transfers 
land from the federal government to private owners, in order to clear up titles. He asked for a 
motion to support this bill. He said this doesn’t mean the county would own the properties, it 
would transfer properties to private owners. The law would begin on Oct. 31, 2023. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to continue our position of support for AB243, and to 
work with the sponsor to get it passed. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed 
unanimously. 

Mr. Osborne said AB63, the I80 Safety Corridor Bill, it has been changed to a statewide Safety 
Corridors bill. It has had one hearing and is awaiting another. NDOT has reduced the speed 
limit along that stretch of the corridor to 65 mph and is discussing an environmental 
assessment. In response to a question from Commissioner Mitchell, Mr. Osborne said the bill 
that was originally proposed was specific and had structure. After NDOT put a fiscal note on 
the bill, but later removed some of this. He said the county would not get everything it wants, 
but will get something done, there is an interest at the state to get something done along this 
corridor,   

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to instruct staff to continue to work with our 
lobbyists in support of AB63. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 



Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to instruct staff to continue to work with our 
lobbyists on the furtherance and in support of AB63. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: 
Motion passed unanimously. 

Mr. Osborne spoke on smaller bills SB92, 47, and 304: 

• Specific to SB92, which is related to sidewalk vendors, the regulation would only apply
to counties with populations of 100,000 or more and suggested Storey County stay
neutral on it.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to continue a position of neutral on SB92, the
sidewalk vendor bill. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

• Mr. Osborne said AB47, the off-highway road bill, gives local control to the county and
recommends support.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to take a position of support for AB47, the
OHV bill, and to instruct staff to make that position known. Seconded by: Lance Gilman.
Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

• Mr. Osborne said SB304 affects Fire Districts and their NFPA mandates.

Public Comment: Fire Chief Loncar said there is overlap with county, which owns the
fire stations, and the Fire District. NFPA is National Fire Protection Association, a
special-interest group that builds guidelines across the nation. But to put it into law
becomes a  mandate and extreme financial burden. NFPA dictates how fire stations are to
be built, retrofitting existing stations which creates a financial burden. NFPA provides its
own fire codes, which we could use, but we get to select them. Storey County operates on
international codes. With this we must operate with NFPA standards. It will slow
construction, create conflicting,

Mr. Osborne suggested that the county, in collaboration with the Fire District, oppose
SB304.



Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move that the county oppose SB304 in reference to 
NFPA mandates, and instruct staff to work in conjunction with the Fire District in that 
opposition. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

8. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT BOARD.

9. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Update, discussion, and provide direction to the
Fire Chief and appropriate Fire District Staff along with professional services, regarding
upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County Fire Protection District including, but not
limited to the following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80 Safety Corridors; SB81
Regional Orderly Growth; SB304 NFPA Mandates; AB 358 Emergency Medical Services, and
any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the legislature or the government of the
State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax abatement revenues from Tesla or other tax abated
or non-tax abated companies to be canceled, diverted away from Storey County and Storey
County Fire Protection District, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and other properly related
matters.

Commissioner Gilman recused himself from discussion on SB432 on the advice of the District 
Attorney’s Office because he holds a pecuniary interest in some of the subject matter. 

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar started with SB432, which he said this bill is a way to divert money 
from the Fire District and county. He asked that the Fire District actively oppose this. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move that the Fire District oppose SB432 and work in 
conjunction with the county in that opposition. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion 
passed 2-0. 

Commissioner Gilman rejoined the meeting. 

Chief Loncar said AB63 is looking to provide safer access for people in the industrial park. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move that the Storey County Fire District take an 
official position in support of AB63 and  SB432 and work with the county in that support. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Chief Loncar said SB81 is a very slippery slope. The Fire District is supporting Mr. Osborne 
and are opposed to this. 



Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move that District will take a position opposing SB81 
about regional orderly growth, and will work with and support the county in that opposition. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Chief Loncar said that regarding SB304: the Fire Chiefs Association is opposing this bill. 
SB304 will impact staffing levels, requiring 14 responders for a single-family home fire, and 
the district does not have 14 responders. The Chief requests authority to act in opposition to 
this bill. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move that the District take a position in strong 
opposition to SB304, the NFPA mandates, to instruct staff to compose fiscal notes and to work 
to make that opposition known in the strongest terms possible. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. 
Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Chief Loncar said AB358 governs emergency medical services, and currently the state has its 
own division for inspections. This bill moves it from the Department of Behavioral Health to 
the state Fire Marshal’s Office. He wanted to continue to support this bill. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to continue to support AB358, emergency 
medical services, and instruct staff to continue to support up to and including testifying in a 
supporting position at the Legislature . Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed 
unanimously. 

10. ADJOURN TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS

11. PUBLIC COMMENT (NO ACTION):

11. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA.

Commissioner Carmona adjourned the meeting at 11:29 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

___________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk-Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For possible action, approval of business license first readings:
• A. AQ&B LLC – Out of County / 5470 Sidehill Dr. ~ Sun Valley, NV
• B. DeHart Plumbing, heating & Air, Inc. – Contractor / 1842 Hymer Ave ~ Sparks, NV
• C. LGCY Installation Services LLC – Contractor / 3333 N. Digital Dr. # 600 ~ Lehi, UT
• D. Revere Mechanical, LLC – Contractor / 3325 W. Ali Baba Ln. # 612 ~ Las Vegas, NV
• E. Suncrest Design & Construction – Contractor / 395 Freeport Blvd # 1 ~ Sparks, NV
• F. Sunbelt Rentals, Inc. – General / 201 Wildhorse Canyon ~ Sparks, NV
• G. The Webstaurant Store LLC – General / 265 Milan ~ Sparks, NV

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470966

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

   8 I



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office May 04, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the May 16, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. AQ&B LLC – Out of County / 5470 Sidehill Dr. ~ Sun Valley, NV

B. DeHart Plumbing, heating & Air, Inc. – Contractor / 1842 Hymer Ave ~ Sparks, NV

C. LGCY Installation Services LLC – Contractor / 3333 N. Digital Dr. # 600 ~ Lehi, UT

D. Revere Mechanical, LLC – Contractor / 3325 W. Ali Baba Ln. # 612 ~ Las Vegas, NV

E. Suncrest Design & Construction – Contractor / 395 Freeport Blvd # 1 ~ Sparks, NV

F. Sunbelt Rentals, Inc. – General / 201 Wildhorse Canyon ~ Sparks, NV

G. The Webstaurant Store LLC – General / 265 Milan ~ Sparks, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $1,019,295.71.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as submitted

• Prepared by: Cory Y Wood

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

  8 II

























Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District Final
Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I, Commissioner _____, approve the 2023-2024 Storey County
Fire District Final Budget and direct the Storey County Comptroller to submit the final
budget to the Department of Taxation.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Final 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District Fund Taxation Budgets
are attached for review.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    13









































































Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: To approve Lara Mather, Storey County’s Business Development Officer to 
renew The System of Award Management (SAM) account on behalf of the Fire District.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) move to approve Lara Mathers, Storey 
County’s Business Development Officer to renew The System of Award Management 
(SAM) account on behalf of the Fire District.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: The System for Award Management (SAM) is the Official U.S.
Government system that consolidated the capabilities of CCR/FedReg, ORCA, and
EPLS.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   14



Storey County Water and Sewer Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Sewer Final Budget
for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I, Commissioner _____, approve the 2023-2024 Storey County
Sewer Final Budget and direct the Storey County Comptroller to submit the final budget
to the Department of Taxation.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Final 2023-2024 Storey County Sewer Fund Taxation Budgets are
attached for review.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   16





















Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Final Budget for
submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I, Commissioner _____, approve the 2023-2024 Storey County
Final Budget and direct the Storey County Comptroller to submit the final budget to the
Department of Taxation.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Final 2023-2024 Storey County General Fund and other Special
Revenue Fund Taxation Budgets are attached for review.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   18



Nevada Department of Taxation
1550 College Parkway, Suite 115
Carson City, NV  89706-7937

 herewith submits the (FINAL) budget for the
June 30, 2024

This budget contains 4  funds, including Debt Service,  requiring property tax revenues totaling   $ 17,118,083

The property tax rates computed herein are based on preliminary data.  If the final state computed revenue limitation permits, 
the tax rate will be increased by an amount not to exceed 0 If the final computation requires, the tax rate will be 
lowered.

This budget contains 19  governmental fund types with estimated expenditures of   $ 62,861,844
1  proprietary funds with estimated expenses of  $ 698,752

Copies of this budget have been filed for public record and inspection in the offices enumerated in NRS 354.596 (Local 
Government Budget and Finance Act).

CERTIFICATION APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD

I
(Printed Name)

Jay Carmona, Chairman
(Title)

certify that all applicable funds and financial
operations of this Local Government are
listed herein Clay Mitchel, Vice-Chairman

Signed
Lance Gilman, Commissioner

Dated: 

SCHEDULED PUBLIC HEARING:

Place: 

Page: ______
Schedule 1

Publication Date May 5, 2023

Storey County Courthouse, District Courtroom  26 South B Street, Virginia City, NV 89440

Storey County - General Fund
fiscal year ending 

Jennifer McCain

Storey County Comptroller

Date and Time May 16, 2023@  10:00 A.M.

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ OFFICE
Storey County Courthouse

26 South “B” Street
P.O. Box 176 Virginia City, Nevada  89440
Phone (775) 847-0968   Fax (775) 847-0949

commissioners@storeycounty.org































































































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Authorize the County Manager to approve a contract modification with the United
States Geological Survey (USGS) to continue a five-year program of voluntary
monitoring of groundwater levels and quality, aquifer conditions, and other geotechnical
review in the Highlands neighborhood of Storey County.  The joint funding agreement
contract modification will include extending the period of performance from September
30, 2023, to September 30, 2027.  Total funding for the additional five year project
extension will be $51,450 paid by Storey County and $37,250 paid by the USGS for a
total project cost of $88,700.

• Recommended motion: Based on the recommendation by staff, I (county commissioner)
authorize the County Manager to approve a contract modification with the United States
Geological Survey (USGS) to continue a five-year program, of voluntary monitoring of
groundwater levels and quality, aquifer conditions, and other geotechnical review in the
“Highlands” neighborhood of Storey County.  The joint funding agreement contract
modification will include extending the period of performance from September 30, 2023
to September 30, 2027.  Total funding for the additional five year project extension will
be $51,450 paid by Storey County and $37,250 paid by the USGS for a total project cost
of $88,700.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-1144

• Staff Summary: This is a continuation of the ongoing USGS ground water study taking
place in the Highlands neighborhood of Storey County.  The additional five-year study is
requested to capture data related to previous drought conditions in the area and recent
above-normal precipitation events. Study objectives are to monitor and estimate water
level trends; develop a water-table and water-level change map, characterize the fractured
volcanic rock aquifer(s); and estimate local potential recharge for Lousetown Creek and
other tributaries.

• This modification will support an updated network to monitor groundwater levels in the
Highlands. The change in the monitoring network will adjust the current network from
approximately 60 wells to at least 45 wells located in the Highlands. The reduction of the
number of wells in the network is to prioritize areas of change, while still maintaining
spatial coverage throughout the area. The network will be split into monitoring
frequencies of quarterly (at least 25 wells 4 times a year), and an annual (least 20 wells

    19



once a year in addition to a quarterly measurement). The project will also include annual 
updates on the status of the network at a Board of Storey County Commissioner’s 
meeting.

•
• Data from the monitoring project will supplement water-level data for the Highlands 

Scientific Investigations Report. The extension in the period of performance will change 
the deliverable of the report from 9/30/2023 to 9/30/2024. The purpose of the extension is 
to incorporate data from water year 2023, which is currently exceptionally above normal 
annual precipitation.

• The study benefits Storey County and property owners by collecting data needed to
understand the properties of groundwater and aid future water management planning in
the Highlands area.  This study is recommended by the 2016 Storey County Master Plan.

• The total funding for the project will be $88,700, with Storey County contributing
$51,450 and the USGS contributing $37,250.  This amount will be split over the five year
period of the project and is identified in Table 1 of the attached contract.  The previous
contract had Storey County and USGS splitting the cost amount evenly.   For this
contract extension, the USGS can match 42% instead of the previous 50%.

• Staff is recommending approval of the contract.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



United States Department of the Interior 
U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY 

Nevada Water Science Center 
2730 N Deer Run Rd., Suite 3 

Carson City, NV 89701 

May 1, 2023 

Austin Osborne 
County Manager 
County of Storey 
PO Box 176 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

Dear Mr. Osborne: 

Attached is modification 06 to our joint funding agreement 17WSNV00146 between the County of Storey 
and the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) for the Virginia City Highlands Groundwater Project. This 
modification has the objectives to (1), extend the agreement period of performance end date from 
September 30, 2023 to September 30, 2027, and (2), add additional funding to support long-term 
groundwater monitoring in the Virginia City Highlands and Highland Ranches (Highlands). 

This modification will support an updated network to monitor groundwater levels in the Highlands. The 
change in the monitoring network will adjust the current network from approximately 60 wells to at least 45 
wells located in the Highlands. The reduction of the number of wells in the network is to prioritize areas of 
change, while still maintaining spatial coverage throughout the area. The network will be split into 
monitoring frequencies of quarterly (at least 25 wells 4 times a year), and an annual (least 20 wells once a 
year in addition to a quarterly measurement). The project will also include annual updates on the status of 
the network at a Board of Storey County Commissioner’s meeting.  

Data from the monitoring project will supplement water-level data for the Highlands Scientific 
Investigations Report. The extension in the period of performance will change the deliverable of the report 
from 9/30/2023 to 9/30/2024. The purpose of the extension is to incorporate data from water year 2023, 
which is currently exceptionally above normal annual precipitation.  

Funding for this additional data collection is below in table 1, with a total of $51,450 requested from Storey 
County. Pending the availability of cooperative matching funds, USGS will provide $37,250 for a combined 
total of $8 , 0.  

C 



If you approve of this work, please sign the attached modification, and return it to Helen Houston at 
NVFinance@usgs.gov. Funds are not required at this time. A signed agreement is not a bill, only an 
agreement to pay for the work that will be done. 

The results of all work performed under this agreement will be available for publication by the U.S. 
Geological Survey. We look forward to continuing this and future cooperative efforts in these mutually 
beneficial water resources studies. 

If you have questions, please refer to the contact list on Enclosure 1. 

Sincerely, 

Sarah Peterson 
Acting Director 

Enclosure 

cc: David Smith, USGS, NVFinance 

SARAH 
PETERSON

Digitally signed by 
SARAH PETERSON 
Date: 2023.05.01 
16:00:03 -07'00'



Enclosure 1 

JFA#: 17WSNV00146_06 

USGS Nevada Water Science Center Storey County 
2730 N. Deer Run Road, Suite 3 P.O. Box 176 
Carson City, NV 89701 Virginia City, NV 89440 
Phone: 775-887-7600 Las Vegas, NV 89106-4511 
Fax: 775-887-7629 Phone: 775-847-1144 
DUNS: 178930541 Fax: 775-847-0949 

TIN:  88-6000134 
DUNS: 073794968 

Technical Contact Technical Contact 
David Smith Kathy Canfield, Senior Planner 
Phone:  775-887-7616 Phone: 775-847-1144 
dwsmith@usgs.gov kcanfield@storeycounty.org

Executive Contact Executive Contact 
Jill Frankforter, Director Austin Osborne, County Manager 
Phone:  775-887-7658 Phone: 775-847-0968 
jdfrankf@usgs.gov aosborne@storeycounty.org 

Billing Contact Billing Contact 
Helen Houston, Budget Analyst Kathy Canfield, Senior Planner 
Phone:  775-887-7605 Phone: 775-847-1144 
hhouston@usgs.gov kcanfield@storeycounty.org 

Any updates to contact information can be submitted to NVfinance@usgs.gov. 



Customer #: 6000005935
Agreement #: 17WSNV00146_06
Project #: ZJ00GSG
TIN #: 88 6000134

Form 9 1366
(May 2018)

U.S. Department of the Interior
U.S. Geological Survey

Joint Funding Agreement
FOR

Water Resource Investigations

Fixed Cost Agreement YES[ X ] NO[ ]

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of the July 1, 2017, by the U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, Nevada Water 
Science Center, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, party of the first part, and the County of 
Storey party of the second part. 

1. The parties hereto agree that subject to the availability of appropriations and in accordance with their respective
authorities there shall be maintained in cooperation with the Virginia City Highlands Groundwater Project, herein
called the program. The USGS legal authority is 43 USC 36C; 43 USC 50, and 43 USC 50b.

2. The following amounts shall be contributed to cover all of the cost of the necessary field and analytical work
directly related to this program. 2(b) include In-Kind-Services in the amount of $0.00

(a) $168,040 by the party of the first part during the period 
July 1, 2017 to September 30, 2027 

(b) $182,240 by the party of the second part during the period 
July 1, 2017 to September 30, 2027 

(c) Contributions are provided by the party of the first part through other USGS regional or national programs,
in the amount of: $0

Description of the USGS regional/national program:

(d) Additional or reduced amounts by each party during the above period or succeeding periods as may be
determined by mutual agreement and set forth in an exchange of letters between the parties.

(e) The performance period may be changed by mutual agreement and set forth in an exchange of letters
between the parties.

3. The costs of this program may be paid by either party in conformity with the laws and regulations respectively
governing each party.

4. The field and analytical work pertaining to this program shall be under the direction of or subject to periodic review
by an authorized representative of the party of the first part.

5. The areas to be included in the program shall be determined by mutual agreement between the parties hereto or
their authorized representatives. The methods employed in the field and office shall be those adopted by the party of
the first part to insure the required standards of accuracy subject to modification by mutual agreement.

6. During the course of this program, all field and analytical work of either party pertaining to this program shall be
open to the inspection of the other party, and if the work is not being carried on in a mutually satisfactory manner,
either party may terminate this agreement upon 60 days written notice to the other party.

7. The original records resulting from this program will be deposited in the office of origin of those records. Upon
request, copies of the original records will be provided to the office of the other party.

8. The maps, records or reports resulting from this program shall be made available to the public as promptly as
possible. The maps, records or reports normally will be published by the party of the first part. However, the party of
the second part reserves the right to publish the results of this program, and if already published by the party of the
first part shall, upon request, be furnished by the party of the first part, at cost, impressions suitable for purposes of
reproduction similar to that for which the original copy was prepared. The maps, records or reports published by
either party shall contain a statement of the cooperative relations between the parties. The Parties acknowledge that
scientific information and data developed as a result of the Scope of Work (SOW) are subject to applicable USGS
review, approval, and release requirements, which are available on the USGS Fundamental Science Practices
website (https://www.usgs.gov/about/organization/science-support/science-quality-and-integrity/fundamental-science- 
practices).



Customer #: 6000005935
Agreement #: 17WSNV00146_06
Project #: ZJ00GSG
TIN #: 88 6000134

Form 9 1366
(May 2018)

U.S. Department of the Interior
U.S. Geological Survey

Joint Funding Agreement
FOR

Water Resource Investigations

9. Billing for this agreement will be rendered quarterly. Invoices not paid within 60 days from the billing date will bear
Interest, Penalties, and Administrative cost at the annual rate pursuant the Debt Collection Act of 1982, (codified at
31 U.S.C. § 3717) established by the U.S. Treasury.

USGS Technical Point of Contact Customer Technical Point of Contact 

Name: David Smith Name: Kathy Canfield 

Address: 

Telephone: 

Hydrologist 
2730 N. Deer Run Road Suite 3 
Carson City, NV 89701 
(775) 887-7667

Address: 

Telephone: 

Senior Planner 
PO Box 176 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
(775) 847-1144

Fax: (775) 887-7602 Fax: (775) 847-0949
Email: dwsmith@usgs.gov Email: KCanfield@storeycounty.org

USGS Billing Point of Contact Customer Billing Point of Contact 

Name: Helen Houston Name: Austin Osborne 
Budget Analyst County Manager 

Address: 2730 N. Deer Run Road Suite 3 Address: PO Box 176
Carson City, NV 89701 Virginia City, NV 89440 

Telephone: (775) 887-7655 Telephone: (775) 847-0968
Fax: (775) 887-7602 Fax: (775) 847-0949
Email: hhouston@usgs.gov Email: aosborne@storeycounty.org

U.S. Geological Survey 
United States 

Department of Interior 

Signature 

County of Storey 

Signatures 

By  Date:  
Name: Sarah Peterson 
Title:   Acting Director 

By  Date:  
Name: 
Title: 

By  Date:  
Name: 
Title: 

By  Date:  
Name: 
Title: 

SARAH 
PETERSON

Digitally signed by SARAH 
PETERSON 
Date: 2023.05.01 16:00:38 
-07'00'



Storey County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: May 16, 2023 Estimate of time required: 10 Min

Agenda: Consent [ ]   Regular agenda [X]   Public hearing required [ ]
_______________________________________________________________________________

Title: DISCUSSION/POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of 
amendment to  rental agreement with Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC 
(Nova) for the purpose of performing geological, geotechnical, environmental (Phase I and Phase II), 
engineering and related due diligence studies, analyses, surveys and activities on the site of the Gooseberry 
Mine. The amendment is to extend the current rental agreement by an additional 180 days due to limitations 
imposed by the harsh winter.  Staff is not recommending any additional rent charge.

2. Recommended motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the amendment of the  rental
agreement between the Storey County Treasurer and Nova for a site evaluation at the 
location of the Gooseberry mine for an additional period of 180 days and authorize the 
Storey County Treasurer to sign.

3. Prepared by: Keith Loomis

Department: District Attorney’s Office Telephone: 847-0964

4. Staff summary:  See attached.

5. Supporting materials: Proposed Amendment to Rental agreement; Rental Agreement

6. Fiscal impact:

Funds Available:    Fund:  ____ Comptroller

7. Legal review required:
_X___ District Attorney

8. Reviewed by:
____ Department Head Department Name: Commissioner’s Office

____ County Manager Other agency review: _____________________

9. Board action:
[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modifications
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

Agenda Item No.   _______          

   20



Staff Summary

The Storey County Treasurer presently holds in trust for the State and County the land on which 
the Gooseberry Mine is located for the nonpayment of taxes by Pallas Resources, the previous 
owner of the site.  Pallas Resources declared bankruptcy and ultimately dissolved.  

NRS 361.605 provides as follows:

NRS 361.605  Rental of property held in trust; application of rents.  While property is 
held in trust as provided in this chapter, the county treasurer, or his or her successor in office, 
may collect any rents arising from the property during the time the property is subject to 
redemption. After the time of redemption has expired, until the property is sold, the county 
treasurer, or his or her successor in office, may rent the property, with the approval of the 
board of county commissioners, for a price to be fixed in its minutes. The rents must be paid 
out by the county treasurer, or his or her successor in office, for the payment of any taxes, 
penalties, interest and costs already assessed and afterward accruing upon the property.

Nova is requested and was granted access to the land for the purpose of doing an assessment of the 
condition of the site on behalf of its client with an eye towards a possible purchase of the site by its 
client for a rental amount of $1,400.00.  Due to the harshness of the last winter, the evaluation of 
the site was not completed.  Accordingly, Nova is requesting an extension of 180 days to complete 
its assessment work. 



AMENDMENT #1 TO RENTAL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT #1 (“Amendment #1”) is made effective as of this ____ day of 
___________________, 2023 (“Amendment Effective Date”), by and between JIM HINDLE, TREASURER 
OF STOREY COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA, AS TRUSTEE (“Storey County”), and Nova Geotechnical 
and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC (“Licensee”).

RECITALS

A. On or about  December 16, 2022, Storey County and Licensee entered into that certain Rental
Agreement (the “Agreement”).

B. Storey County and Licensee desire to amend the terms and conditions of the Agreement as set
forth herein, while leaving all other aspects of the Agreement unchanged.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the 
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Term.  The Parties hereby amend and restate Section 2 of the Agreement in its entirety as follows:

“Licensee’s right to use the Property shall commence on the Effective Date and
shall continue for three hundred and sixty (360) calendar days following the
Effective Date, unless sooner terminated pursuant to this Agreement (the “Rental
Period”). If Licensee fails to cease operations upon termination or expiration of
this Agreement, Storey County shall be entitled to injunctive relief and the cost
of obtaining such relief, including attorneys’ fees, shall be paid by Licensee, and
such possession shall not constitute a renewal or extension of the Rental Period.”

2. No Other Changes.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Amendment #1 shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement.  Except as expressly set forth in this Amendment #1 to the contrary, 
the Agreement shall in all other respects remain unchanged and in full force and effect.



A-2 Rental Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Storey County and Licensee have executed this Amendment #1 as of the 
Amendment Effective Date.

STOREY COUNTY:

JIM HINDLE, TREASURER OF STOREY 
COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________

Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern 
Nevada, LLC:

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________



DMFIRM #405219423 v4 Rental Agreement

RENTAL AGREEMENT

THIS RENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the ____ day of 
___________________, 2022 (“Effective Date”), by and between JIM HINDLE, TREASURER OF STOREY 
COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA, AS TRUSTEE (“Storey County”), and Nova Geotechnical and Inspection 
Service Northern Nevada, LLC (“Licensee”).

RECITALS

A. Pursuant to NRS 361.605, Storey County has the right to rent to third parties certain real property
described on the attached Exhibit A (the “Property”), in which Storey County acquired rights pursuant to, among 
other things, that certain Deed, made June 5, 1998, by Doreen Bacus, the Treasurer and Ex-Officio Tax Receiver 
of Storey County, State of Nevada, as grantor, to Doreen Bacus, Treasurer of Storey County, State of Nevada, as 
Trustee as provided by NRS 361.585 and 361.590.

B. Licensee desires access to the Property to perform certain due diligence activities at the Property,
and Storey County is willing to allow Licensee to access the Property to perform such activities subject to the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the 
parties hereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. Grant of Right.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Storey County
grants to Licensee a right during the Rental Period, as hereafter defined, to enter upon and access the Property for 
the purpose of performing geological, geotechnical, environmental (Phase I and Phase II), engineering and related 
due diligence studies, analyses, surveys and activities on the Property (the “Permitted Use”).  Licensee shall use 
the Property for the Permitted Use and for no other purpose. All data, information, reports, and findings collected, 
generated, or produced as part of the Permitted Use shall remain in the sole custody of the Licensee at all times 
during the term of this Agreement and all times thereafter. Upon request, the licensee shall provide Storey County 
the ability to view the data, information, reports, and findings but will be under no obligation to provide digital or 
hard copies of the data, information, reports, or findings to Storey County.

2. Term.  Licensee’s right to use the Property shall commence on the Effective Date and shall
continue for one hundred twenty (180) calendar days following the Effective Date, unless sooner terminated 
pursuant to this Agreement (the “Rental Period”).  If Licensee fails to cease operations upon termination or 
expiration of this Agreement, Storey County shall be entitled to injunctive relief and the cost of obtaining such 
relief, including attorneys’ fees, shall be paid by Licensee, and such possession shall not constitute a renewal or 
extension of the Rental Period.  

3. Acceptance/Removal/Surrender.  Licensee accepts the Property in its “as is” condition and
acknowledges that Storey County shall have no obligation to improve the Property in any manner whatsoever.  
Licensee and Storey County acknowledge that the as-is condition of the Property is that of an abandoned/non-
operating mine and that the Licensee does not intend to alter any feature of the abandoned/non-operating mine 
and the Licensee shall have no liability associated with the as-is condition of the Property during the Rental Period 
or anytime thereafter. All materials stored or left in the Property shall be at Licensee’s sole risk.  Licensee shall 
vacate the Property at the end of the Rental Period in the same condition as when received, ordinary wear and tear 
and disturbance from “Permitted Use “excepted, at Licensee’s cost and expense, and shall remove, at Licensee’s 
cost and expense, all of Licensee’s personal property, so that Storey County can repossess the Property not later 
than midnight on the last day of the Rental Period. 

4. Storey County shall have the same rights to enforce this covenant by ejectment and for damages
or otherwise as for the breach of any other conditions or covenant of this Agreement.



DMFIRM #405219423 v4 2 Rental Agreement

5. Rental Fee.  Within five (5) business days after the Effective Date (or such later date when Storey
County provides its payment instructions to Licensee), Licensee shall pay to Storey County, in lawful money of 
the United States, good and valid check, or electronic funds transfer to a bank account as designated by Storey 
County in writing, $1,400.00for use of the Property (“Rental Fee”).

6. Conduct of Business; Indemnification.  Licensee agrees to: (a) furnish at its expense all labor,
materials, supplies and equipment necessary to operate its Permitted Use and Storey County shall have no liability 
for any expense with regard to the Property or the Permitted Use, (b) confine its area of operation to the Property, 
(c) comply with all laws, regulations and ordinances and all rules and regulations of the Property, pertaining to its
use of the Property, (d) maintain the Property in good condition and repair, at its sole cost and expense, in such
manner so as not to conflict or interfere with the use of Storey County, (e) keep the Property free of any mechanics
or materialmen’s liens claimed against Storey County or its agents, contractors, employees or representatives, and
(f) not impede, interfere or obstruct Storey County’s activities on the remainder of the Property. Licensee agrees
to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Storey County and their respective directors, officers, agents, employees,
contractors, subsidiaries and affiliates (the “Indemnitee Parties”) from and against any and all claims, liabilities,
losses, damages, costs, fines and penalties (including reasonable attorney’s fees) (“Damages”), which the
Indemnitee Parties hereafter incur, suffer or are required to pay arising out of or relating to Licensee’s negligent
conduct, act or omission, except any Damages resulting solely from the Indemnitee Parties’ gross negligence or
willful misconduct. This indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

7. Default by Licensee; Storey County’s Remedies.  Licensee’s failure to perform any agreement,
term, covenant or condition, which continues beyond five (5) business days following receipt of written notice 
thereof, shall be an event of default, whereupon Storey County will have the right, at Storey County’s election, to 
terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to Licensee or to pursue any other remedy provided in 
law or in equity, including, without limitation, the rights to enjoin the violation, specifically enforce the provisions 
of this Agreement or to cure any such breach (including without limitation causing any required maintenance or 
repairs to be made or releasing any lien) and be reimbursed by Licensee for the costs and expenses related thereto, 
and Licensee shall immediately reimburse Storey County for all of Storey County’s reasonable costs and expenses 
therein.  Failure of a party to insist upon strict performance of any provisions of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as a waiver for future purposes with respect to any such provision or option.  No provision of this 
Agreement shall be waived unless such waiver is in writing and signed by the party alleged to have waived its 
rights.

8. Early Termination by Licensee. The Licensee has the right to terminate the lease prior to the end
of the 180 period calendar days without penalty. The Licensee must provide Storey County with a minimum of 
seven (7) days’ notice of their intent to terminate the lease early. Early termination by the Licensee does not alter 
any other provision of this Agreement.

9. Notice.  Any notice from Storey County to Licensee or from Licensee to Storey County will be
in writing and may be served personally, by overnight courier service, or by certified mail.  If served by overnight 
courier service, it shall be mailed to the party at the address set forth next to its signature below and be deemed 
received on the first business day after depositing same with the overnight courier service; if sent by certified 
mail, it will be mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the party at the address 
set forth next to its signature below, and shall be deemed received on the third business day after mailing.  Either 
party may change its address for notices by sending a notice in accordance with this Section.

10. Assignment or Transfer.  Licensee shall not assign or transfer this Agreement or any interest
therein without the prior written consent of Storey County.  Licensee acknowledges and agrees that any such 
assignment, transfer or hypothecation shall, in Storey County’s sole discretion, be void and of no further force 
and effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns.



DMFIRM #405219423 v4 3 Rental Agreement

11. Miscellaneous.  The parties do not, by this Agreement nor by either parties’ acts, become principal
and agent, limited or general partners, joint venturers or any other similar relationship of each other in the conduct 
of their respective business or otherwise.  The parties may amend this Agreement only by a written instrument 
executed by both parties. This Agreement shall be governed by Nevada law without giving effect to its choice of 
law provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall 
to any extent be held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such provision to persons or 
circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid shall not be affected thereby and each provision of 
this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.  This Agreement may 
be executed in one or more counterparts, which together shall constitute the Agreement.  Time is of the essence 
with respect to all dates and deadlines in this Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be recorded.

[Signatures on Following Page]



[Signature Page] Rental Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Storey County and Licensee have executed this Agreement as of the Effective 
Date.

STOREY COUNTY:

JIM HINDLE, TREASURER OF STOREY 
COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________

Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern 
Nevada, LLC:

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RENTAL FEE AMOUNT WERE APPROVED BY THE
STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
AT ITS DECEMBER 6, 2022 MEETING PURSUANT TO NRS 361.605

____________________________________
Jay Carmona, Chairman of the Board



DMFIRM #405219423 v4 A-1 Rental Agreement

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

PARCEL 1:

THE EAST ONE-HALF; THE NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THE NORTH ONE-
HALF OF THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE 
NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER; AND THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER, PART OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 19 NORTH, RANGE 22 EAST, M.D.B.&M., 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA.

PARCEL 2:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO UTILIZE MINE ACCESS ROAD AS SET FORTH IN EASEMENT 
AGREEMENT RECORDED SEPTEMBER 4, 1997 IN BOOK 116, PAGE 983 AS DOCUMENT NO. 80890.



Storey County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: May 16, 2023  Estimate of time required: 10 Min

Agenda: Consent [ ]   Regular agenda [X]   Public hearing required [ ]
_______________________________________________________________________________

1. Title: DISCUSSION/POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible action to approve CVS
and Allergan Settlement Participation forms.  By these forms Storey County releases any
claims it may have in the ongoing opioid litigation proceedings against CVS Pharmacy  and its
associated entities as well as Allergan and its associated entities.  If the settlement agreements
are approved, then the State of Nevada is expected to receive $26,508, 912.00 while Storey
County would receive a little more than $18,000.00 over a seven year period.  Under the CVS
settlement the State of Nevada would receive $66,605,257.00 and Storey County would receive
$102,357.00 over a ten year period.

2. Recommended motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the  Allergan and CVS Pharmacy
Settlement Participation forms and authorize the County Manager to sign.

3. Prepared by: Keith Loomis

Department: District Attorney’s Office Telephone: 847-0964

4. Staff summary:  See attached.

5. Supporting materials:  Allergan Settlement Participation Form; Allergan Settlement
Agreement, CVS Settlement Participation Form, CVS Settlement Agreement

6. Fiscal impact:

Funds Available:    Fund:  ____ Comptroller

7. Legal review required:
__X__ District Attorney

8. Reviewed by:
____ Department Head Department Name: Commissioner’s Office

____ County Manager Other agency review: _____________________

9. Board action:
[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modifications
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

Agenda Item No.   _______          

   21



Staff Summary

The State of Nevada and many of its political subdivisions have been participating in ongoing 
litigation against entities believed to have contributed to the opioid crisis.  This litigation has been 
pursued jointly with many other states and political subdivisions within the United States.  
Jansen/Johnson and Johnson were two of the first defendants to settle for an approximate judgment 
amount of 4.5 billion dollars.  Funds were allocated to the States and then through the One NV 
Agreement to Nevada political subdivisions including Storey County.  Storey County received 
approximately $121,000.00 to be paid over 18 years.  To date Storey County has received 
approximately $35,000.00.  These funds must be spent on opioid remediation expenses.  The present 
agenda item addresses the proposed settlements with Allergan and CVS Pharmacy and associated 
entities.  The State is expected to receive in excess of $66,000,000.00 from CVS and in excess of 
$26,000,000.00 from Allergan.   Storey County is expected to receive in excess of$18,000.00 over 
seven years from Allergan and in excess of $102,000.00 from CVS over a ten year period.  The 
Settlement Participation Forms reflects that Storey County will participate in the settlement and 
provide a release of all claims as against both CVS and Allergan



K-1

EXHIBIT K 
Subdivision and Special District Settlement Participation Form 

Governmental Entity: State: 
Authorized Official: 
Address 1: 
Address 2: 
City, State, Zip: 
Phone: 
Email:  

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in 
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Agreement 
dated November 22, 2022 (“Allergan Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized 
official, hereby elects to participate in the Allergan Settlement, release all Released Claims against 
all Released Entities, and agrees as follows. 

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Allergan Settlement,
understands that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein,
and agrees that by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the
Allergan Settlement as provided therein.

2. Following the execution of this Settlement Participation Form, the Governmental Entity
shall comply with Section III.B of the Allergan Settlement regarding Cessation of
Litigation Activities.

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within fourteen (14) days of the Reference Date and prior
to the filing of the Consent Judgment, file a request to dismiss with prejudice any Released
Claims that it has filed. With respect to any Released Claims pending in In re National
Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes the
MDL Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental
Entity a Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice substantially in the form found at [link to
national settlement website page to be provided].

4. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Allergan Settlement pertaining to
Subdivisions and Special Districts as defined therein.

5. By agreeing to the terms of the Allergan Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Allergan
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.



K-2

7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role
as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Allergan Settlement.

8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Allergan Settlement as provided
therein.

9. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision or Participating Special District,
hereby becomes a Releasor for all purposes in the Allergan Settlement, including, but not
limited to, all provisions of Section V (Release), and along with all departments, agencies,
divisions, boards, commissions, Subdivisions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and
attorneys, and any person in their official capacity whether elected or appointed to serve
any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or through any of
the foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a
release to the fullest extent of its authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby
absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to
cause, assist in bringing, or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to
establish liability for any Released Claims against any Released Entity in any forum
whatsoever.  The releases provided for in the Allergan Settlement are intended to be broad
and shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against
any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the
power of the Governmental Entity to release claims.  The Allergan Settlement shall be a
complete bar to any Released Claim.

10. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all rights and obligations of a Participating
Subdivision or Participating Special District as set forth in the Allergan Settlement.

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Allergan Settlement, each Governmental
Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and
benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other
jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, comparable, or equivalent to
§ 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent.  A general release does not extend to claims that
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her 
favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, would 
have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released 
party. 

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows, 
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental 
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and 
discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such 
date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, 
oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would 



K-3

materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Allergan 
Settlement. 

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Allergan Settlement, to
which the Governmental Entity hereby agrees.  To the extent this Settlement Participation
Form is interpreted differently from the Allergan Settlement in any respect, the Allergan
Settlement controls.

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Settlement Participation Form on 
behalf of the Governmental Entity. 

Signature: _____________________________ 

Name:  _____________________________ 

Title:  _____________________________ 

Date: _____________________________









A-1

EXHIBIT A 

Subdivision Participation and Release Form 

Governmental Entity: State: Nevada
Authorized Official:
Address 1:
Address 2:
City, State, Zip:
Phone:
Email: 

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and 
in consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 
Agreement and Release between CVS and the State of Nevada (“CVS-Nevada Settlement”), and 
acting through the undersigned authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the CVS-Nevada 
Settlement, release all Released Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.   

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the CVS-Nevada Settlement,
understands that all terms in this Subdivision Participation and Release Form have the
meanings defined therein, and agrees that by executing this Subdivision Participation and
Release Form, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the CVS-Nevada Settlement
and become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein.

2. The Governmental Entity shall promptly, and in any event no later than the Subdivision
Participation Date, dismiss with prejudice any Released Claims that it has filed.

3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the CVS-Nevada Settlement pertaining to
Participating Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By agreeing to the terms of the CVS-Nevada Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
Annual Remediation Payments.

5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the CVS-Nevada
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.

6. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for
all purposes in the CVS-Nevada Settlement, including without limitation all provisions of
Section VI (Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards,
commissions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their
official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person,
or other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified
in the definition of Releasor, hereby releases Released Entities to the fullest extent of its
authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and
irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought,



A-2

filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against 
any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases provided for in the CVS-
Nevada Settlement and agreed to herein are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall 
be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any 
liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power 
of the Governmental Entity to release claims.  The CVS-Nevada Settlement shall be a 
complete bar to any Released Claim. 

7. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all rights and obligations of a Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the CVS-Nevada Settlement.

8. In connection with the releases provided for in the CVS-Nevada Settlement, each
Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United
States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, comparable, or
equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent.  A general release does not extend to claims that 
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her 
favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her would 
have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released 
party. 

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows, 
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental 
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and 
discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such 
date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, 
oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would 
materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the CVS-Nevada 
Settlement. 

9. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the CVS-Nevada Settlement,
to which Governmental Entity hereby agrees.  To the extent this Subdivision Participation
and Release Form is interpreted differently from the CVS-Nevada Settlement in any
respect, the CVS-Nevada Settlement controls.



A-3

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Subdivision Participation and 
Release Form on behalf of the Governmental Entity. 

Signature: _____________________________ 

Name:  _____________________________ 

Title:  _____________________________ 

Date:  _____________________________ 















Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Allow the Public Works Director to sign the quote from Snoquip in the amount of
$212,000.00 ordering a new Loader Mounted Larue D45 235 HP Cummins Tier 4 engine
with wireless controls to be paid for out of the 2023/2024 Fiscal Year Budget upon
delivery in November to December.

• Recommended motion: I (Commissioner) move to approve the Public Works Director
to sign the Quote from Snoquip in the amount of $212,000.00 for a Larue D45 Loader
Mounted Snowblower. Unit will be ordered now but payment would be in the Fiscal Year
Budget of 2023/2024 upon delivery in November/December.

• Prepared by: Jason Wierzbicki

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470958

• Staff Summary: With the success of the first Loader Mounted Snow blower, I am
requesting a second unit for our operation. After the way this winter was, we could run
both units increasing our ability to muck out town and the surrounding communities at an
even faster rate minimizing impact to the residents and business owners. This second unit
would also serve as a backup to potential equipment break down minimizing the impact
of after storm snow removal.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Budgeted

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

    23



[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



SNOQUIP, INC.
3400 West Capitol Ave.  (916) 372-4641      (800) 994-4641

West Sacramento, CA 95691   FAX: (916) 372-1450 

4/7/2023 

Storey County

We are pleased to offer the following: 

New Larue D45 235 HP Cummins QSB6.7 Tier 4 final, with wireless controls, 30” 

telescopic chute extension, hydraulic tilting chute, 3 section chute deflector – 

HARDOX550, single steering vane right hand, 150 degree impeller casing rotation, 

LED work lights – safety bolts, Full width HARDOX skid shoe, Reverse function reel 

and impeller, drift cutter guard – UHMW, JRB416 coupler. 

$205,000.00 

Freight from factory to Virginia City     $7,000.00 

Total  $212,000.00 

Mike Campbell 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: To authorize the County Manager to accept and sign a proposal from Clayton
Homes for the replacement of the Sheriff's Office Lockwood Substation at 420 Canyon
Way, Lockwood for an amount not to exceed $300,000.00.  The work will include the
removal and disposal of the old unit, site preparation, foundations, production of and
placement of the new building unit, and the construction of an entry deck.

• Recommended motion: I, [commissioner], move To authorize the County Manager to
accept and sign a proposal from Clayton Homes for the replacement of the Sheriff's
Office Lockwood Substation at 420 Canyon Way, Lockwood for an amount not to exceed
$300,000.  The work will include the removal and disposal of the old unit, site
preparation, foundations, production of and placement of the new building unit, and the
construction of an entry deck.

• Prepared by: Mike Northan

Department:     Contact Number: 7753356991

• Staff Summary: The attached quote for site services is fixed.  The attached quote for the
building is the base quote without some adds that staff requested (ADA restrooms, full
glazed entry door, exterior lighting, etc.).  The actual amount will be greater than
$174,000 but total cost is expected to be significantly below the budgeted amount of
$300,000.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: $300,000

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

   25



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



From:      Molleson, Natalie
Sent:       Thu, 27 Apr 2023 16:42:20 +0000
To:                        Michael Northan
Subject:                Fw: Lockwood Substation
Attachments:                   StoreyCountyOfficeMockUpApproved.pdf

Mike, 
The pricing below is what was offered before adding junction boxes, ADA bathroom, , all 
36" doors, and opening for double doors at entrance. 
All of this has required further engineering and I do not have the final price from factory. 
Give me today to see what I can get. 
Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.
From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Sent: Thursday, March 16, 2023 2:56 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation 

Hi!  
I didn't see you, but I ran into the Sheriffs at VC High School this morning for the job fair! 
We're adjusting from the newer version of this floor plan, so it took a minute. 
This plan is at $115, 216.00 including appliances and delivery. 
Take a look and let me know what you're thinking. 
Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http://www.ClaytonNevada.com&c=E,1,I7izHAYdltUzvaP3DulUr2g8CIUnaMzUAe8wVKmkdfyn6Bi62GBY2HMLV2Azi5hY2JjwJRWir2hm1eEr41WjoPO-pf8wdz0kyNfJ2QjPsBh5HaKCuC5LoGPiOuQ,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://nevadabuilders.org/workforce-development/&c=E,1,C_of9PFnyt3rR0tzeaKpcDM3uSmNQUHxnVXLcPUj022C4CbghGxfG9U2vZ9us-yE-peqPUX4ezqKcGtrsWJqtKK9ucWGKmNedbN2z-0x1HaS_E-Jd_TxCQ,,&typo=1
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com


www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.
From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Wednesday, March 15, 2023 10:23 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Lockwood Substation 

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

If possible, we would rather the interview room not have a window, but we can get by either 
way.
Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone
Get Outlook for Android 

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 15, 2023, 4:37 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

I'm sending it to quote, but have a question: 
Can the interview room have a window, or should I delete it?
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http://www.ClaytonNevada.com&c=E,1,UQuw92VA7aR8LsqmBAXmMvVGGa95BW-jjeY_LYgE7BeINrB12cL66XZvgdK_XpGL8dTtwRoOfBi5JIytmO5DI9b10NpA1A2hC-2QHGaH9Q,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://nevadabuilders.org/workforce-development/&c=E,1,X41z798C9PEGB4pf58SSSakNgfMWwI3iI5nrekrylgseuHZqT8Q9smsnsFMNWf56TVp5j9JMfDc7QVkP5-EtJpBfFj8CXIqaLMUKJZzEMVByHv0,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__aka.ms_AAb9ysg&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=352-RuHG5--6A-SKbUwWqeJLzkRWchgELpJZKJLbujY&e=&c=E,1,jDS7ffeAK9nr36FekuLTURzavKSWVGaYNaPl02nBdi3ZT8evu8cHIPEx9HNOLQS4KL4c0H_SAnz1q9cuXcugYsIvfiAizaEtnpfHUql4&typo=1
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttp-253a-252f-252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-26c-3DE-2C1-2CQT-2D4D8fIAoZd5C5iK-2DcZ-5FAc5Q-2D-5FbHXAx-2Duo-5FI9Nt-2DivL5wnmg18LhIJhxLv6VWwinpw6HLfCN1ZtP99nWCq3Pfvzl2L6HJzTkYu-5FwVcOeHMTeQ-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=0wbnFBGwXwB6TY3eEiBk6jE03U1v5o9gS_6GdRzXQ48&e=&c=E,1,Mm-VBWMEm4iIwxIlCpaLBSxz1s0eK4jaSHmXPaLooU6lezPokji2XUa8qT9gFQd4zMmNE6e-8_18y9svwbQ_dPgVLnrXYnJ5KFmXCMqXscg,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252fnevadabuilders.org-252fworkforce-2Ddevelopment-252f-26c-3DE-2C1-2COu1p-2DOnol64XPYVFD9hxO85d6tKAt4qVMo-5FzsWEuiY2ImTtEfiXWp4cLRGzk4YJ09I5PNojYho-5FV37l4x9hbhi2n6xmW7igr6wA5MahCkpUVelmlY99eziujYnI-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=1fixzlRXD0e5rTIfYHswd4wIkI-U09IxyXz5Tduxd6Q&e=&c=E,1,j73GaH5LjIiTYANa6Q3nqYIzQfcMzjAIv1XYPL9MiUr7EGDbZFfsOoWIvQhq46Z3zAQG__9rD2nTx_Bh-gNZNes9p464mQ9h_j9TlLZK0pDVhg,,&typo=1


From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Wednesday, March 15, 2023 1:38 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Substation 

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

Let’s just stick with the a quote on the cheaper version. We can add stuff in on our own.

I attached our tax stuff as well.

Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern 
Storey County Sheriff's Office
Business Office: 775-847-0959
Lockwood Substation: 775-342-0950
Communications: 775-847-0950
Fax: 775-847-0924

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 15, 2023 1:15 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

Got a very quick answer: 
The mock-up does not fit HUD code, as there are no closets needed to form a 
'bedroom'.  Also, the kitchen cannot be moved/removed. 
Two options: 

 We can add back in bedroom two/interview room (minus closet & move door), keep
closet in bedroom 1/deputy room, adjust wall to countertop, a few more minor 
changes, and quote.

 We can start from scratch with an IRC code office, starting at around 60% higher
cost for the structure and $2,300.00 up front for engineered plans. Also, this 
structure cannot easily be moved in the future, as it must be placed on a permanent, 
concrete foundation when chassis is removed. 

I'm hoping to keep it in budget which is why we modified an existing plan so we wouldn't 
need to source separate engineering and raise costs on build. 
I quickly drew up something that can fit into the first option, so please review.  Let me 
know what you think, and I'll get back to factory for pricing.

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971



Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Wednesday, March 15, 2023 10:49 AM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Substation

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

I would like to send you the floor plan you had sent us that we modified to add a counter and some 
other minor changes. I would like to see if you or your builders could provide an estimate on how much 
it would be to for them to add in the modifications. 

Also, this structure is tax exempt so can you please send a revised estimate with no tax. If you need our 
tax information let me know and I will get it to you.

Please let me know if you have any questions.

Thank you,

Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern 
Storey County Sheriff's Office
Business Office: 775-847-0959
Lockwood Substation: 775-342-0950
Communications: 775-847-0950
Fax: 775-847-0924

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 7, 2023 1:17 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttp-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CH8BoOzv2z8wymoYGvoBDfgnQRxj-2D5F7Wnmlt4o98xjjquR84NZ0BsmWiZqJwqdv5OXOA2VPXYDwfJXySVgJ20XqHLtJF47MRc7XnoD1ylX5gECAxBY-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dQprH5yU1WLOWnXXfKre-2DLyOMVnuRKlaNZdb4kZDTLlU-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2Chp3AlILvvulp4rueCjQoXtPYZ2o5GLAT8AnH9AVDwj5W2cJ6wv1wh3HsgV0CAYgOfdUEeNIZQveN526b4ySlOAgSKjCBHOaIfBIRJfYc9TEFWu1XeQ0BaME-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=BuSjE7CSJWiEkOvWCiuxroaDPSal3zg5cDsMamry-J0&e=&c=E,1,p7GNe6QzHdiGgL8d3yGaaQ8j97qOyxXHmBj6-k7psF5HHarElq4HnkftVGwgIc3PJKdGpmhKPbty_7fQOPZrdbb8euh0GcJZoTCAkkjZor4NwA,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D252fworkforce-2D2Ddevelopment-2D252f-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CivPIT0BAfpN0P-2D5FQYjMPtjLFsSRbefYx1ZSa5h-2D2Dnx8CqnGEz5T2IaCll7-2D5FK9NXs7-2D5FMhNAaxxFaNcNX645eser2CT9sAHhBw-2D5F-2D5FWJ-2D5FjpvgL9PP6-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dYWHmGJrsIEFG1JPFlwCPbB9p71U8maCN2XxrE2FQ5bc-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CCPKavsLaL3l9onysGZ-5FHblvlUiOEzn9Xw1bnDI6YNE5RBoE0I7vFMvboJT5T-2DidFyiocjxA-2DVU3y9vRslsXfUjE44OHcnGXbGp-2DXDHy2Q4MXcA-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=d512vqkGSkAoEAcHPAB6Unwmm1pduQLQXY0HD7NopGM&e=&c=E,1,8lpd5I6_kYmktcGJTm2UNS0lA4EA3ThKULaoNcGAPbSlD7PRyWA6QKMgTaSqW4j2FF2h3iAxYCXCL7cdWTiR6aW8oisq-6YViD9bT6cde9HIHOy6rgyb&typo=1
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org


Thank you, Eric!
I'll just need to know which plan is chosen and whether or not you have a tax exemption 
from the state/county. 
At that point, I'll write up the contract and collect the 20% down needed to order. (80% 
balance due before delivery.)

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Tuesday, March 7, 2023 1:05 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Substation

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

Thank you. I will talk to the Sheriff and see what we must do to get this finalized.  

Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern 
Storey County Sheriff's Office
Business Office: 775-847-0959
Lockwood Substation: 775-342-0950
Communications: 775-847-0950
Fax: 775-847-0924

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttp-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CtbG2JjuVoap-2D2D5F6R8ToLYtbJIHA9G0RIrKNPcFFJZse4AlgWr9T0EdS8um-2D2D2Dx-2D2D2D-2D2D5FfRalx3EOAWMsooFPXQVoA71HGliqpI-2D2D2DtpFU8SSWBkjeq-2D2D5Fj0-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dSzbyyQzV2c4ALnmM-2D5F-2D5FbgmimHZpex2nzAO0z2Xa4Sfcw-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CRcFBhZI1z07xV5jganNvag-2D5Fxst9QleiA4kKZvIja-2D2DdjLUwJjbOW01whT8zbsYcoAST7Lq42VsooW8-2D2DVLarBb304GCakJinspacFeRrCM7o-2D5FY-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253d6p-2DHM7qmGYvoDMcrizIFYYCG2dKckIbit3VK09TfMdM-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C0XRPMeczFTp760XB25zLWQFLG6Rv6ml4qBZ89EzEPQH2-2DKnTcXe1y7oqyaEiRimcAkdoKOwAIHoUb3U8TwCTvALRh-5FMRs1UKThHfMNN3TIe-2DU3k-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=gSEfkuVHJd8ly8PfY7y2J_OzKv9Dhpju6DxR6uGUVIU&e=&c=E,1,ZuzG8SCVLv8vYDb4ePC-phBYdRRxpLkwLJWXqHK2PoqP6u7J1XLDAFtk6xNL4nid9yiJf8ISchhbMpe3io9zgWYbB2uirtG1CbPLJDNshYE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D2D252fworkforce-2D2D2Ddevelopment-2D2D252f-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2C-2D2D5FF7O9GnaGOVSvS3Vyb99iGV42nkjeQtWXNJV04nBP8vf86I3zJGT8ffwMlUT5RcOie3hgbneT-2D2D5FsseEJEJPB-2D2D2DEqjBmxg5sJZ4PZbiFij125vce98-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253ddcv70YjTGDc3sPpBfSAG7ASNlTI9pJOpp4fblJZxtWI-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CWSw4WFckuz0yHxmAzKOq3Tu4seaoDww7K7WZHYCtHHUe4GedMVLDn8rncVX660P8DHxeobYfwCElIl9nwJWzc4z2zQc5Whdlz-2D2DxUl7DrO84UXw-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dXzUmXfWtwmrqvzfukhZE5sDD9T3-2Dnpj3nspZOKiyFgM-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C0MNNRqhP7-5FHe0Urr9QsxYJE6vPoFntftL6ZrUg4Qb-5FKwcudt5I1zerMySZTLn2yriP845dVUrr41WfDjE6lxYZZ50008Cy-2DOLm48jm6FEUdzkQ-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=8sExfklA-uHEPGi_bqzCKZLHvXMWLIg3XOGwEPCP1rg&e=&c=E,1,LFUp4aPexRAageCyxSA9MTdDAtliPEAdKYDnmRJbQ14-ZIY8NV6MyYeSC8CiI8bl95vZwaVCfP5gTr-HS1uV9m7TzmibBOgU_CiwRvto6oCgbQml8EKi-Wwy&typo=1
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com


From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Saturday, March 4, 2023 1:13 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

Hi, Eric!
Sorry I missed this!

The original floor plan is $121,725.00.
The amended one for more open space is $103,992.00.

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Thursday, February 23, 2023 4:24 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Substation

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

I just want to get some clarity on the cost of each floor plan.  Can you give me a quote for each (with or 
without mods).

Thanks,

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttp-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2C6r5nVCyZD-2D2D2D5Fd0lWpQqphBIy0PFXuNs95eF0Ue78LFMb282dDQussxZTFiCZ1-2D2D2D5Fj8foH3JgtOsS1VnA7SQe1XGIbK3mcqB5jiVwmPxiBv9hOD1i0VPK3lKvYQ-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253dNHBzh9MPYd-2D2D2DPmlYrenFQr4AF5XhB2Q9nBR-2D2D2DPuDZNYng-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CwSjBO-2D2D2DyIckXHqRiQTWrr7spKzQ5dnNUTJ3Gf8Gd7pXAQ7gwpLjMZJN7JQujNijhTdJNeYbMuYjnsaiSn4-2D2D5F6hUTql1SPxgGvHXPMymJxqqC-2D2D5FUSv9lyN2Qn-2D2D5FZqsvc-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dLy1p7fUc014g0Rw0win5yhhBUMAQQS7PCyPwdKaztF8-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CHZkORfc-2D2DszQqkAvCw-2D2DgE0BG-2D2DtgElUuJKb9DlqtXt6J0QE-2D2D1UTD2M0qwLlztXmKbKlrLe9T0Uvyt2ChyjAfN19Yl5IvnUL-2D2Dbawt-2D5FakfJXbOlknmNGeg-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dnVGx1k8KswFydbWn9qwwD6vpkjgjLAWHNi94dpNd8Lk-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CieC-2DL8xuSbYgKXMR2bnN-2DvIILVSwlEaKMm-2Dpneq9mjk-2DFumoNVrWY3YaBE7l-2DNlKCJLDFW7bHygAij2S1NglaplPW2S8LsMgzEpAQfOwqjo-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=OZjFYZsxVT1sDA0c8JooaawudyZpQjmHnR-GxMBHUPU&e=&c=E,1,Jxsa9FmxAvbhpQVlyeqOwGsXKraWk6sPh9Yt2yskMUGUYxMZHQ08yrSkBpwuYhZXXf017hKt1kjHz__JYrkDk8Sd85zFGB1fh9ib9VVgEIaS24Lrvx-dpDihLdhi&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D2D2D252fworkforce-2D2D2D2Ddevelopment-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CSycPQ-2D2D2D5FDV1U-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5FLGY4xQ-2D2D2D5FbxlRHFdk6KY9t1leLN5B0llzvSSY7V0weYYN6BtyVACXUV3mKDah4AD3XnqFwR0dYO4dmtXlcORKsWs9w8JrjKDs-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253dnXviFdt0EG8wTVd4fv8OOgxN-2D2D5FyTIvimdqrXudi7oqJ4-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CWcDHamDQ-2D2D2D2E-2D2D5F-2D2D5FI9qjhpdT6ttfgtM9Ec1GdYpBJC6MefzktXKoKoW-2D2D5Fh-2D2D5FKdplmIPh0YQ8rlpMLDnFIyF2VA8r6dRK06iEEfvVNu5-2D2D2D4B7-2D2D2DnAR0wInxrINshvVlrnw-2D2D2C-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dTeDQHReSTJs-2D2DCU4aKNL7iD6EBVeo65zxVaB4qZ7XPXs-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2C-2D2DUuhHeoPeOddPfBIHEuJG9KSFidhEknEzucpkIWhBOzOP6VeSDfCrK-2D2D6oZAkkBl9X848MHlLB-2D2DojAiaOq7Yzc879kS3VPzBOdKQrv50Pzi8340E8-2D5FYgQ-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dWTSCYpcWPfp98-5F39zmfarsoDIk7AgHdYV3e1ozZ1PEY-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CFFOfbv0TUHWE2YQtacN-5F90B6FZCeznqgO4uMB1IdHT-5FqYXnV8DwcgOsxB0afTRfacNOvCCPMXYBC1mliaopv7o1c-5Fcg3uV427vQQltqypnFxTDp-5FiyU8rBu4FJQT-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=1Obg59YUT64J-4eF9XlienRmdinysKVfTEgUHsJ6arU&e=&c=E,1,3tkPouvjSjzHC9b9PDP3p7AypLjqZKCheL2QoUq9nk6TbgpcG5Y6LMiZ7oGDUTBEw_k9UaR4J7C2wcspBgLjGMIOoa6I3NNpxXlzbBYfLQPEsXr2-6IJDQ0P&typo=1
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org


Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern 
Storey County Sheriff's Office
Business Office: 775-847-0959
Lockwood Substation: 775-342-0950
Communications: 775-847-0950
Fax: 775-847-0924

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Thursday, February 23, 2023 2:40 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

Hello, Sheriffs!
We finally have pricing for the unit. $103,992 including delivery and appliances. 
As you are a government entity, you may have a tax exemption. 
Skirting is about $3,000 since you plan to 8-point set it to possibly move in the future. 
This should leave plenty in your budget to cover set, utility, and foundation costs. 
Let me know what you think, and I'll get to work!

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Monday, February 13, 2023 2:56 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Substation

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttp-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2CtyVkWy2QjOA0Iv2OTJuTK1eIEMirbueHxSYKYCWIbfGsM8cRFdpT-2D2D2D2D5Fd1exdl3Mj-2D2D2D2D5Fn75-2D2D2D2D5F6F8wJLVqHRT2I-2D2D2D2D5FHXkkprJRHmWEZcnrj8evU-2D2D2D2D5FSz8MUyQ-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dBbpCNSJgbUSbwYL3ym5OCQ-2D2D2D2DQSwqiuglcKRAblbfF2dk-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CKynYHeza-2D2D2D5FHaAGGtWQbTDpr-2D2D2D5Fh9jwALs6whzdarG9kRRrs3gUXizPfocwAMBnUEge7fUMNU0jI0cqfGW3FIp09ssz-2D2D2D2DjtW1VO4ScTjKeMYzu7tzF22OuyJtfike-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253d5ml6e-2D2D2DDxBSZrL8wqtiQO8R8Rnmfw81c28vgfwHbAPqc-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CTNH0RgJajPmc-2D2D5FFf48omxoDGf7my6HRIxaCrnP87bpAulMA0lht9tRD-2D2D2Dc24vvsIaozzl-2D2D5FF-2D2D2DLNhLbFyvxoENCXoi0sKzYmTP5QPuv-2D2D2DJn5Wq-2D2D2DrH-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dOmp3QLm1n2FCjWfLGyeQknJEEkl6aP9rUBGaSoE3V9E-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CbmvkIOSty67K-2D5FUWmrJYTnx1tgvB62kaq7ZS-2D5FkozmCO6I-2D5FNgWgomdLjKBwptjYWjKoMZ0PG9Z5JulvoNiULwd61E-2D2DoPCz-2D5F7FO9p3028-2D5FdfU6z9NMGitXgtR8v-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dbpFzAcClNM1d6C-2D-2D6HVp-2DeEaejyiXyYemGNCV3K6XbU-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2Cbxet9M7n8jAdpmVfYFzFLiBksVhweDUZemo48TBoOLnJC-5FBjfip1n-2DEzJJPiUtqooGxe1mkk5WsxpSL9E5mZlFCEdP0DE2lZy4TkzvNj2kRotM0aTLjVQA-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=T4pNITaYXMU7lI7CgNYnAQ6eaaPVov12QOWmyk0nHP4&e=&c=E,1,tmqZyV9JjRfnAGWTskm3ucmGCBdg5Ijo5JuOLuViyFjiKwdWxoimuAQ6fCZSvRdvi-8B7pyh0eyExQqI6iBFXsidwgtYRmgC3IOVocj0xcVDtXlnMIPGNA,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D2D2D2D252fworkforce-2D2D2D2D2Ddevelopment-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2ConpRBCmh0nucdv0CyOMbeJkyHb9HF7meDF-2D2D2D2D5F9LCGwv7DYzc88KEZEQTKYh-2D2D2D2D2DMdyputNehaLUQ2EQe1tqgSj5AVSK7NVG6VT1FB4ut8WHFEd5QCx3u4JvHM9Ds-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dV0KkPJifIoyWtiCGitCIDW8ql9MjSWfp8uRIV-2D2D2D2DkyYTs-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CISx-2D2D2D5FMxjIOdn3kjH-2D2D2D5FJ-2D2D2D2DfyFo4RefkEnOW4uSRXIc1JkYfzgz2TsESxSNZYHsT7YCRDSMqH-2D2D2D2DJPezLP5SesSIcCRbmPTtDR1V9Dj8f-2D2D2D5FfbShPgDkJqIz14xg-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253dMrRha1cUEMI3PPsNjQbhfhy85M-2D2D5FV8MYD6SpiBhE9ei0-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2C2WK9U5FLsrEM1sWTFl1OXV8BMPAQZ7xTGyZKJ10UkEC2AuwZUCfBZE4pvn9-2D2D5FlyxY2eCwiGR7qM4jxQfdnqbjaEfe9CUyADW6MXoXiwnK9efslA-2D2D2C-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dUW51HEr0xYMkU5BDPcSUVcS4W87Q3oAN5z1ph3vhKZc-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CkrKJUrbI92P68mv4uImodCfxMcvjGQtkhCyeugWIVnsPaNI80rC1lx6kztongdcT4-2D2D6NnKTZJ7K1WokPHm0xaT77Xb2K2IUzKl2V7m5h-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dpyzotk7ww1Va2dijyyk77UauZbVo9f9eW4X3KXgEEFM-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CY7aNwMyBAoA8jFegNNYQNQDJD-2D5wDBRI6RLMEi0wvAfU6qNZYYdxLFq9-5F9WLYdTvuZ79t6HEQowASpUgifU-5F1ygeB9Zj9IsA2NribgusKQfax9dPGyJ-5F-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=VKmoiqEkqSXlGGzamnJrU-lyikopkg-bOTEOWPrQnsM&e=&c=E,1,MKFi7wiBxH_87g288BjWyrJrf87vaoA5z18aR0NLWdk2ZuzO8Y-bx9aHbmZf4k2myQDBj8hXXWk_rCts1PBZD7kvdLCrBVx9zKWLodmMLq7w_A,,&typo=1
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org


External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

Kitchen is fine if it gets us a lower price. 

Thank you, 

Assistant Sheriff Eric Kern 
Storey County Sheriff's Office
Business Office: 775-847-0959
Lockwood Substation: 775-342-0950
Communications: 775-847-0950
Fax: 775-847-0924

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Monday, February 13, 2023 1:11 PM
To: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Substation

Hi, Eric and Mike! 

To meet HUD/manufactured code, it must be shipped and inspected with the kitchen 
intact.  We can order an IRC/modular without a kitchen, but that will heighten the cost 
considerably.  The single-wide IRC/modulars start at $150K just for the structure, and HUD 
can be as little as $95K. It also is more expensive to set the structure, and would need to be 
placed permanently. Modulars cannot be moved again once they're set, so we were looking 
at the HUD/manufactured to fit the County's need to move it in the future.

I spoke with factory again this morning for pricing on what I submitted and the IRC offices 
just in case, and they've escalated the request so I can get you all numbers shortly. 
If I could run to Idaho and personally annoy someone until they get the quotes for you, I 
would. At the moment, we are at their mercy. The second I know more, I will get it to you.

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D2D3Dhttp-2D2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2D2CI0HdP6-2D2D2D2D2D2DUXTVrbLfmaTQne5GUbfSpL2IQpZwujFxNBCubtXSSmlxLOH0-2D2D2D2D2D2Dm8s5HbE1dAyQy-2D2D2D2D2D2Dn1D78fO-2D2D2D2D2D2DdTk4uuG4QundBQxB1VNC4tjHVcjGEvixw-2D2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D2D253dDwMFAg-2D2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D2D253dgbGO2j2N-2D2D2D2D2D0zxYLlvn5UNTvFtyeMywXppgxM8ppigDj31n8Zjxsy-2D2D2D2D2DQH3bd2WKnKLE-2D2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D2D253dXU2jhZ0Z0x4x-2D2D2D2D5FMMG-2D2D2D2D2DtmpEwLOjQkB2zHNuOOKn0OEnm8-2D2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2CuwEAs6XoU9DaH8cdBgg55bG9s9D3wevGeudzD13Ik-2D2D2D2D2D6-2D2D2D2D2DXe9MQfdel-2D2D2D2D2Di2Z8DDnwuQDk5IgRTfUaBB3HaAZmXcpxCYRkyZ4xzgUg5hkhNyqD83s2i0mwNkRvZJ-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dg-2D2D2D2De41mHLU9YMLW0Ux07vIKSSb3TT-2D2D2D2DvtUid7bZ6pOeXE-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CkifLlhcsf4utVJV2tcM70oHN1GQEemN2gh7Qrn8NM0Y7ICBdk2JLa-2D2D2D5Fr7-2D2D2D2Dh6z8LmwVes24xvP4GQA4OxplFp7R2jACR0TKwJhoIN4sgclK1WrdSZryjx9PrYr-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253d-2D2D2DiQCn3uo4h6l3W41s1RnpkN-2D2D2DVYIovtuaP0alQRbCsjg-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CIRpiu08wRoAJIOSeUiqVKKWWcAmtbmhb4OnDA5hTlBmahegQTXY7hFMJSiDy44DMHUtXqpksjSk0DdZ4pW5fvEG72ENibQAI20kKY6nYraYeBzwg-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dYJEU294wJh0TzUIN-2D5FvCTXf1-2D2DlYRzU-2D2DVbUJdatb3iE84-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2C-2D2D2UNErDv3Gi2AWDRdq6CKF2mni-2D2DIRe9oPNEdpopnRmS2-2D2DuoJkKSdJu9KS-2D2DJP21djbZwV0YBtMhpVX4DN60u2Xz5USyguySS6kzAn9qyX2y288G3bAqi5fxtEpg-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dBtljw2EOurTpVxObQuKBlzVnkujMGJZbN20T9AgTQuc-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CvYb-2DlzpQHfCye3vbEqU5j6JXoQ62hRzej9ceVPLeeMdd8hy4ViEvTizPOz094JoVVLu8ym41vDj2SxHAlkcfjLZV8dPl8r6ddZAGIkEGcbVqYvBwTmLQr9-5Fvmw-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=neSRghmBrE8_FuGijh9r3I92oU72xG0o3kZcUD840ns&e=&c=E,1,zy2irG3ana8FfAwdcATqGopLn_IisiNaXYvhzRJZwoQLVaZQ4v1Y0M9-av3l5fyPyjbzLFha88lpMwMMy7R-zvltK1q2C0TmctUEzIX4w9Qy&typo=1


Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org

From: Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Friday, February 10, 2023 4:04 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Mike Cullen <mcullen@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Lockwood Substation

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Natalie,

The “Respect” model looks like it would be best for our needs. Can you please put together an estimate 
for this unit. We will not need washer dryer hook-ups or wiring. In the bathrooms I would like the one 
closest to the living room to have a toilet and a sink (no bathtub or shower) and the other to have a 
toilet, sink and shower. I would also like to know what cost savings it would add to not have a kitchen.

Any questions please feel free to call me.

Thanks,

Eric Kern- Assistant Sheriff
Storey County Sheriff’s Office
205 South C Street Virginia City Nevada 89440
775-847-0959

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D2D2D2D2D252fworkforce-2D2D2D2D2D2Ddevelopment-2D2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2D2CfrBMWqORWMb8ikImQjIaUJT79WonKqAU29ROVJQeE0OvuByyBYHlBNmhCmb2RsC6DHkKqQxJKuiD6rs5lCFEF5jzxHwh33CAkHx43bLF8oWyheowZSk1L-2D2D2D2D2D5FA-2D2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D2D253dDwMFAg-2D2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D2D253dgbGO2j2N-2D2D2D2D2D0zxYLlvn5UNTvFtyeMywXppgxM8ppigDj31n8Zjxsy-2D2D2D2D2DQH3bd2WKnKLE-2D2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D2D253dxtGpZ55jl4RJ7Jz1M7aRqFJ2U0HyZ-2D2D2D2D2Dauh8n1FQiMIPo-2D2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2C6bWWyGHjN1eiW9PqqZg-2D2D2D2D2Dn-2D2D2D2D2D41XhzDbU3fWN3IU09M5yznC1Bk36OxsLxRmFxOcvuXwZOT3foKbUDletCrOh7-2D2D2D2D2DD0df1xdkMOLol-2D2D2D2D2DsM6t9e3Avm-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dZQn1NYTq1rZqVIXUeLnnYKEyJYStl-2D2D2D2DQSpsPo4ei-2D2D2D5FBIY-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CTmUxlBgjQqgcM1xAMAkeAgpdy2gy3JzL2UzqGmapZqUN5ADe4aSRZjQ1JXUY9k4wF9LHy2uIqksaP33y8d5XbWtK70Mx40O6SyrXuASoCeyY-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253d3xjOf54Ev-2D2D5F3IEvjk-2D2D5FoeBjejQ7j8lE6Cxkw59gVzYMR0-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CezRPMaLMcx78-2D2D2DKwqZcN7l4UvSrWRYrz9W6kaZcFHgsgCJi4RRjSWAZUEuS3Yt4LqWwMTbb371b6ytx17gagkpflWM2Aja8-2D2D2D2I0ybLtPLOXV5sUCt44f6tc7R6P0y-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dSnSMhOtfhqVyAeLRIHoMXuLEg6TWK3-2D2DpFewaNK0oIZE-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CCLfa6dfu2eyhTaj70JVMgwnIN5QC3rFi3gW1Eqdb0oL8uPPDxRFz0Q3yiHQ4PnN-2D2DfwdACnXLI2wfBXG9k9xApNUt89eFD86VbrZ3s0ey-2D5Fl8ZvR7ArlA-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253ds8-2DxKa-5FC4IJfgyUP88oiGWv-2D2nmvlEVwTY4SGjEbs9c-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CHvckh-5Fz4ABrfKJzKojZhiPbmSnk5JM15l6R2ezvNKj8CAQFZJGNKOXls37zKzYJzzClnS2aCHgcwIUdW-2DZhGmJM523E20YJZ6w-5F0Gt20GJgeGH3Ly0N5-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=M30ZobL5mWj_q3VSpwTJPa0VCJZXdHIg3p2U0w9wZ5g&e=&c=E,1,f-eGTbgNpQ5VVYz5-O5oyQWzpNnYfttanz9sMf6FSvKTwf61XEl3qJ7yVf3_TQ2mIiPTqDp9UFm4q8f_ufJU8M94vfuF7LzSzU811n_qtWfu26A,&typo=1
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:mcullen@storeycounty.org
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D2D2D2D2D252fprivacy-2D2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2D2CbWJh4laDUXFu1xN6UNHpF5O2tAbEP9ZZvWtZv5w061Z9rPPkX9glWM98K2xDj6Z9QhEVOtSwHqFu6MSEO95eC6vvsDkYdN-2D2D2D2D2D5FClP8y84OSzMODHDYy-2D2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2D2D26ancr-2D2D2D2D2D5Fadd-2D2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D2D253dDwMFAg-2D2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D2D253dgbGO2j2N-2D2D2D2D2D0zxYLlvn5UNTvFtyeMywXppgxM8ppigDj31n8Zjxsy-2D2D2D2D2DQH3bd2WKnKLE-2D2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D2D253d1E3-2D2D2D2D5FcICynm8dAs3YGO37ALUtoKfOk0vmT3rhI-2D2D2D2D2Dy3MGY-2D2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2Ci-2D2D2D2D2D8IXBHCcgFTaw4BTrRFjg0dhQlWJvc6gi8oVMg-2D2D2D2D5FRqZF1hKD-2D2D2D2D5Fm3KoH-2D2D2D2D2D5ahEuDEA5GbcvnoXF7AMspgtG-2D2D2D2D2DpqTK-2D2D2D2D2DyhGtm68QiwnPQDodcOb-2D2D2D2D2DFMFlfFngumAA-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dXvEOqtauvHgGZr4H6eg-2D2D2D2DvhAfCKrbkeuFtk3pbxPZKkk-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2Catxucb1bwaUZnwXfoDVRNij5Lg9Ctp39EYaVqKtm57x-2D2D2D2DHFPjKiuFhur8UAbSMQkxC1yXBuPFVCCi8KWUn0R3dWGU-2D2D2D5FW5O-2D2D2D2D8sBFg5E3YY5fzUMOCVPV2s-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253d4zyvYr-2D2D5Frbsf3QX6GSSec5RpQzGy36v8HI9d5zBa4uiE-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CZDRXDWflp82orlJI6O5niYcPkSCoOs8qL111lgVURBIA5yYCuUdULag6I-2D2D2DqGJ0Ub3aSUpqwUhvDZe-2D2D2DT2pdP3uSEiHfp-2D2D2DG0HTP5ALg8fIVQtfGw-2D2D2C-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dhmcmDqyNVhWDwVTLJFvyqhl6KZZ6JOsMXUNafVuS9Pc-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CoaIHm4T8zFfVk6tL-2D2DUsaz0BrYeboVrq2yFmdX-2D5Fq6oFUIuzmC3vXZEZz6MuDo80VCwr6-2D5FBoWE3eBEnvtg2NNBWxzPOnFsCL5JWV4YBKCVxxbJi91HjDIjzuuZi96Q-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dC6HQWl3HitCyQy9cUjgeUpcbOlfqvmWMeqf8t25u4bA-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C7J6i2jvRu4XL4JAb01pElWblVw-5Fko87ZHlodR31Ig-5FC4x5-2DIHYbBCock-5FQGJiRQNabxmy7rqV8AAxdnjA3C-2DWgg91POYhvnRi5EYvAesW6XQz9s-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=I5Nd9TlFFowv0wuYFYlaaCxiS19kpOsRBoYXjlTHD4M&e=&c=E,1,UED8jfoUEPu8r820l93ciD0W5u4Xt2yBYaEVW3aDgfi6KenSzXuC-LCfvhkE4mp115n_r3Po72DciINl-vF0QEvMaMdJr9soFho6gYqxFbaC1eoLBXQCXA,,&typo=1


CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D2D252fv2-2D2D2D252furl-2D2D2D253fu-2D2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D2D3A-2D2D2D5F-2D2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D2D2D2D252fprivacy-2D2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2D2CIVWf2QVZe5YTHAfXdIr73dGV9bjbiyIR4iE6uguQlqILODESFxJg05lGeghkgoZxc-2D2D2D2D5FET17Y4GR4cuxTYbiK48KVoqujzS7cIcLpkFwMZUmzGp8E-2D2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2D26ancr-2D2D2D2D5Fadd-2D2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D2526d-2D2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2D2526c-2D2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2D2526r-2D2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2D2526m-2D2D2D253dditrhd7tJDTKs29t49i8kHvPCmkKysIv1SOKiYbi55t-2D2D2D2DA2VMycbrszEXQiBEACpx-2D2D2D2526s-2D2D2D253dR4xnG9G6MBlnNnF5n0cboxB28fmqCQIMUNX00l9mOxI-2D2D2D2526e-2D2D2D253d-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2C7PHIo7oB9VQFF7pHWfwHyhdYww2EEF1w5iawrpWkoIhSXVxIHMOV2Av9k79vj-2D2D2D2D3Ia-2D2D2D2D3MxMkFbJt3mrCio-2D2D2D2D3FWGgs7t3E51bgKfA0rDdJWpsGdjfP8feb-2D2D2D2DQ-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253dRw-2D2D5FyBu-2D2D5FHWz7N4WcRx48XAaDaVwYKZRxXy58vUA8478w-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2COL4hFEFQbTza4yt1ywWld2QePW-2D2D5FdncOmU2B-2D2D2D-2D2D5Fur1JzCkC-2D2D2DwQVd9i-2D2D2De9trvBqr2GeE6RjVhIfDXR-2D2D2D6ZUrAFUaX4ABA01MoAiVIkYZsu9fmm6ugqQ-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dai8vHbfaVz-2D5F5NgFj17jKA4BZnfhrwe8By6RCbVlPZG8-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CtdiWfGw9Ej9FdrAQ0eNGoUA-2D2DTenOzR-2D2DhuBSpdgiuw-2D2DPQNjWRIgrEUZpiCB1xEuUYhqhreFJHGDt6x5nw8SFZKrIilcF6tnHTYm0obauoYNz7Ql46qohT6w-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dtwjCuggf6bBkuRHZEZEXv42T-2DJcXkwyHMxGtQL-2DKEvw-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CA6jN5mkKpe3lZ3M7wGlMUMZPSjgEwoFV6rwd-2DKhNM5tzaHMexjISracTRZfFcy6Fx-5FTMOWLcqEsZGTdoMRCX5RqHZy0Onvt7vLL-2DBHSa7gYTs-2DhbFGqhYg-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=HdQLCnA2yw31zi-lImsjt8jAGB8OXwIVdJpMip9XRzs&e=&c=E,1,30TOwRhAMg1KiQLC28MY2vxSI0pP34cd_pgfjr61hOu1Gp3dNifzcRgH31L9q06oscQ005CvgdWjBPI4nazzs3nrLuiD0ivp8Ss5clZw1mTINEc0IwR-2kCt&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D2D252fv2-2D2D252furl-2D2D253fu-2D2D253dhttps-2D2D2D3A-2D2D5F-2D2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D2D5Furl-2D2D2D3Fa-2D2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D2D253a-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D2D2D252fprivacy-2D2D2D252f-2D2D2D26c-2D2D2D3DE-2D2D2D2C1-2D2D2D2CJURmzDI0KifIqy38ErIJF-2D2D2D2DIWfj30AbKG7nQV7QBKQoCNdnYeYUZwnGdqx6gk4lrW4OkAqE5j49mtY8QY-2D2D2D5FWLVeXDwYlryH7D7XMN1Cuf86Iz2aSQf6cRKAtyNmzI-2D2D2D2C-2D2D2D26typo-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2D26ancr-2D2D2D5Fadd-2D2D2D3D1-2D2D2526d-2D2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2D2526c-2D2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2D2526r-2D2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2D2526m-2D2D253dRydU9d-2D2D2D-2D2D5FcTHd6sxhwmW3zGmOKxckxvh3nkSY-2D2D2DkH-2D2D2D21kpBZTdosqQPdkO6ixP45ao-2D2D2526s-2D2D253drgCDtwg6VEMm6dddX27BockoR0BdFLY9gppuU1UBeH0-2D2D2526e-2D2D253d-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2CYrJNwXQnvZuW5WkeOTp-2D2D2DxUz4-2D2D5Fgdvz6-2D2D2DK2-2D2D2DDDE2MRiPfKWYlLR9aJuPnX34mDPgIdlxHUW-2D2D5FpEDqxOjGUxw7YwrMQCrKccPPs6r4DUXgrUKemOdUAPCuCmCFZXXQ-2D2D2C-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dM1RB61YDv2gGgK0CVrFAVAIjJunY9TaP32WU4QLBpis-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CdVXPV0WbJCMjC4VEuLTSq-2D5FQmaR7G8DzLYLZMC1fTEHucR1Np6Br6-2D5FNr4v5LooMXjcvJJElgNw-2D5Frtvm6BHdmYI6Max0PsKq-2D5FmyoL7-2D5Ff4-2D2Drgq75CdaK-2D2DJE37Mr-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253daysUoRFaW2eX9bDKTxHunj9Lvw1yJFqz5Tswdjadblw-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C9doc-2De0vc3e7pxfxqoMs7QqehmXRKnnA1v6F82J9kLtrlFTcTIZsgDAeh91Q0-5F1r51sNNMvXhyy69qNjJasQ9xDWWRb8ZvXyFbnMZXuDBWsg-2D5HFoEc9-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=hypV_ien0P8I7ecjms1Kq-u4DZElvBKW7og0Iwu9EeY&e=&c=E,1,ZCxlvIH0iaaWzvZSZ2M-z-8bfiAGn6mHpHtJQ07WfiTIcwo3B7aajKgV86MQCLf3t2kt3MN2z5okWs0-hAl_ScALXVxJHG-zawgUhtKSq3y4wS1PqQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252furldefense.proofpoint.com-2D252fv2-2D252furl-2D253fu-2D253dhttps-2D2D3A-2D5F-2D5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-2D5Furl-2D2D3Fa-2D2D3Dhttps-2D2D253a-2D2D252f-2D2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D2D252fprivacy-2D2D252f-2D2D26c-2D2D3DE-2D2D2C1-2D2D2C-2D2D2DIFayERLeiZnx8Mc9VSGgz5V4M8nNkDvErPFjzMiorJ5E4wsLR5MJYZVmhCjcu3Rnq-2D2D5Ff-2D2D2D0wY0SrthGqUoOA1Z6duAZ9d1mvqcjOXIi7FIA-2D2D2C-2D2D2C-2D2D26typo-2D2D3D1-2D2D26ancr-2D2D5Fadd-2D2D3D1-2D2526d-2D253dDwMGaQ-2D2526c-2D253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2D2526r-2D253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-2D5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2D2526m-2D253dQg1pcHNbQwyX2ZK6dLLXt08bm6SVRnMh6JWkRQGq7lnx0zWphZn9DoGjPbkWGe4x-2D2526s-2D253dv7nxb8W4u5P0bgXlE26qScM9ws5V2oZp-2D5FCDMtvGElUc-2D2526e-2D253d-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2Ct3-2D5FWmS5WdtRYLaJBpgiTebRa33cn6j3SELM0yq2YPru1Jx55RxqgGUS1fqjEXbqIAEytq-2D5FrE31UB-2D5FBgkOtjg0Hhra5NkvsNwzzPhMzDWgLt0sGeQyg-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253dbgL-2Dt5TyYpsdfarGYT1rgxpMlRn-5FRJbS9BebBucFOgc-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C41KPGln66l0gWsNKT-5F7jhS7IWO6FXyHDFUfPhQBcRNh6nXhkSSW-2D0kokBBW2Kw3dB3NRZAYUc1Rnx0ouCWMUEuIjPXyO0na6NcKohrNaOmRDkm3uWoq18ZA-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=fzIuKRr1sDxhEcKVIyuTHi-pu_TUCrGq0q8js7Efcsk&e=&c=E,1,zjVBYfAm7eAyMMYhoxzqPDX8s19S_xF-JOeaknfBUrMy3hHPdssSbUN4TxwNpbcanM-HaqV4hDVbWpP2spaTc7vIZ9n9yyE8cp2Tn6f6Jni6pg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D252fprivacy-2D252f-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CjYwuhlFQeSDAYQQS1Skmqkro-2D2Drs2JEbCHECyu8WwjTd7qQUyzyjEN1wRdWyXzXjcP1ykHRIBuAkJSxZASaV0bVCVG6hkKz4-2D2Dqa4gxYPvXm6-2D2DmwZcVR4Mk2-2D2DkOw-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2D26ancr-2D5Fadd-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253d-2DRFlNXk-2DJffzDoQBjr5rEtcF5qw1lW-2DPgQKCze1wD80EVRvyYnFmk6PrW-2DcyDYPD-2526s-253djXrWpswMP5S2m470rAAr-2DduSWXF1-2DMQGDsQIVdyqhU0-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CDFUS24gilrQzQAl7HNpBGh0XasBprC0-2DWzCpjmFN-2DJx6-5FiryrflgLQqwyc2-2DktgxXjkjYKO89wlAEBAFpXGLS9Xsy9AhNZQ8dTYaBO7WeMbxxPw8Z9bz-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=_zKDD1cHi1UCO3nK_djZA26m0KjjaTwlU1zSij4PUXM&e=&c=E,1,Kvsq3U7ewjLjivAGGBfcNgjIye2CyjTcPTKfVb1tCcjPO8hIqeMGFBxPzH1YVYAoa7878dy2k6Ij5jjGTlrMGrECuXmqDEyhc8eOI4gTtPsyYFxWUfx8Sa7u&typo=1


CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/ 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/ 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252fwww.claytonhomes.com-252fprivacy-252f-26c-3DE-2C1-2CaBFBb2I8FF4XuBOIHoCUr2FdoSKlQTl7yI8l4CS6OJKzoWIeHhZ4vvkPYTNaGb0dEQ5c7msV4n7fW0s324ymBasDf54tnzYX1tB0olLTseW510YH404h-26typo-3D1-26ancr-5Fadd-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=FRbwPPddDtJGYfTl7_6nFj1e5vGgTyQjJigDFe3soWMkpt-nK6-QL_8SlUZOqXkZ&s=vNOoibTNE8Pud0X3IZRsTQBshBsNW2tn4p2XoHFsDac&e=&c=E,1,aED7PHVBkrUNXTSZIB4gni-IOSdH7wmtoqAieWG6zB-KXzYhtLlyhjs6DagaTTL_Q15ZPVYhMgye-7omps8ePiHw0YCZcR3kMK68aEM4mLjR&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/&c=E,1,whh7YAi3qtZF0yoOQpAjeb5sJhtKaGdyZbYC0Nr6fm3YE-0NMWntZgWl_qiyzDB8xVquMgaG2MA-oSNnw3CPewto6lksDnfZWrW_CgLw_w,,&typo=1&ancr_add=1


From:      Sell, Rhonda
Sent:       Tue, 25 Apr 2023 20:36:04 +0000
To:                        Molleson, Natalie;Randy Sell (lrandysell@gmail.com);Michael Northan
Subject:                Re: QUOTE CLARIFICATION Fw: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey 
County

I'm sorry for the confusion.  The project total is $59,8323.00.  The way Quickbooks subtotals 
certain groups sometimes causes confusion (in this case the set up is subtotaled at $17,432. It 
shows the line item costs but does not include in the total price).  Let me know if you need him 
to send over in a different format.

Rhonda Sell 
Project Manager
Clayton Homes 890
10020 Hwy 50 East
Carson City, NV 89706
(O) 775.246.4500
(C) 951.743.8955

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 25, 2023 12:17 PM
To: Randy Sell (lrandysell@gmail.com) <lrandysell@gmail.com>; Sell, Rhonda 
<Rhonda.Sell@ClaytonHomes.com>
Subject: QUOTE CLARIFICATION Fw: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County 

From: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 25, 2023 12:04 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County 

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

Hey Natalie,

I’m looking at your quote and the numbers don’t add up.  The line items add up to $77,264 but the 
quote has $59,832 so we need to get that clarified. 

Mike Northan
Operations and Projects Coordinator
Storey County
775 335 6991
Mailing Address



PO Box 435
Virginia City NV 89440
Office775-847-0958
Fax 775-847-0947
Storey County is an Equal Opportunity Provider. 

CONFIDENTIALITY DISCLAIMER:
This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain 
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this e-mail and any attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please immediately notify me and permanently delete the original and all copies and printouts of this e-mail 
and any attachments. 

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Monday, April 24, 2023 3:56 PM
To: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org>
Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County

Good afternoon, Mike! 
Please see the attached from LR Sell utilizing prevailing wage. 

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Sent: Thursday, April 6, 2023 2:05 PM
To: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org>

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttp-253a-252f-252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-26c-3DE-2C1-2CQpwh5xJmirR-5FA7SCiRayV3Nf8FWVuPcgh5y2DLfwxwSH0Og-2DTd8Gk9zvTonmohoVUbl-5FQ22xu-5FczIpM4iuRWkSOCkfQ22YqE-5FCodLAI-5Ft-5FULYwRTxDQ-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=gJXWAkRH4WDrphLDFQesFQeqLEDfN3L8sK8JoU5d0SM&e=&c=E,1,V9kVywaV3D72VZM5YGpYJatNadVGFlAH3QXc5-rtgaEFKhSZt53YRXDhPLDSOCZtrHqrfJck6c-eceAPhTUwrqLIFL7jn_oKfvNz24-h-G_H-Q,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252fnevadabuilders.org-252fworkforce-2Ddevelopment-252f-26c-3DE-2C1-2CaYI0ivumyrmaRr-2DgFhuWHjFgSTYZGVx-2DeSx2F3WDZe6cgaJpNTH7Gsq-2DSk7atglk7hkVtvQ2XxwkQb2hVeqDzH1MsgFu3NI5SgUk6r1vS399sQ-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=BYQpnBKOA2iGu3UKjBkDdGnnJZSddVjhxezKd9v_o9w&e=&c=E,1,zdsOiEI_SiqD7tbqzXem2TvzOUNf0V94V7rc1Sq1dGPvIOHLJOI9qkfUbMZK67YK5NNnvae3_naENLJsibo6WpbGUa4lmDQ_a6rc3-VjFTkHdOjAQbv6Vg,,&typo=1
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:mnorthan@storeycounty.org


Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County

We're on it. Should have everything together by end-of-day Monday. 

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Thursday, April 6, 2023 1:56 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

420 Canyon Way, Lockwood NV 89434

Mike Northan
Operations and Projects Coordinator
Storey County
775 335 6991
Mailing Address
PO Box 435
Virginia City NV 89440
Office775-847-0958
Fax 775-847-0947

mailto:jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttp-253a-252f-252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-26c-3DE-2C1-2CSt-2D8vlywuBqcIqlGcCD6vpolIburHGE-2DHCnLVMKwz4bu5BsfthjXK3SZg2uh7Qaxyt-2DTnUfNv3r3IIrk3EHoMIiopWEttYfjE80syrbZs-5FYZlEaKdPkxEQ-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=GvXZwgXRQyQk8OZ1O-LHJ1JYsUwifkTP0unrh26CvdM&e=&c=E,1,CC9daTDFh0NkhQFVmE9o76_rZ-D7a5KCYLDUjfa9YcUUCWpI1cfJzwIMgr4H-bU_EEnNLWBXDNGuIl5f5bB0mfSYfcRFOXi3uhCxqpgjxY8,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252fnevadabuilders.org-252fworkforce-2Ddevelopment-252f-26c-3DE-2C1-2CxNzLt-5F-5FKtRRwIDoaeRSLEr4MN5nIzRUFK3HKFGgPRgfh6MtnqfjN-2Dn5QF1tYBSJwrJ6OXhN1lXFSLJ-5FdE21-5FMfVaEpt7xS6gXuYVIaihHU-5FKzg-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=wR6ud7WxocfEK1VBP7vK9WTBl1xt-sW-1gbheyB01q8&e=&c=E,1,tq8jI8u-o0IUW4cnuw8MJ63hZwFQKcZrkaOCfiqM0suQvGbTRHIKryqK_Q34YASGvPjCZXn9jsRbp8eKnetqhmvPXTP_8zHSgG6mp_-FOy_kQr2A4G8,&typo=1
mailto:mnorthan@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org


Storey County is an Equal Opportunity Provider. 

CONFIDENTIALITY DISCLAIMER:
This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain 
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this e-mail and any attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please immediately notify me and permanently delete the original and all copies and printouts of this e-mail 
and any attachments. 

From: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com> 
Sent: Thursday, April 6, 2023 1:41 PM
To: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org>
Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: Re: Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County

No problem. Sending it out to the concrete & set crews. 
Just need the address of the current structure. 

Take good care, 
Natalie Molleson
Clayton Homes 10020 Hwy 50 East Carson City, NV 89706
Office 775-246-4500 Cell 775-364-4552 Fax 775-246-4971
Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com

www.ClaytonNevada.com
Nevada Builders Foundation

https://nevadabuilders.org
Please note: I am out of the office on Fridays and Sundays.

From: Michael Northan <mnorthan@storeycounty.org>
Sent: Thursday, April 6, 2023 1:36 PM
To: Molleson, Natalie <Natalie.Molleson@ClaytonHomes.com>
Cc: Jason Wierzbicki <jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org>; Eric Kern <ekern@storeycounty.org>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Lockwood Sheriff's Office Substation - Storey County

External email: careful w/ links or attachments

mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:mnorthan@storeycounty.org
mailto:jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttp-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fwww.ClaytonNevada.com-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CivDmbjSZFMnnkxmuxPYFbLwkA13DERMSL1o65-2D2DkRRalm0X3DzadbpMqsvvbMv6W4AJyl306g9m5NsEMPJs6XbJ7pFPLmo-2D2DJ4yLQwgdW9KFw8OHMhYc7AXRk-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253dhFQ-2DolQZzwdTlZW9598YeQVmy333PpO1My9d690WqGkRCim-5FQqRT1VYffeCw4Vgw-2526s-253d8kaCmGB3RxvCN3-5FzUpDMKcrwVZAC33uLH2078YzWfjg-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CEjXZsV5ZBw7Do5F-2D-5FXFNV8zPbHZaDDJ88g1Z0Cba0I3QFv7xAmewfvZNowoLq-2DvpNrxPA7IdqiraLvG29BFFyWCG-2DBmq-5FmWPONeN7FySFDD9Fg-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=HZbNtK8Oc0ZtSfTOzD5aPPTShxxQ1B0Sqmce7xx0QlY&e=&c=E,1,QwUrju0yH-Ims4jSGZifHrquOPwbqoazc0mzJ5513xhl2d5haBoh5Pu3cl6lf2GNT-UPCFhX676sfmPPLidUVxLlBdooNRYuqeZPY584KC9bsqchWefmAQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fnevadabuilders.org-2D252fworkforce-2D2Ddevelopment-2D252f-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CPMRp-2D2DjxAgJcAcjaIoAxfKPN9Zk-2D2DOqyIYD9ZjIi8PxJNnman-2D2DbMXX6Y02GfQitztE-2D5FeFC8MUPo-2D5FdxRZDMCxRPtEKKGggo7-2D2Dcyge8rIgLBKFBu6Q-2D2C-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253dhFQ-2DolQZzwdTlZW9598YeQVmy333PpO1My9d690WqGkRCim-5FQqRT1VYffeCw4Vgw-2526s-253dkpEJraA27XaqaH-2D27x1H3w-2DOYW2fUAqws-5FRWx3JOio8-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2C2JT94vtsJBICEXDaDYV8CKKUrsbEPNSLpgP7B-5FS4HN7f5oKU-5FwVxeoUgaC7TiT-2Dyz0ofOq2Z9YL0Tyb4rXGSeWjtyRk-5FyXXKOdiG-2DgmfaG1E33iFrCx9-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=Gy5M-68DJLgxzwOQ32l7wTTNgF7QKK73RpOaYKM9qS4&e=&c=E,1,Y2awTL-hu8bCwAysc5AYK0JG0owN1uBh9pg_ADAsvnxaR3zZBlzbXHQjxFyzkVOc4_7zr89-vC8YQOh0qoPSGBME3VmCgzjMYwD_gZCUBc1dFiYMp0mhsTfl&typo=1
mailto:mnorthan@storeycounty.org
mailto:Natalie.Molleson@claytonhomes.com
mailto:jwierzbicki@storeycounty.org
mailto:ekern@storeycounty.org


Hi Natalie,

We are preparing to move forward on this project.  Attached is the final version of the floor plan as 
submitted by the Sheriff’s Office.
We also are interested in a full scope of services for this install.  Can you provide a quote for the unit, 
the removal (and/or disposal) of the old unit, the foundation, the transport, the placement, and the 
construction of the entry deck?
Our Public Works crew will handle the utilities move.

As soon as I have this whole quote, I can send this up for authorization and we can get going on this.

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.

Thanks!

Mike Northan
Operations and Projects Coordinator
Storey County
775 335 6991
Mailing Address
PO Box 435
Virginia City NV 89440
Office775-847-0958
Fax 775-847-0947
Storey County is an Equal Opportunity Provider. 

CONFIDENTIALITY DISCLAIMER:
This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain 
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this e-mail and any attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please immediately notify me and permanently delete the original and all copies and printouts of this e-mail 
and any attachments. 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252furldefense.proofpoint.com-252fv2-252furl-253fu-253dhttps-2D3A-5F-5Flinkprotect.cudasvc.com-5Furl-2D3Fa-2D3Dhttps-2D253a-2D252f-2D252fwww.claytonhomes.com-2D252fprivacy-2D252f-2D26c-2D3DE-2D2C1-2D2CtYZKApQZ8DDIE344DXID2D5Sv39AbCQPO1yo-2D5FbymBQ7exzUmR5dv-2D2DWYiOY7rSDRo5UVuZ5IWLKl7mquuwpk0PrIu0qfTzLGThZBoKIG1vPhvLoNnllgRbbdoMQQ-2D2C-2D26typo-2D3D1-2D26ancr-2D5Fadd-2D3D1-2526d-253dDwMGaQ-2526c-253dpIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4-2526r-253dLohZqtRLfChOZy-5FIBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN-2526m-253dhFQ-2DolQZzwdTlZW9598YeQVmy333PpO1My9d690WqGkRCim-5FQqRT1VYffeCw4Vgw-2526s-253dIHWLHZuzTsdKZJNdvS3yEsK8IvHJreaAV2D9D26HyDg-2526e-253d-26c-3DE-2C1-2CB2BzUgoZC6izhkKPXt5IoAmU-2DX-5FQwKxUZ5X-2DkKh1st1zZvzQh9xkdOxWZgKZQLJwo8GY00I6VBkU4AJpZhTGjGjAIkv5LCWZtzSasFxb3E4ibQ-2C-2C-26typo-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=8up920N33c7U_IJOIicvtw286cJw-EMx19IywHhRkoU&e=&c=E,1,ZcTnxUr2fVzhjJRwWo_z-1DRlAoXPk5kGLuZ19iiVHIzZJgpo7q3XguofaUy3NoETz-roea0qBSx3ce4LENed5AROA5HrmltVyQmFdHg&typo=1


CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE
This message and the accompanying documents contain information that belongs 
to the sender and may contain information that is privileged, confidential, 
or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this e-mail 
is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you are strictly 
prohibited from reading, disseminating, distributing, copying, or taking 
action in reliance on the content of this communication. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the 
original transmission. Thank you. 
To view our privacy policies, please visit 
https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/ 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__linkprotect.cudasvc.com_url-3Fa-3Dhttps-253a-252f-252fwww.claytonhomes.com-252fprivacy-252f-26c-3DE-2C1-2C-2DakwEOU-5F6dT8V4egEDG784Ej73CM4GSg9Scn3pUvg3lX1WrIUo2jwxAKHJigLmfN7-2DuxtcjQWttqa4ZoHf16D4ZeYkhOxpuuVfHgwgZ-2DOxDF7dhFjI-5FaZadPLw-2C-2C-26typo-3D1-26ancr-5Fadd-3D1&d=DwMGaQ&c=pIHgVSmICpSitfCQ5zGClinWNZPd5xA6JQUb5Px1Lr4&r=LohZqtRLfChOZy_IBoh4zMm8mo4Nj8cc8PBVFcOKNSU1xc0gnjh97VZukpwqpNKN&m=GVpf0qqXFKG0FnKSrDuYr9qzBh-dmseTKXtZNXUObOjz3ZZBlBTHke75TojO0LvK&s=Ae27Qv6qOy-lO2wJc_mewNDQJtWBg5PwVOw1PMYUklk&e=&c=E,1,OsMjae-c6a-GYAqjKi1YzWMyTFTfIxP7IZf0a4mksmefew917CmZoS4R5_SZbIXtQLkKaFSnyG87FXm99mgco92uwkK35YbFUg-nacDkYQT9l6_rLW_xT9E,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https://www.claytonhomes.com/privacy/&c=E,1,DsoryIbqqGItak_1bcCU_7w636F2afmZ0FW2NYLsT4cor-SZiGc-u3r80sIm4Rr3Tari1Xy7a-C9xNAVq81_WQ7gsDE7NA1ABiI_uCH83QzMhZEv&typo=1&ancr_add=1


Estimate
Date

4/20/2023

Estimate #

2023-019

Bill To

Clayton Homes
Natalie Molleson
10020 HWY 50 E
Carson City NV 89429

Site Name / Address

Storey County Sub Station
420 Canyon Way
Sparks NV 89434
Prevailing Wage

L.R. Sell
8000 Snafu Dr
Stagecoach NV 89429

Randy Sell 775.901.6672

Total

Completion of work will depend entirely on Utilities being available when home is set. If Utilities are present, Home should have State Certificate
of Install in 8 weeks. X__________  

Any additional work must be mutually agreed on in writing and signed by both parties. X__________
Signing this agreement is consent to pay for indicated work and acknowledgement that time frames and expectations have been clearly explained.

Home Owner. X_______________________    Home Consultant. X____________________

Item Description Qty Total

Demo Ready Commercial Building for transport to dump 1 8,000.00
Transport QA Transport moving 2 floors to Dump 2 3,400.00
Demo Demo existing steps at back door 1 750.00
Concrete Runners Concrete Runners under home and retaining wall at backside of

Office.
1 19,000.00

Concrete Steps Concrete Steps at back door 2,250.00
Wood Deck 10 x 10 Wood Deck 9,000.00
Single Wide Soft Set
Single Wide Soft Set Set Single Wide to County/City, HUD Codes 68 8,800.00
MHD State Permit State of Nevada Division of Manufactured Housing Install Permit and

submission.
1 650.00

Cross Drives Cross Drives on all 4 single wide corners 1 700.00
Xi2 Tie Down System 2 - Xi2 Tie Down systems 1 600.00
Water Heater Straps Use HUD approved Water Heater straps to secure Water Heater. 1 200.00
Skirting Non Insulated Cement Fiber Board Skirting 166 5,482.00
House Cat - Clayton House Cat to position house to be set 1 1,000.00

Set Single Wide Manufactured Home to all County/City and HUD
Codes

17,432.00

Items not included in bid:
Permits
Engineered Plans
Hand Railing for new portion of deck

Lyon County requires Foundation Crew to obtain County Set Permit 
Backfilling must be within 14 inches of mud sill or additional charges apply

Estimate Valid for 90 days

$59,832.00



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval acceptance of Assignment and Assumption of
Lease by Comstock Cemetery Foundation, Inc. (CCF, Assignor) and Storey County
(Assignee) with approval by Consolidated Virginia Mining Company (Landowner)
predicated upon completion of the Memorandum of Understanding between the CCF and
Storey County dated November 2, 2022, for the development and maintenance of the
Silver Terrace Cemeteries and Eastward Expansion Area.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve acceptance of Assignment
and Assumption of Lease by Comstock Cemetery Foundation, Inc. (CCF, Assignor) and
Storey County (Assignee) with approval by Consolidated Virginia Mining Company
(Landowner) predicated upon completion of the Memorandum of Understanding between
the CCF and Storey County dated November 2, 2022, for the development and
maintenance of the Silver Terrace Cemeteries and Eastward Expansion Area.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Summary of Proposal
• The board approved in November 2022 a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

between Storey County and the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) for future
development and maintenance of the Silver Terrace Cemeteries in Storey County. The
MOU was established for a period of 99 years, predicated on a lease agreement being
assigned to Storey County by the CCF with approval of the landowner, Consolidated
Virginia Mining Company (CVMC) in the first year of the MOU.

• Background
• Storey County and other entities are responsible for performing modern burials and

maintenance at the Silver Terrace Cemeteries in Virginia City and the Gold Hill
Cemetery in Gold Hill (the cemeteries). The Silver Terrace Cemeteries is subdivided into
several independent sub-units including, but not limited to, the Freemasons, Odd Fellows,
Virginia City Firemen, Catholic, and Storey County cemeteries. They are each
maintained by their respective fraternal, religious, and civic organizations with assistance
and coordination by the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF), a non-profit 501(c)(3)
managed by the CCF Board of Directors.

• The CCF has extensive expertise in modern burials and historic cemetery preservation,
and a distinguished track record enhancing the cemeteries for current and future

    26



generations. For these reasons, the county desires to continue its relationship with the 
CCF to properly manage, preserve, secure, and enhance this vital historic and community 
resource.

• The MOU facilitates a structured relationship between Storey County and the CCF for
appropriate accounting and administration, records management, funding, coordinated
oversight and strategic planning, site security, and risk management as related to modern
burials, funding, administration, historic preservation, and enhancement of the cemeteries
within appropriate jurisdictional allowances. The lease agreement enables the parties to
perform the duties in the MOU on the surface of land owned by CVMC.

• The MOU, made possible by the lease agreement, will also incorporate necessary
cemetery land expansion for future modern burials through a coordinated private-public
partnership between Hugh Roy Marshall, the CCF, and Storey County.

• This MOU at this time does not apply to the Old Virginia City Jewish Cemetery or the
New Catholic Gold Hill Cemetery because they are known to be situated on federal lands
managed by Bureau of Land Management. These and other area cemeteries, however,
may be considered in future amendments to the agreement upon successful federal land
ownership transfer to the county or to the CCF.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Pending

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued









Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and Comment on Storey County RFP for Franchise Collection Services
Draft (Draft RFP). Direct staff to incorporate changes to Draft RFP, complete the Draft
Collection Service Agreement, and bring both documents back to the board at a future
meeting for consideration.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to direct staff and contractor to
incorporate changes from this meeting to Draft RFP, complete the Draft Collection
Service Agreement, and bring both documents back to the board at a future meeting for
consideration.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Continued discussion preparing a draft RFP for successor solid waste
services franchise agreement.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   27



Storey County, Nevada 

DRAFT 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS  

FOR  
FRANCHISE COLLECTION SERVICES 

DATE, 2023 



Storey County, Nevada Table of Contents 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 County Goals and Objectives ....................................................................................... 1 

1.2 RFP Overview .............................................................................................................. 1 

1.3 Organization of RFP..................................................................................................... 2 

1.4 RFP Schedule .............................................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 2 - BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................ 3 

2.1 Background Information ............................................................................................... 3 

2.2 Contract Arrangements for Collection, Processing, and Disposal ................................. 3 

2.3 Agreement Term .......................................................................................................... 3 

SECTION 3 - SCOPE OF REQUESTED SERVICES .................................................................................. 4 

3.1 Summary of Services ................................................................................................... 4 

3.2 Collection Services and Transfer Station Management ................................................ 5 

3.3 Customer Rate Arrangements .................................................................................... 11 

3.4 Public Education and Outreach .................................................................................. 12 

3.5 Requirements for Operations, Equipment and Personnel ........................................... 13 

3.6 Billing, Customer Service, Record Keeping and Reporting ......................................... 15 

3.7 Contractor Implementation Plan ................................................................................. 17 

3.8 Alternative Proposals ................................................................................................. 18 

SECTION 4 - RFP POLICIES, CONDITIONS, AND PROCESS.................................................................. 19 

4.1 Rights Reserved by the County .................................................................................. 19 

4.2 General RFP Requirements ....................................................................................... 19 

4.3 Code of Conduct ........................................................................................................ 20 

4.4 Proposal Submittal Process ....................................................................................... 20 

4.5 Limits on Disclosure of Proposals .............................................................................. 22 

SECTION 5 - SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................... 24 

5.1 Proposal Outline ........................................................................................................ 24 

5.2 Cover Letter ............................................................................................................... 25 

5.3 Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 25 

5.4 Company Description ................................................................................................. 25 

5.5 General Collection Related Submittal Requirements .................................................. 29 

5.6 Exceptions to RFP and Agreement ............................................................................ 31 



Storey County, Nevada Table of Contents 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page iii

5.7 Cost Proposal ............................................................................................................ 31 

5.8 Other Proposal Forms ................................................................................................ 32 

5.9 Additional Information ................................................................................................ 33 

SECTION 6 - PROPOSAL EVALUATION PROCESS .............................................................................. 34 

6.1 Proposal Evaluation Process ..................................................................................... 34 

6.2 Evaluation Criteria ...................................................................................................... 34 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1-2 RFP Schedule ......................................................................................................................... 2 
Table 5-1 Proposal Outline.................................................................................................................. 24 
Table 6-1 Evaluation Criteria and Maximum Evaluation Score........................................................... 34 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. ........ Draft Agreement for Services
2. ........ Proposer Code of Conduct
3. ........ Supplemental List of County Facilities
4. ........ Demographic Summary
5. ........ Service Data
6. ........ Current Rates
7. ........ Cost Proposal Forms



Storey County, Nevada Section 1. Introduction 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION 

By issuing this Request for Proposals (RFP) for collection services and transfer station management, 
Storey County (“County” or “Franchisor”) is competitively procuring franchised services. The County is 
seeking proposals for the collection of solid waste and recyclable materials from residential, multi-family 
and commercial accounts and for County facilities, operations and events.   

The County is soliciting proposals from qualified service providers who can deliver efficient service and 
excellent value to the County. Service providers are referred to as “Proposer”, “Contractor”, or 
“Franchisee” throughout this document. Participants in this RFP process should make note of and 
comply with the Proposer Code of Conduct (Attachment 2). 

A key point of reference is the Draft Collection Services Franchise Agreement (Agreement). The 
Agreement is included as Attachment 1. The Agreement provides definitions, contract terms, and 
conditions, including a complete description of the services requested. If there are differences 
between this RFP and the Agreement, the terms and conditions in the final, executed Agreement shall 
prevail. 

1.1 County Goals and Objectives 

The County’s goals and objectives for the RFP process and future services are as follows: 

1.1.1 Integrity, Competition in Selection Process, and Industry-Standard Contract Terms 

• Conduct the RFP process with integrity and transparency.

• Set high performance standards.

• Ensure value for ratepayers.

• Enter into contract with fair terms and conditions.

1.1.2 Quality, High-Value Programs 

• Consistent, reliable and quality service.

• Efficient service delivery that provides a strong value to the ratepayers.

• Responsive customer service system.

• Well-planned and professionally-executed transition to new programs and services.

• Quality outreach and education.

1.2 RFP Overview 

The County initiated this RFP process to plan future programs and services and select a future 
Contractor(s). The process will result in a new contract for services. The RFP process involves planning, 
soliciting and evaluating proposals; selecting and negotiating with the selected Contractor; and, an 
implementation period leading to commencement of services on DATE.  

The County is soliciting proposals for the collection, transfer, processing and marketing of all solid waste 
and recyclable materials, and the transfer station management. The County is interested in receiving 
proposals from companies that have demonstrated experience in providing collection services, and 
drop-off/transfer station management services, comparable to those described in this RFP and the 
Agreement and that place a high priority on customer service and safety.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 1. Introduction 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 2

1.3 Organization of RFP 

This RFP is organized into six sections as follows: 

Section 1 provides a brief introduction to the RFP. 

Section 2 provides background information including a description of the County service area. 

Section 3 presents the scope of requested collection services and transfer station 
management. 

Section 4 provides the RFP policies, conditions and process. 

Section 5 describes the RFP submittal requirements.  

Section 6 outlines the proposal evaluation process and criteria by which the proposals will be 
evaluated. 

1.4 RFP Schedule 

The key activities and completion dates for the RFP process are provided in Table 1-2. The RFP process is 
described in detail in Section 4. All questions regarding the RFP must be submitted in accordance with 
the Submission of Written Questions specified in Section 4.4. 

Table 1-2 RFP Schedule 

Milestones Date 

Storey County releases RFP 

R.S.V.P deadline for pre-proposal meeting by TIME 

Mandatory pre-proposal meeting at TIME 

Deadline for Proposers to submit written questions by TIME 

Response to written questions and RFP addenda 

Proposals due by TIME. 

Requests for clarifications sent to Proposers 

Clarifications due from Proposers 

Evaluation results reported to Supervisors/Direction 
to negotiate 

Negotiations finalized 

Final Agreement presented to Supervisors 

Contractor to commence providing services 

* The County reserves the right to modify this schedule as needed.



Storey County, Nevada Section 2. Background 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 3 

SECTION 2 - BACKGROUND 

The RFP and its attachments contain data about the demographics of the County and historical 
information related to collection operations including the number of customers, tonnage collected, etc.  

2.1 Background Information 

The information presented in this section and related Attachments are for informational purposes 
only. Each Proposer should take whatever steps it believes are necessary to determine the actual 
service requirements of the County and understand service conditions when preparing a proposal.  

Attachment 3 provides supplemental information on the County service area. Attachments 4 and 5 
provide demographic information and available service data (including number of customers, tonnage 
collected, etc.), respectively. Attachment 6 provides current rates for collection services. 

2.2 Contract Arrangements for Collection, Processing, and Disposal 

Below is a description of the future contracting arrangements. 

• Collection. Contractor will be responsible for collection of solid waste and recyclable
materials and all non-excluded materials as described in the Agreement.

• Transport. Contractor will be responsible for transport of all collected materials.

• Operation of County-owned drop-off center and transfer station.

• Recyclable Materials Services. Recyclable materials processing services will be conducted
and/or contracted by the selected Contractor.

2.3 Agreement Term 

The term of the new Agreement will commence on DATE and will continue for either a term of five (5) or 
ten (10) years, unless the Agreement is extended in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Agreement or 
terminated early pursuant to Article 12.2 of the Agreement. 

The term of this Agreement may be extended, at request of the Contractor, and at the sole discretion of 
the County, by written agreement of the Parties once for a term of five (5) years, provided that 
Contractor is in compliance with all terms and conditions of the Agreement, according to the process 
described in Article 3.2 in the Agreement.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 4 

SECTION 3 - SCOPE OF REQUESTED SERVICES 

This section provides a brief description of the services solicited through this RFP. Article 5 of the 
Agreement provides the detailed scope of services. 

3.1 Summary of Services 

The services are separated by service sector including single-family residential, multi-family residential, 
commercial, County facilities, and Transfer Station management.  

The Agreement provides the contract terms and conditions including a complete description of the 
services requested, including a Scope of Services. It also describes public education and outreach 
requirements for the initial start-up operations and ongoing operations; operations, equipment and 
personnel; billing, customer service, and reporting; franchise fees and other fees; Contractor’s 
compensation and rate setting; insurance and performance bond; and performance standards and 
liquidated damages.  

3.1.1 Exclusivity of Collection Services 

Contractor will have exclusive rights to collect: 

• Residential, multi-family and commercial solid waste and recyclable material from
within the service area.

Limitations to the Contractor’s exclusive rights are described in Article 4.2 of the Agreement. 

3.1.2 Responsibilities of Contractor 

Contractor will be responsible for the following, pursuant to the requirements of the 
Agreement:  

1. Collecting solid waste and recyclable materials generated by and placed for
collection by customers of Contractor’s services pursuant to requirements of
Article 5.

2. Transporting collected materials to the appropriate approved facilities pursuant to
the requirements of Article 6.

3. Performing all other services required by this Agreement including, but not limited
to, customer billing, public education, customer service, record keeping, and
reporting pursuant to Article 8.

4. Furnishing all labor, supervision, vehicles, containers, other equipment, materials,
supplies, and all other items and services necessary to perform its obligations
under this Agreement.

5. Paying all expenses related to provision of services required by this Agreement
including, but not limited to, taxes, licenses, regulatory fees (including fees and
surcharges as applicable), and utilities; paying all expenses related to the
operation, permitting, licensing, regulatory fees for all approved Facilities



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 5 

owned/operated by Contractor or Contractor’s Affiliate; paying for all expenses 
related to changes in law at approved facilities owned/operated by Contractor or 
Contractor’s affiliate; and, paying all expenses related to any construction, any land 
or facility improvements, any repair and/or replacement of equipment and all 
other expected or unforeseen costs associated with all approved facilities 
owned/operated by Contractor or Contractor’s affiliate.   

6. Performing or providing all services necessary to fulfill its obligations in full
accordance with this Agreement at all times using best industry practice for
comparable operations.

7. Complying with all applicable laws.

3.2 Collection Services and Transfer Station Management 

3.2.1 SFD Collection Services Arrangements 

SFD is any dwelling unit or combination of up to 2 (two) dwelling units in the service area where 
each dwelling unit is designed or used for occupancy by one (1) family and carts are utilized for 
the accumulation and set out of solid waste.  SFD collection service is not mandatory, however 
the service is exclusive to the Contractor. Residents will have the option to self-haul or to 
participate in franchise services. The default service levels are described below. 

1. Weekly Solid Waste Collection

Contractor will provide each SFD with a new, wheeled cart for automated collection of 
solid waste. The default service level will be a 96-gallon cart collected weekly. The 
Contractor must provide a 64- or a 32-gallon cart as a substitute depending on the 
customer’s preference and need. No discount will be given for using smaller carts. 
Customers may add additional carts as may be needed at an additional charge. 
Customers will be required to place the cart(s) curbside for collection. residents may set 
out an additional one (1) cubic yard of containerized Waste material without extra 
charge, which is equivalent to six (6) thirty-two (32) gallon cans, bags, boxes or bundles. 
Each item shall not exceed fifty (50) pounds in weight or thirty-six (36) inches in length.  

During inclement weather conditions, pickup scheduling will be adjusted and/or 
expanded to accommodate service needs created by the inclement weather. Proposer 
will include a plan to address the needs of communities including Virginia City, Gold Hill, 
Virginia City Highlands, Highlands Ranches and Virginia Ranches where inclement 
weather frequently impacts scheduled collection services. 

2. Yard Service or Drive-In Services

Contractor will offer to service containers on private driveways as a service available at 
an additional charge. When a customer has requested yard service or drive-in service, 
the Contractor shall execute a Franchisee liability waiver form regarding any damage 
caused by Franchisee trucks. Franchisee will ultimately determine if the access is 
sufficient to safely service the property. If not, the customer will have to bring the 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 6 

container to a location per this Agreement that can be safely serviced by Franchisee. 
collection.  

3. Source Separated Recyclables Collection

Contractor may propose SFD source-separated recyclables services as an Alternative 
Proposal for the County’s consideration. This Alternative Proposal could include source-
separated recyclables services as an included component of solid waste collection, or as 
a separate offer of service for an additional rate, or in any combination of integrated 
and optional service(s).  

4. Community Cleanup Residential Incentive

Each household in the county may access the transfer station in Virginia City and/or the 
Proposer’s facilities, or combination thereof, three (3) times per year to dump at no-cost 
for each arrival up to three cubic yards of accepted solid waste in this Agreement at any 
time that the facilities are open for business. In addition to this, each Storey County 
household will be awarded three (3) vouchers per calendar year for this purpose. By 
January 1st of each year, Franchisor will be provided with 3,500 dump vouchers by 
Franchisee. As needed and upon written request by the Franchisor, Franchisee will 
provide Franchisor additional vouchers necessary to meet this section, but there shall 
not be more vouchers given than three for the number of households in the county. 
Franchisor will establish a process for distribution. New vouchers will be provided for 
each year of this Agreement, and those vouchers shall only be good for the respective 
year. Franchisee will have the right to reject customer usage at either facility in 
instances of a clear forgery or use by commercial customers. In addition to the locations 
stated herein, households may use their vouchers at the Dayton Transfer Station. 

A. In addition to the provisions above for Community Cleanup Residential
Incentive, Storey County residents may drop off acceptable Recyclable
Materials at the Virginia City Transfer Station and/or the Proposer’s facility.
Those recyclables will change from time to time, which will change the types
of products that are accepted for recycling and the ability to find a vendor
that will recycle all items, i.e. batteries, motor oil, etc.

5. Annual Holiday Tree Recycling Collection

Franchisee will provide Holiday Tree collection as part of the base service, provided 
trees are cut in sections no larger than 3 feet. This service will be provided beginning the 
day after Christmas until January 15th. 

6. Low Income Senior Rate

Low-income senior citizens upon request shall pay a rate set at 75% of the established 
solid waste rate as set forth in Exhibit A for the customer owned 32-gallon service that 
does not include the additional cubic yard of service. The qualification requirements for 
the low-income senior citizen rates include all the following: (i) head of household; (ii) 
minimum of 65 years of age; and, (iii) an adjusted gross income for the household at or 
below one hundred-fifty (150) percent of the current Federal Poverty Guidelines for the 
48 Contiguous States and the District of Columbia for the applicable size of family unit. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 7 

a. To demonstrate conformity with the qualification requirements, the
Franchisee shall require applicants to complete an application form
provided by the Franchisee and provide copies of photo identification
showing proof of age and the first and second pages of Form 1040, U.S.
Individual Income Tax Return for the previous calendar year, or other
suitable documentation to verify household income.

b. Eligibility shall be granted for a specified period not to exceed two (2) years
after which the Franchisee shall require applicant to re-certify as to their
continued eligibility. The Franchisee shall require approved applicants to
provide notification if and when their eligibility qualification status changes.

7. Vacation Hold

Franchisee will offer SFD customers the option to request a vacation hold one (1) time 
per year. Proposer may include proposed terms for the Vacation Hold process, however 
the policy shall at a minimum offer one (1) vacation hold per year with no fee for the 
cessation and/or resumption of services. Vacation holds exceeding one (1) per year may 
be made available at an additional charge.   

8. Animal-Resistant Carts

Proposer will provide pricing for optional animal-resistant carts as a service available at 
an additional charge for the County’s consideration and potential inclusion in the final 
Franchise Agreement. 

3.2.2 MFD Collection Services Arrangements 

MFD are any residence in the Service Area with three (3) or more dwelling units, where each 
dwelling unit is designed or used for occupancy by one (1) family, including any flat, apartment, 
condominium, town home or other premises, other than a hotel or motel, including such 
premises when combined in the same building with business establishments, utilizing a common 
bin(s) for the accumulation and set-out of solid waste. When discussing solid waste or recycling 
collection service changes with customers, Contractor must provide a rate schedule to 
customers denoting all service levels and all possible frequencies of collection. 

MFD Customers will be considered Commercial Customers for any services beyond those 
described in Section 3.2.2 

1. Solid Waste Collection

The Contractor will provide bins and/or debris boxes for collection of solid waste.  
Customers will have the opportunity to subscribe to the appropriate service level. 
Collection frequency will be at least once per week and up to six (6) times per week.  
Customers and Contractor will determine a mutually acceptable collection location.  
Solid waste collection service is mandatory for all service locations.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 8 

2. Annual Holiday Tree Recycling Collection

Franchisee will provide Holiday Tree collection as part of the base service, provided 
trees are cut in sections no larger than 3 feet. This service will be provided beginning the 
day after Christmas until January 15th. 

3.2.3 Commercial Collection Services 

Commercial customers include all retail, professional, office, wholesale and industrial facilities, 
other commercial enterprises offering goods or services to the public; organizations; and 
agencies other than County agencies. Contractor will be required to service carts, bins and roll-
off boxes stored in customer’s solid waste enclosure or other locations as requested by 
customer.  When discussing solid waste or recycling material collection service changes with 
customers, Contractor must provide a rate schedule denoting all service levels and all possible 
frequencies of collection.  Solid waste collection is mandatory and exclusive to the Contractor 
for all service locations.  

1. Solid Waste Collection

Contractor will provide carts, bins, and/or roll-off boxes for collection of solid waste.  
Customers will have the opportunity to subscribe to the appropriate service level. 
Collection frequency will be at least once per week and up to six (6) times per week. 
Customers and Contractor will determine a mutually acceptable collection location 
collection container location. Solid waste collection service is mandatory for all service 
locations.  

2. Recyclable Materials Collection Offer of Service

Contractor will provide carts, bins and roll-off boxes for collection of recyclable 
materials. Recycling collection will be made available at a minimum for: newsprint 
(including inserts); mixed paper (including magazines, catalogs, envelopes, junk mail, 
corrugated cardboard, brown bags and paper, paperboard, paper egg cartons, office 
ledger paper, and telephone books); aluminum beverage containers; pie tins; tin cans; 
bimetal containers; and #1 & #2 plastics. In order to prevent the contamination of 
recyclables, the Contractor will provide “restricted access” lids for recycling collection 
containers, as needed. 

3. On-Call Bulky Item Collection

Contractor will provide on-call collection of bulky items from commercial customers 
using a method suitable for the commercial premises and agreed upon by the customer 
or property manager. Contractor will be required to separate and recycle all 
commodities that can be feasibly recovered. Commercial generators shall pay a 
separate fee in accordance with the rate approved by the County.  

4. Optional Services for Commercial Customers

A. On-Call Electronic Waste (E-Waste) Recycling Collection
Contractor will provide on-call e-waste collection.  Contractor is required to
describe its methodology to provide on-call collection of e-waste (e.g., material
types, customer set-out requirements, control mechanisms for spills and



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 9 

contamination, and any limitations on allowable amounts) along with a fee per 
pick-up that would cover all program costs.  

B. On-Call Universal Waste Recycling Collection
Contractor will provide on-call universal waste recycling collection service.
Universal waste collection includes fluorescent lamps, cathode ray tubes,
instruments that contain mercury, and batteries. Contractor is required to describe
its methodology to provide on-call collection and recycling of universal waste (e.g.,
material types, customer set-out requirements, chain of custody documentation,
and any limitations on allowable amounts) along with a fee per pick-up that would
cover all program costs.

3.2.4 County Services 

County services will be provided at “no charge.” Collections will be scheduled at a time mutually 
agreed upon by the Contractor and the County. The cost of these services will be included in the 
overall rate structure to provide services to the other three sectors including SFD, MFD and 
Commercial. See Attachment 3 for a list of current County locations and service levels. Service 
locations and weekly collection service levels may change over the term of the Contract. 

Franchisee will provide collection and disposal of all Solid Waste, without cost or charge, at all 
buildings, parks, "B" and "C" Street boardwalks and other facilities owned by Storey County 
which are open to the public and operating under normal conditions. Included in this service is 
the biohazard waste generated from the EMS operations of Storey County to the extent this 
material is permitted for disposal at the Transfer Station or Disposal Site. This service provided 
to Storey County shall not apply to the disposal of any form of Solid Waste from non-recurring 
service (e.g. construction project) waste that requires special handling or equipment Solid 
Waste resulting from natural disasters, businesses operating for profit on County properties 
under special licensing or franchise agreements, any special community event operated or 
sponsored by the County (except for "B" and "C" Street containers which shall still be collected), 
or any other types of extra-ordinary burdens for the removal of Solid Waste from property 
owned by the County. Included in this service will be to maintain the current service level at the 
four existing schools in Storey County (Hillside Elementary School, Hugh Gallagher Elementary 
School, Virginia City Middle School and Virginia City High School) without charge. 

1. Weekly Solid Waste Collection

Contractor will provide wheeled carts and bins for collection of solid waste. The County will 
have the opportunity to subscribe to the appropriate service level. Collection frequency will 
be at least once (1) per week and up to six (6) times per week.  

2. Weekly Recyclable Materials Collection

Contractor will, upon request of County Staff, provide recycling collection service at County 
facilities. Contractor will provide carts, bins and roll-off boxes for collection of recyclable 
materials.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 10 

3. On-Call Bulky Item Service

During the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide bulky item collection service to 
County service units in the County.  

4. Special Event Collection Services

Contractor shall provide event boxes with lids featuring designated opening(s) for bottles 
and cans, wheeled carts, bins, and/or roll-off boxes to collect solid waste and recyclable 
materials at “no charge” for County-sponsored events that are open to the public and that 
do not require paid admission or the purchase of a ticket, including but not limited to two 
(2) Saturday events per year at three (3) locations per event for eight (8) hours per location
per event. Signage indicating “Recycling” will be clearly visible on the designated container.
Contractor will assist the venue and event organizers with developing recycling plans and
reporting data. When requested by event organizers, solid waste and recycling collection
service will be provided for each venue or event. A minimum of two (2) 40-CY boxes for solid
waste and (1) 40 CY box for recyclables will be provided at each location at the start of each
event and will be serviced throughout the day. Additionally, event organizers may request
numerous carts to distribute throughout the event for use by patrons. Carts to be made
available include standard cardboard event boxes with lids (18x18x34 or comparable), 64
and 96-gallon carts. Bins will be made available in sizes including 2, 3, 4, and 6 cubic yards.
Roll-off box service will be made available in container sizes including 10, 20, 30 and 40
cubic yards. Collection frequency will be provided as required by the event organizer.

5. Illegal Dump Site Service

On an annual basis, Franchisee will provide at up to six clean up services for Franchisor 
where illegally dumped waste in the County has been located. Each service will be limited to 
30 yards. Items weighing more than 200 pounds are excluded, as are materials which may 
not be accepted for disposal at the Franchisee disposal facilities. Franchisor will make 
arrangements for clean up by providing Franchisee with at least seven days advance notice 
of the need for a cleanup. The area to be cleaned up must be accessible by Franchisee's 
equipment. If a location is discovered that covers a large area, the Franchisor will collect the 
material and deliver it to a dedicated location for clean up by Franchisee. 

6. Disaster Relief.

In the event of a natural disaster or other County emergency, Franchisee shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to provide assistance to Franchisor in the form of 
equipment, labor, and disposal services, at rates as identified in Exhibit A. Emergency 
contingencies may occur where in order to protect the health and safety of the public the 
County deems it necessary to permit and/or contract with other entities, companies or 
services to collect, transport or dispose of solid waste resulting from an emergency and/or 
disaster. 

3.2.5 Virginia City Transfer Station Operation 

Proposers shall offer a detailed transfer station management plan. Franchisee will assign 
adequate personnel to operate the Virginia City Transfer Station. These personnel will be 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 11 

responsible for the operation of the Virginia City Transfer Station and the Virginia City Highlands 
Recycling bin.  

3.2.6 Material Processing, Diversion and Disposal Plan 

Contractors must include a material Processing Plan that demonstrates the Proposer’s ability to 
arrange for the Disposal and/or processing of materials originating in the County for the term of 
the Agreement and any extensions thereof.  The plan should identify any arrangements with 
facilities that will benefit the County in maintaining long-term rate stability. Prior to selection, 
the Contractor will be required to produce proof of all arrangements described in its offer. 
Contractors should indicate the per-ton processing costs and tonnage guarantees they will offer 
the County. 

3.2.7 Other Collection Service Considerations 

This Section presents service considerations required by Contractor that were not specified in 
Sections 3.2.1 through 3.2.6.   

1. Provide public education to residents and businesses.  A detailed description of
Contractor’s public education responsibilities is provided in Article 5.11 of the
Agreement.

2. Provide customer service and billing service as necessary to fulfill its obligations.

3. Furnish all labor, supervision, collection vehicles, collection containers, other
equipment, materials, supplies, and all other items and services necessary to perform its
obligations.

4. Be solely responsible for paying all expenses related to the provision of services
including, but not limited to, taxes, regulatory fees, host fees, business license fees,
utilities, etc.

5. Be solely responsible for the impact of any changes in law to the operation of the
Contractor’s facility, including financial and operational impacts.

6. Provide all services in a thorough, safe and professional manner.

7. Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring that its customers consistently receive a
high level of customer service and responsiveness.

8. Comply with applicable laws, regulations and ordinances.

3.3 Customer Rate Arrangements 

This section provides a description of rate arrangements and fees that will apply to all four service 
sectors. The rate schedules establish the maximum rates that may be charged. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 12 

3.3.1 SFD Rate Arrangements 

The County will maintain an integrated SFD rate structure that covers weekly solid waste. 
Contractor may propose SFD recycling materials collection services as an integrated component 
of solid waste, or as a separate offer of service for an additional rate, or in any combination of 
integrated and optional service(s).  

3.3.2 MFD and Commercial Rate Arrangements 

The County will maintain a rate structure that includes separate fees for the collection of solid 
waste and recyclable materials. A volume-and-frequency based rate structure will be used. 
Customers will be encouraged to voluntarily participate in recyclable materials collection and 
will pay a fee for recyclable materials collection services based on subscription levels. 

The County will continue to accommodate open-market competition for recyclable materials 
collection service for which the service provider does not charge a fee for service to the 
generator.  

3.3.3 County Services 

The County’s facilities services shall be provided free of charge. 

3.3.4 Special Services Charges 

Contractor’s proposed rate schedule shall include all charges for special services, such as: (1) 
locked container charges; (2) accessing locked container enclosures; (3) moving containers to a 
collection vehicle; (4) steam cleaning containers (excluding carts) more frequently than one time 
per year as requested by the customer; (5) additional residential solid waste cart monthly 
service rate; etc. Please see the Agreement for more details on situations in which special 
service charges apply. 

3.3.5 Fees 

Article 9 of the Agreement provides details on the specific fee(s) to be paid and remitted to the 
County. The franchise fees are calculated as a percentage of gross receipts.  

3.4 Public Education and Outreach 

All public education activities will be conducted by the Contractor. Contractor shall be responsible for 
ensuring that its customers consistently receive a high level of customer service and responsiveness. 
Contractor shall prepare an annual public education plan and meet with the County or the County’s 
representative to review the plan. The County shall have the right to review all promotion materials and 
implementation of the promotion strategy. A detailed listing of Public Education and Outreach 
requirements can be found in Article 5.11 of the Agreement. 

3.4.1 Contractor Responsibilities 

Contractor will be required to provide the following services: 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 13 

1. Distribute public education and outreach materials during roll-out of the new collection
services program.

2. Public education strategy and development of materials to support roll-out of new
collection services.

3. Develop, produce and distribute an information packet to each new customer throughout
the Contract term. This packet shall: describe available services, including available recycling
services; provide instructions for proper use of the carts and bins provided (such as how to place
carts or other permitted items for Collection, the types of materials that may be placed in each
cart); detailed holiday Collection schedules; and, provide billing and customer service telephone
numbers. This packet shall contain updated information on how to use Containers, when, where
and how to place solid waste for Collection, and who to contact with service or billing questions,
and for bulky item Collection.

4. Develop, produce and distribute public education and promotional materials to MFD and
Commercial accounts at inception of the new program and during the term of the Agreement,
including all outreach and education materials necessary to implement any recycling collection
programs.

5. Deliver set-out correction notices during the term of the Agreement.

6. Include within its bills any inserts produced and provided by the County.

3.4.2 Contractor Liaison 

To achieve a high level of customer service, Contractor shall dedicate a management-level 
employee on staff to serve as liaison for the County. The liaison shall be the County’s primary 
point-of-contact regarding all aspects of the franchise agreement including, but not limited to, 
the service transition, the implementation of all County services, the resolution of customer 
issues, all reporting, all periodic meetings with County staff, all public education and outreach 
and any other aspect of contract implementation. 

Proposer must include the following in its proposal: 

1. A job description for the Liaison and reporting structure

2. The resume of the designated Liaison (This must include the individual’s resume, years of
experience, and professional references.)

3. Notice shall be given to the County of any change of the designated Liaison within five (5)
days.

3.5 Requirements for Operations, Equipment and Personnel 

Article 7 of the Agreement details specific requirements related to operations, equipment and 
personnel. Contractor shall always comply with Applicable Laws and provide services in a manner that is 
safe to the public and the Contractor’s employees. A summary of some of the requirements follows 
below. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 14 

3.5.1 Operations 

Unless otherwise authorized by the County, Contractor’s days and hours for collection 
operations shall be as follows: 

A. Collection from residential premises shall only occur between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and

6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday and between 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. Saturday except

Holidays; provided that the Parties may otherwise agree with respect to permitted times

on Holidays.

3.5.2 Equipment 

1. Vehicles

Contractor shall provide a fleet of collection vehicles sufficient in number and capacity to 
efficiently and safely perform the work required by the Agreement in strict accordance with 
its terms including all applicable laws and regulations. Contractor shall have available 
sufficient back‐up vehicles for each type of collection vehicle used to respond to scheduled 
and unscheduled maintenance, service requests, complaints, and emergencies. All such 
vehicles shall have watertight bodies designed to prevent leakage, spillage, or overflow. 
Hoppers shall be enclosed on top and on all sides to prevent material from leaking, blowing 
or falling from the vehicles. Each collection vehicle shall be equipped with a shovel and 
broom for clean-up of spillage. Collection vehicles shall never be loaded to exceed the 
manufacturer’s recommended weight limit or otherwise operated unsafely or in violation of 
any applicable law. 

Contractor will provide detailed information regarding the number of each type of collection 
vehicle to be used, along with the name of the manufacturer, age of the vehicle, and vehicle 
specifications. The County specifies neither the technology nor the fuel type but requires 
that residential and commercial collection vehicles be fully compliant with state and local 
requirements and regulations throughout the term of the contract.  

2. Containers

The Contractor will provide new carts. Bins may be used if in good condition and if they 
meet all the standards. Contractor will provide detailed information regarding the type of 
carts to be used, along with the name of the manufacturer and specifications. Carts shall 
have a minimum of a 10-year manufacturer warranty. Contractor will also provide alternate 
pricing and specifications for the use of animal-proof carts if provided to all customers as 
part of standard service, as well as pricing for the optional use of animal-proof carts and bins 
to be paid by participating customers. Pricing information should include replacement 
guidelines and responsibilities for broken carts.  

3.5.3 Personnel 

Contractor shall furnish such qualified drivers, mechanical, supervisory, customer service, 
clerical, and other personnel as may be necessary to provide the services required by this 
Agreement in a safe and efficient manner. Contractor shall designate at least one (1) qualified 
employee as the County’s primary point of contact with Contractor who is principally 
responsible for collection operations and resolution of service requests and complaints. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 15 

Contractor shall use its best efforts to assure that all employees who interact with customers 
present a neat appearance and conduct themselves in a courteous manner. Contractor shall not 
permit its employees to accept, demand, or solicit, directly or indirectly, any additional 
compensation, or gratuity from members of the public. 

The County places a high priority on the retention of employees currently providing services 
within the County. Proposer shall declare its intent to offer or not offer employment to eligible 
employees of the current Contractor.  

3.5.4 Local Purchasing Preference 

Contractor shall, throughout the term of the Agreement, give preference to purchasing 
materials and supplies used in connection with the Agreement from local vendors within the 
County or State, and in that order of preference. At a minimum, Contractor shall purchase the 
following items from local vendors: vehicle supplies (including, by way of example, but not 
limited to fuel, fluids, tires, parts, etc.) only if the Contractor’s operation and maintenance yard 
is in the County; printing and publishing services for all public education and outreach materials; 
uniforms, safety clothing/equipment, and work boots; and office supplies.  

3.6 Billing, Customer Service, Record Keeping and Reporting 

Article 8 of the Agreement details specific requirements related to billing, customer service, record 
keeping, and reporting. A summary of some of the requirements follows below. 

3.6.1 Billing Services 

Contractor shall provide billing services for all customers in the Service Area, including all 
Residential Properties, Multi-Family Properties and Commercial Properties. Contractor shall: (i) 
bill all customers in the Service Area, including all SFDs, MFDs, and Commercial Properties at the 
rates permitted in this Agreement; (ii) maintain accurate billing and payment records; and (iii) 
bill customers on the following schedule or as otherwise approved by the County: 

• Each Residential customer shall be billed no less frequently than quarterly, in advance.

• Each Multi-Family and Commercial customer shall be billed monthly, in advance.

Service Recipients’ bills shall be itemized showing the charges for each classification of services. 
The Contractor and the County or the County’s Representative shall agree on the format of the 
invoice prior to the Contractor initiating billing services.  

Contractor’s website shall provide customers with the ability to pay their bills through an 
electronic check or credit card and include the ability for customer billings to be automatically 
charged on a recurring basis. The proposer shall describe the company’s web-based billing 
system. Contractor shall promote the website- based billing and payment system on all paper 
bills sent to customers. Contractor shall prepare, mail, and collect bills from customers who 
decline to use such internet‐based billing system. Contractor shall make arrangements to 
allow customers to pay bills by cash, check, electronic check, money order, and credit/debit 
card. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 16 

3.6.2 Customer Service 

Contractor shall always be in compliance with Article 8.6 of the Agreement and with the 
provisions of the customer Service Plan included in Contractor’s Proposal. Contractor shall 
revise, modify and otherwise update such Plan throughout the term as it deems necessary, or as 
reasonably requested by the County.  

1. Office Location and Hours

The Contractor shall maintain an office that provides telephone access to residents and 
businesses of the County and is staffed by trained and experienced customer service 
representatives (CSRs). Such office shall be equipped with sufficient telephones so that all 
collection service-related calls received during normal business hours are answered by an 
employee within five (5) rings; shall have responsible persons in charge during collection 
hours; and shall be open during normal business hours, which are currently 8:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, except for Holidays. Office hours may be adjusted at the 
discretion of Contractor only after appropriate notification is provided to all customers and 
provided that offices are open for business at least eight (8) hours per day Monday through 
Friday, except for Holidays. The Contractor shall provide either a telephone answering 
service or a mechanical device to receive customer inquiries during those times when the 
office is closed. Calls received after normal business hours shall be addressed the next 
morning the office is open.  

2. Local Telephone Number and Equipment

Contractor's principal office shall be accessible by a local (toll-free to customers) telephone 
number at least during the office hours specified in Article 8.6 of the Agreement. The 
telephone number shall be listed under Contractor’s name in the local telephone directory 
and as appropriate on collection vehicles and containers. The Contractor shall have 
sufficient equipment in place and staff to handle the volume of calls experienced on the 
busiest days and such telephone equipment shall record the responsiveness (including, by 
way of example, but not limited to call hold-time, abandoned calls, etc.) to calls. An 
answering machine or voicemail service shall record customer calls and voice messages 
during hours the office is closed, or outside times calls are not being answered. 

3. Emergency Telephone Number

Contractor shall maintain an emergency telephone number for use outside Contractor's 
office hours. The emergency telephone number shall be listed as an emergency number 
under Contractor's name and under the County in the local telephone directory. Contractor 
shall have a representative, or an answering service to contact such representative, 
available at Contractor's emergency telephone number during all hours other than 
Contractor's office hours. 

4. Bilingual/TDD Service

 Contractor shall always maintain the capability of responding to telephone calls in English 
and Spanish. Contractor shall always maintain the capability of responding to telephone 
calls through Telecommunications Device for the Deaf (TDD) Services. These capabilities 
shall be maintained for both the local telephone number and the emergency telephone 



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 17 

number. 

5. Website

Contractor shall develop a comprehensive website specific to the County’s Service Area 
which fully explains and effectively promotes the collection service options offered to its 
customers. The website shall contain the full approved rate schedules as well as any other 
information that may be helpful to the County and customers in successfully participating in 
the recycling program. The website shall also allow customers to submit inquiries, 
complaints and queries. 

6. Service Requests, Compliments, Complaints

Contractor shall be responsible for the prompt and courteous attention to, and prompt and 
reasonable resolution of, all customer service requests and complaints. Contractor shall 
record in a separate computerized log, approved as to form by the County, all complaints, 
noting the name and address of complainant, date and time of complaint, nature of 
complaint, and nature and date of resolution. The Contractor shall retain this log for the 
term plus three (3) years after its expiration or earlier termination. Upon request by the 
County, Contractor shall compile and submit a summary statistical table of the complaint 
log. 

Contractor shall respond to all complaints received within twenty‐four (24) hours, weekends 
and Holidays excluded. If a complaint involves a failure to Collect materials from a premises 
in the County, Contractor shall Collect the material in question within twenty‐four (24) 
hours of receipt of the Complaint, provided that Generator has properly placed materials 
for collection. 

3.6.3 Record Keeping and Reporting 

Contractor shall submit to the County quarterly and annual reports as described in Article 8.9 of 
the Agreement. Unless otherwise required in Article 8.8 of the Agreement, Contractor shall 
retain all records and data required to be maintained by this Agreement for the term of this 
Agreement plus three (3) years after its expiration or earlier termination. Records and data shall 
be in chronological and organized form and readily and easily interpreted. Upon request, any 
such records shall be retrieved in a timely manner by Contractor and made available to the 
County or the County’s Representative. Contractor shall maintain adequate record security to 
preserve records from events that can be reasonably anticipated such as a fire, theft, flood and 
an earthquake. Electronically -maintained data and records shall be protected and backed‐up. 

3.7 Contractor Implementation Plan 

Contractor shall provide a detailed implementation plan describing the Contractor’s approach to 
facilitating a smooth transition to new contract services.  This service transition plan must clearly 
describe the company’s ability to implement the services in accordance with the provided schedule 
(inserted upon award and execution of contract).  This description should include, but not be limited to: 

1. A timeline showing the duration and completion date of major milestone events such as
vehicle procurement if not proposing used vehicles; container purchase, assembly and



Storey County, Nevada Section 3. Scope of Requested Collection Services 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 18 

distribution; personnel hiring and training; customer service and billing database 
development and implementation; administration; public education; etc. 

2. Assumptions regarding the participation of County staff.

3. Identification of common problems that can occur in service initiation and strategies for
preventing or managing such problems.

4. Procedure for residential and commercial customers to select container size(s) and
service frequency.

5. Contingency plans for all aspects of implementation.

3.8 Alternative Proposals 

Proposer may provide one or more alternative proposals in addition to the requested proposal. The 
County is not obligated to evaluate or select alternative proposals. Alternative proposals will be 
considered by the County if the County concludes that the alternative proposals warrant evaluation and 
analysis. Alternative proposal(s) will not be considered from proposers that do not respond to this 
Request for Proposals in its entirety, as written.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 4. RFP Policies, Conditions, and Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 19 

SECTION 4 - RFP POLICIES, CONDITIONS, AND PROCESS 

4.1 Rights Reserved by the County 

The County reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to pursue any or all the following actions regarding 
this RFP process: 

• Issue addenda and amend the RFP and Agreement.

• Request additional information and/or clarification from Proposer.

• Extend the deadline for submitting proposals.

• Withdraw this RFP.

• Reject proposals that do not fully comply with the requirements detailed in this RFP, its
attachments, addenda, or clarifications.

• Reject incomplete proposals; proposals containing errors, inconsistencies, false, inaccurate,
or misleading information; proposals submitted after the deadline; or, proposals with other
process or content errors or deficiencies.

• Amend the Municipal Codes of County.

• Award a proposal based on a combination of its qualitative and quantitative attributes.

• Take other actions the County deems are in the best interest of the County, and residents
and businesses in the County service area.

• Negotiate changes in the services proposed and/or described in the RFP or to incorporate
programs proposed by others.

4.2 General RFP Requirements 

This RFP shall not be construed by any party as an agreement of any kind between the County, 
Proposer(s), and other parties. 

This RFP does not oblige the County to accept any proposal, negotiate with any Proposer, award an 
Agreement, or proceed with the development of any project or service described in response to this 
RFP. The County has no obligation to and shall not compensate any Proposer for its expense of 
preparing its proposal and participating in this procurement process. 

Please note that the County’s procurement of franchised collection services is not subject to State 
bidding laws, and the County does not intend to cause the current RFP process to become subject to 
such bidding laws or regulations. 

The County shall have the right (but not the obligation) to perform a review of each Proposer's ability to 
perform the work required. Each Proposer must agree to cooperate with such a review. Such 
cooperation by Proposer shall apply to the verification of the Proposer's capability and experience in the 
provision of services and any other component of work that may be required under this procurement. 

The County, and its consultants, will be conducting reference checks on Proposers that will involve 
contacting jurisdictions currently or previously served by Proposer, as well as contacting regulatory 
agencies involved in oversight of Proposers’ facilities. In addition, the County, or its consultants, may 
research Proposers’ past performance by reviewing litigation history, regulatory actions, highway driving 



Storey County, Nevada Section 4. RFP Policies, Conditions, and Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 20 

records, criminal investigations and recycling history. The Proposer’s submission of a proposal shall 
constitute an agreement to cooperate with the County’s review. 

Unless a submitting Proposer takes specific exception in accordance with the procedure set forth in 
Section 5.6, submission of a proposal shall constitute acknowledgement and acceptance of all the terms 
and conditions contained in this RFP and the Agreement including all addenda or amendments issued by 
the County as per the process provided in this RFP.  

Submittal of a proposal signifies the submitting Proposers’ commitment to provide the proposed 
services if selected. In addition, all aspects, conditions and components of proposals submitted shall be 
valid for two years. Proposals may not be altered after submittal, except in response to the County’s 
request for clarification. 

4.3 Code of Conduct 

4.3.1  Proposer Code of Conduct 

Proposer is required to sign and notarize the Proposer Code of Conduct (Attachment 2). The 
code of conduct for Proposers: (i) prohibits ex parte communications with County elected 
officials or staff member; (ii) prohibits giving any gift or monetary compensation to County 
elected officials, staff member or consultants; and, (iii) prohibits collusive activities with other 
potential Proposers. 

If a Proposer does not sign the code of conduct or violates the code of conduct, the County has 
the right to disqualify the Proposer from this RFP process. The code of conduct shall be signed 
and notarized and submitted to the County in accordance with instructions provided in Section 
5.8.1. Please note: the Proposer Code of Conduct is required to be submitted at the Pre-
Proposal Meeting. 

4.4 Proposal Submittal Process 

Proposer shall follow the proposal submittal process as outlined below. 

4.4.1 Step One – R.S.V.P to Attend Pre-Proposal Meeting 

Proposer must submit notification to the County of its intention to attend the mandatory pre-
proposal meeting. Proposer must email notification to: 

CM@sloanvazquez.com 

This notice of intent to attend the pre-proposal meeting must be submitted by the date and 
time provided in Section 1.4, RFP Schedule.  

Proposers must submit a signed Proposer Code of Conduct at the Pre-Proposal Meeting, as 
described in Sections 4.3.1 and 5.8.1 of this RFP. 

4.4.2 Step Two – Mandatory Pre-Proposal Meeting 

The mandatory pre-proposal meeting will be held at LOCATION. 

Attendance at this meeting is mandatory for all companies intending to submit a proposal. The 
County will NOT accept proposals from companies that do not attend the pre-proposal meeting.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 4. RFP Policies, Conditions, and Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 21 

4.4.3 Step Three – Submittal of Written Questions 

The County directs Proposers to submit all questions and requests for information in writing 
directly to the email address listed in Section 4.4.1. The deadline for submitting written 
questions and requests for information is provided in Section 1.4, RFP Schedule.  

Written responses to questions will be provided to all eligible Proposers. In the event of any 
inconsistencies between oral responses provided at the pre-proposal meeting and written 
responses subsequently issued, the written responses must be used for preparing proposals. 

4.4.4 Step Four – Proposal Submittal 

Proposer shall submit one (1) signed original and two (2) complete copies in three-ring binders 
and according to the deadline provided in Section 1.4, RFP Schedule. In addition, the Proposers 
are required to submit a flash drive containing: 

• An electronic copy of all completed cost proposal forms (including, by way of example,
but not limited to, those provided in Attachment 7 of the RFP) formatted for Microsoft
Excel;

• An electronic copy of the Agreement, noting all requested changes in redline/strikeout,
in Microsoft Word format; and,

• A complete PDF of the proposal (excluding financial statements, if confidential).

These items shall be placed and submitted in a sealed package. All pages shall be consecutively 
numbered; although, each section may start with a new page number if proceeded with the 
section number, such as Page 2-1 for the first page of Section 2. 

The package shall be clearly labeled: 

PROPOSAL FOR STOREY COUNTY FRANCHISED COLLECTION SERVICES 

FROM: 

Name of Proposer:  
Address: 
Contact Person: 
Telephone Number: 
E-mail:

The proposal may be mailed, or hand delivered to: 

LOCATION 
ATTN: NAME 

Proposals received late will not be considered. Postmarks will not be accepted as proof of 
receipt. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 4. RFP Policies, Conditions, and Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 22 

1. Surety. Each proposal must be accompanied by surety made payable to “Storey County” in
the amount of $AMOUNT and in the form of a certified check, cashier’s check, or bid bond.
The surety shall be submitted with the proposal in a separate, clearly labeled envelope.
The purpose of the surety is to guarantee that the successful Contractor will execute an
Agreement with the County. If the selected Contractor does not execute the Agreement
within 30 calendar days after receiving notice of the award of Agreement, the County shall
keep the surety to offset the potential cost associated with identification of an alternate
service provider and schedule delays and the County has the right to pursue additional and
reasonable costs incurred in this event. Checks and bonds will be returned to all Proposers
no later than ten calendar days after the County has executed the Agreement with the
successful Contractor. If no selection is made within one year of the submission of
proposals, each Proposer may demand their proposal surety be returned; however, the
County reserves the right to eliminate proposals from such companies from further
consideration.

4.4.5 Step Five – Clarification of Proposal Information 

Proposer may be asked to clarify information through written communications, interviews or 
during site visits of each Proposer’s offices, customer service center, corporation yard, 
maintenance facilities, transfer facilities, and/or processing facilities. The County reserves the 
right to conduct in-person interviews with one or more Proposers.  

4.4.6 Step Six – Selection of Recommended Contractor and Negotiation of Final Agreement 

The County and/or its consultants will recommend a preferred Contractor(s) for consideration 
by the Board of Supervisors. Once the Board approves selection of a final Contractor then final 
negotiation will take place for the Agreement. Except at the sole discretion of the County, all 
negotiations with the Proposer will be limited to the Proposer’s recommended alternative 
Agreement language contained in their proposal.  

4.4.7 Schedule 

The schedule of events presented in this Section 4.4 is summarized in Table 1-2 in Section 1. 

4.5 Limits on Disclosure of Proposals 

The County has determined that the public interest will be best served if proposals submitted in 
response to this RFP are not made available for review by other companies participating in the 
competitive selection process. For that reason, proposals (and materials submitted during subsequent 
meetings and discussions with County staff) will not be made available to other Proposers or the public 
generally any earlier than the date on which County staff issues to the Board of Supervisors a company 
recommended for final consideration/negotiation. At that point, the County may release the portion(s) 
of the proposal(s) that have not been identified as entitled to confidential treatment as containing trade 
secrets. Alternatively, public release may be deferred until the Board of Supervisors has executed a 
contract with the selected company.  

In accordance with NRS 332.061, The following procedures will be followed for the disclosure of 
proposals:  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-332.html#NRS332Sec061


Storey County, Nevada Section 4. RFP Policies, Conditions, and Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 23 

1. Materials which a Proposer considers as proprietary information entitled to limitation on
disclosure must be clearly marked on each page as “CONFIDENTIAL”.

2. If the County receives a request to review and/or copy materials submitted by any Proposer,
it will decline to release those materials marked “CONFIDENTIAL”.

3. If the person submitting the request files a legal action against the County seeking its
release, the County will notify the affected Proposer(s) and will not oppose a motion by such
Proposer(s) to intervene in the action. The Proposer(s) must either intervene or agree to pay the
County’s legal expenses in defending the action, including fees, if any, awarded to the plaintiff.
Absent such an agreement, the County will have no obligation to defend the action and may
release the information sought without any liability whatsoever.

4. No Proposer may, directly or through an intermediary, employ a public records request to
obtain access to non-confidential materials submitted to the County by other Proposers prior to
the execution of the agreement for this contract.

5. No Proposer will seek damages against the County or recovery of its attorneys’ fees from
the County because of any dispute related to the release or withholding of information
submitted in response to this RFP.



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 24 

SECTION 5 - SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

Section 5 includes the required proposal outline, and a description of the specific information Proposers 
must include. Proposer must provide the information specified in this section as part of its proposal. 
Failure to provide all the required information may be grounds for rejection of a proposal. 

Proposer does not need to reiterate the service requirements of the Agreement in their proposal. 
However, Proposer is requested to focus on describing how it plans to provide the services regarding 
routing strategies, collection methods, and equipment selection. Furthermore, if a Proposer has 
presented information for one type of service that is the same for another type of service, Proposer can 
refer to its previous description rather than reiterating the discussion in its proposal. For example, if SFD 
solid waste and recyclables collection vehicles are the same, the vehicle description can be provided 
once for the solid waste service and then referenced for the recyclable materials collection service. 

5.1 Proposal Outline 

Proposer shall present its proposal in accordance with the outline provided in Table 5.1. The RFP section 
that contains specific information that must be provided by Proposers for each of the required section 
of the proposal is provided for reference. Additional information or data relevant to the proposal is 
optional and must be included by Proposer as proposal attachments.  

Table 5-1     Proposal Outline 

Required Proposal Section Reference RFP Section 

i. Title Page N.A. 

ii. Cover Letter 5.2 

iii. Table of Contents N.A. 

ES Executive Summary 5.3 

1. Company Description 5.4 
A. Business Structure 5.4.1 
B. Experience 5.4.2 
C. Service Initiation Experience 5.4.3 
D. Existing Management & Customer Service Systems 5.4.4 
E. Key Personnel 5.4.5 
F. Past Performance Record 5.4.6 
G. Financial Information 5.4.7 



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 25 

Required Proposal Section Reference RFP Section 

2. Proposal for Requested Services 3.0 and 5.5 
A. SFD Services 3.2.1 
B. MFD Services 3.2.2 
C. Commercial Services 3.2.3 
D. County Services 3.2.4 
E. Virginia City TS Operating Plan 3.2.5 
F. Processing, Diversion and Disposal Plan
G. Public Education and Outreach

3.2.6 
3.4 

H. Requirements for Operations, Equipment and
Personnel

3.5 

I. Billing, Customer Service, Record Keeping and
Reporting

3.6 

J. Contractor Implementation Plan 3.7 
K. Alternative Proposals 3.8 

3. Exceptions to the RFP and Agreement 5.6 

4. Cost Proposal 5.7 
A. Base Cost Proposal 5.7.1 
B. Alternative Cost Proposals 5.7.2 

5. Other Proposal Forms 5.8 
A. Proposer Code of Conduct 5.8.1 

5.2 Cover Letter 

The cover letter shall clearly identify the legal entity or entities submitting the proposal and state 
whether each is a sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, LLC, or joint venture. The cover letter 
shall be signed by the designated representative authorized to bind Proposer. Proposer shall 
acknowledge receipt of any addenda issued as part of this RFP process.  

Cover letters shall contain a written statement affirming that the contractor is ready, willing, and able to 
provide all services in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the RFP and Draft 
Agreement.   

5.3 Executive Summary 

Proposer shall provide an executive summary to introduce its proposal and highlight any unique aspects 
of its approach to providing service to the County.  

5.4 Company Description 

5.4.1 Business Structure 

Proposer shall include the following in its proposal: 

1. Confirm that Proposer is authorized to do business in Nevada.



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 26 

2. Identify the legal entity that would execute the Agreement. State whether each entity is
a sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, LLC, or joint venture. Describe in detail the
relationship of the Proposer to the executing entity. If the Proposer is a joint venture,
describe where the entities have collaborated before.

3. State the number of years the entities have been organized and doing business under
this legal structure. Proposal must include all the names of company’s (and executing
entities if different than company’s) owners/stockholders with greater than a 10% holding
of the company's total assets.

4. Identify other businesses with ownership by principals and/or management.

5. Proposer shall describe all services to be performed by subcontractors and identify each
subcontractor by name. Proposer shall describe any current or past working relationship
with the subcontractor(s) in the past five years.

6. Proposer shall declare its intent to offer or not offer employment to eligible employees
of the current Contractor as described in Section 3.6.3 of this RFP.

5.4.2 Collection Experience 

Proposer shall describe experience serving jurisdictions (preferably serving jurisdictions of 
similar or larger size and similar demographics to the County). Proposer’s description for each 
comparable jurisdiction shall include: 

1. The name of the jurisdiction where the services were provided, commencement date of
services and term of the agreement.

2. The services provided (including, by way of example, but not limited to solid waste
collection, recyclable materials, yard rubbish materials collection, and other unique
collection programs such as e-waste or household hazardous waste).

3. The name, address, and telephone number of the jurisdiction representative
responsible for administering the agreement.

4. The number of residential customers according to SFD and MFD designations, number
of Commercial customers, according to cart, bin and other and County customers served;
tons collected, diverted, and disposed annually; and, the type and number of vehicles
dispatched per day for each of the services provided.

5.4.3 Service Initiation Experience 

The County is interested in learning about each Proposer’s experience with implementation of 
new franchise agreements in which the Proposer replaced the existing Contractor or initiated 
new collection services that required the distribution of carts. Include a minimum of three 
reference projects for which the Proposer has initiated a new collection contract and/or new 
collection services. For each reference program, the description shall include:  

1. List ALL service transitions performed for municipal agencies, school districts, and other
governmental organizations during the past five (5) years.

2. The name of the jurisdiction where the services were provided, commencement date
and term of the agreement.



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 27 

3. The service initiation performed, whether initiation of a new franchise agreement or
initiation of a new service and length of time to complete.

4. The name, address, and telephone number of the jurisdiction representative
responsible for administering the agreement.

5. The number of residential and commercial customers served; tons collected annually;
and the type and number of vehicles dispatched per day for solid waste, recyclable
materials, and/or yard rubbish material collection services.

6. Description of how the company handled the specific requirements for the procurement
of vehicles and personnel; training of personnel; billing and fee collection services;
determination of routes and operating procedures; delivery of containers; public education;
and the preparation of procedures to ensure a smooth transition from one company to
another and/or one type of service to another.

7. Identification of problems that occurred during the initiation of the new contract and
solutions implemented to solve the problem(s).

5.4.4 Existing Management and Customer Service Systems 

Proposer shall describe the management systems and customer service systems its company 
uses to manage inquiries and complaints received from residential and commercial customers. If 
the Proposer uses different systems for different communities, then the Proposer shall provide a 
separate description of no more than three systems. The description of the management 
systems and customer service systems shall include, at a minimum: 

1. The name, type of equipment, and software used to maintain routing and customer
service information.

2. Management procedures for managing inquiries and complaints and procedures used to
minimize complaints (including, by way of example, but not limited to missed pick-ups,
noise, spills, etc.).

3. Description of system capability and/or procedures to ensure timely accessibility of
information by jurisdictions served.

4. Description as to approach to establishing call center and shall identify the location of
the proposed call center.

5. Indication as to whether the system is used company-wide or for select jurisdictions
(listing which jurisdictions).

6. Description of how the customer service information interfaces with route data and
billing data.

7. Explain how communications will occur between company’s operations with a minimum
feedback loop between customer service, billing, collection operations, and recycling staff.
Describe how the customer service information system interfaces with routing and billing
systems.

8. Description of procedures used to satisfactorily respond to, record, and report common
customer complaints such as: missed pick-ups; spills and litter resulting from collection;
collection schedule changes; broken or missing containers; improperly prepared set-outs;



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 28 

noise complaints; traffic and sidewalk obstruction during collection; and, safety around 
collection vehicles during operations. 

9. Description of how the company measures customer service about the call center’s
responsiveness and accuracy of responses, as well as the quality of collection service.
Identify specific performance metrics or targets your company tracks. Provide actual reports
for at least three jurisdictions that document the actual performance level against your
targets including, at a minimum, average hold times of the customer service call center and
missed pick-ups.

10. Identify the website that its customers use to obtain customer rates and service
information, and to submit inquiries or complaints. Provide website address.

5.4.5 Key Personnel 

Provide an organizational chart for key personnel and job descriptions indicating the 
qualifications and experience of key personnel the Proposer would assign to: (1) the transition 
team; and, (2) the ongoing management of the services provided under the Agreement. Specify 
the amount of time each individual will provide the services specified in the Agreement. Provide 
names, emails and phone numbers of municipal references that have worked with the key 
proposed management team members. At a minimum, key personnel shall include the general 
manager, controller, operations manager, route manager(s), customer service manager, 
maintenance manager and/or other personnel with similar titles. 

5.4.6 Past Performance Record 

1. Criminal Proceedings. Describe any criminal proceedings in which the Proposer, any affiliate
of the Proposer, and/or any director or officer of the Proposer or affiliate (with respect to their 
actions in such capacity), and any individual identified as Key Personnel in the Proposal has been
named as a defendant that are either currently pending or were concluded within the past five
years. For each proceeding, provide the name of the case, the court in which it was filed, the
docket number, and the disposition.

2. Civil Litigation. Describe any lawsuit in which the Proposer or any affiliate of the Proposer
has been named as a defendant or cross-defendant, either currently pending or were concluded
within the past five years. For each lawsuit, provide the name of the case, the court in which it
was filed, the docket number, and the disposition. Lawsuits which involved only claims for
personal injury or property damage arising from vehicle accidents which resulted in defense
verdicts or in judgments against defendant, or settlements, of less than $5,000, need not be
disclosed.

3. Administrative Proceedings. Describe any administrative proceedings involving the Proposer
or any affiliate initiated by federal, state or local regulatory agencies (including, by way of
example, but not limited to the United States Environmental Protection Agency, the Nevada
Division of Environmental Protection, the Nevada Highway Patrol, the Nevada Department of
Motor Vehicles, the Nevada Employee Management Relations Board, the Nevada Department of
Industrial Relations, the Nevada Department of Transportation, the Nevada Division of Water
Resources that are either currently pending or were concluded within the past five years. For
each, provide the name of the agency, the office or District in which the proceeding occurred,
the nature of the proceeding, the disposition, and the amount of any fines or penalties assessed.



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 29 

4. Payment of Liquidated Damages. List each jurisdiction in Nevada and/or within 200 miles of
Storey County (including, by way of example, but not limited to County, county, or municipality)
and within 200 miles of Storey County which has assessed liquidated damages against the
Proposer or any affiliate of the Proposer within the past five years in an amount greater than
$10,000. For each jurisdiction, list the amount of liquidated damages paid and the event
initiating contractual liability for liquidated damages.

5. Worker Safety. For the Proposer, and any affiliate of the Proposer, provide information
detailing its worker safety record for the past five years. The information shall include employee
safety metrics commonly used in the industry including but not limited to the number of hours
lost for individual injuries per employee and workers' compensation insurance ratios.

6. Customer Service. For the Proposer, and any affiliate of the Proposer, provide information
detailing deficiencies in compliance with contractually stipulated customer service requirements
for the past five years. The information shall include a description of the areas of customer
service that were not complied with, the duration and scope of the non-compliance, and how
the Contractor addressed and/or resolved the problems.

Proposers may limit information requested in Items 2, 3, 5 and 6 to civil lawsuits, administrative 
proceedings, worker safety records, and customer service deficiencies to those arising out of the 
Proposer’s (and its affiliates’) operations and facilities in Nevada and/or within 200 miles of 
Storey County. 

Note: The term "Affiliate" as used in this RFP is defined in Article 1.1 of the Agreement. 

5.4.7 Financial Information 

1. Financial Statements. Submit audited financial statements for the most-recently completed
fiscal year for the legal entities that would execute the Agreement. If Proposer is a new entity,
the proposal must include statements from the majority owners’ existing business entities. All
such statements are to be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles applied on a consistent basis and shall be audited in accordance with Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards and shall include a statement by the chief financial officer of the
entity described in the Agreement that there has been no material adverse change in such
condition or operations as reflected in the submitted balance sheet and income statements
since the date on which they were prepared.

2. Financing Plan. Describe the plan for financing all capital requirements (including, by way of
example, but not limited to those listed in Attachment 7, Cost Proposal Forms) in a "Sources and
Uses of Funds" format, which describes the sources of required capital (including, by way of
example, but not limited to banks, leasing companies, cash reserves, etc.) and uses (including,
by way of example, but not limited to property, trucks, equipment, containers, reserves, etc.).

5.5 General Collection Related Submittal Requirements 

Proposer shall describe how it plans to perform the collection services requested in Section 3 of this RFP 
and described in the Agreement. Information must separately address all four service sectors: SFD, MFD, 
Commercial, and County facilities. Proposer must explain any differences in the method of delivering the 
services, equipment used, and containers to be provided. The description shall also note differences in 
terms of routing strategies, collection methods, vehicles, collection crew size, etc. In addition, Proposer 



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 30 

must describe in detail why its technical approach to the services was chosen and its benefits to the 
County.  

Proposer shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

1. Routing strategy and productivity assumptions for SFD, MFD, Commercial and County
facilities; discussion of special routing (if any) for collecting in narrow streets, courts, and alleys;
and route productivity assumptions (in terms of SFD accounts per route per day and
MFD/Commercial lifts per route per day) and where these productivity assumptions have been
accomplished in other cities serviced by the Proposer.

2. Collection methodology (including, by way of example, but not limited to automated, semi-
automated, one- or two-person crews, etc.), including discussion of special methods for
collecting in any hard-to-service areas. This includes issues pertaining to inclement weather
conditions. Methodology will include the approach to adjusting and/or expanding pickup so as
to accommodate the service needs, such as missed pickup service created by the inclement
weather. Proposer will include a plan to address the needs of communities including Virginia
City, Gold Hill, Virginia City Highlands, Highlands Ranches and Virginia Ranches where inclement
weather frequently impacts scheduled collection services.

3. Number of and description of the collection vehicles to be utilized (including, by way of
example, but not limited to vehicle description, manufacturer and model number, cost, capacity,
age, lease or ownership arrangements, etc.). New vehicles are required for residential and
MFD/Commercial/County collection services. Proposers are allowed to propose the deployment
of new or used collection and support vehicles.

4. Manufacturer’s specifications of containers to be utilized. New carts shall be provided for
SFD and new or used bins may be provided for MFD/Commercial/County customers. Container
requirements are described in Article 7.10 of the Agreement. Proposer shall supply complete
technical data and manufacturing specifications on the specific carts and bins being used.
Proposer must also provide a detailed user’s list of other jurisdictions using the same make and
model of cart. The County or its designee may use this information as a reference list regarding
the quality of products and service records of the manufacturer.

5. For SFD, Proposer must present assumptions regarding the percentage of customers that
will utilize franchise services, and of those, assumptions regarding the percentage of customers
that will place materials curbside and factor in the anticipated number of customers eligible for
Low Income Senior Citizen rates as described in Article 8.4 of the Agreement. Describe the basis
for deriving these assumptions.

5. Details on the proposed transfer facility and/or recyclables materials processing facility. For
each facility please provide the following: documentation that all existing permits and approvals
are in place; documentation that the facility has sufficient capacity to process the materials from
the County service area; description of how the materials will be delivered to the facility, either
direct hauled or transferred with details on any transfer operations; rate per ton for each
facility; and, one-way mileage from the service area (assume County Hall) to the proposed
facility.



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 31 

5.6 Exceptions to RFP and Agreement 

The County expects that the successful Proposer(s) will execute a single Agreement with the County in 
substantially the same form as the draft Agreement (as it may be changed via Addendum during the RFP 
process).  

Proposers are required to carefully review the Agreement before submitting proposals and are 
encouraged to have it reviewed by legal counsel. Proposers are also encouraged to submit written 
questions, or raise questions at the Pre-Proposal Meeting, about any provision in the Agreement not 
fully understood, which would appear to be inconsistent with other provisions or otherwise incorrect, or 
which may deter them from submitting a Proposal or significantly increase the cost of their Proposal. 

If a Proposer is not willing to execute Agreements with the County because of specific provisions in the 
Agreement, it must identify each provision to which it takes exception (“objectionable provision”) in its 
Proposal. Each objectionable provision must be presented separately by stating the specific 
objectionable provision, the suggested changes, if any, to the objectionable provision, the program or 
services related to the objectionable provision, and the reason for the needed change to the 
objectionable provision. If Proposers submit suggested changes to the Agreement language related to 
objectionable provisions, they must identify the specific dollar change in each of the affected cost items, 
as proposed by the Proposer in response to this RFP, which would take place if the suggested change 
was accepted by the County. Proposers should note that if suggested changes are proposed or 
objectionable provisions identified, all required information as set forth above must be submitted. 
Suggested changes or objections to provisions, without providing the required information, will not be 
considered. Proposers should also note that the submittal of suggested changes to the Agreement or 
objections to provisions does not obligate the County to revise the terms of the Agreement as published 
in this RFP, including such revisions as may be issued by the County during the RFP process. 

The number, nature and materiality of objectionable provisions and suggested changes to the 
Agreement will be considered in evaluating proposals. 

5.7 Cost Proposal 

Proposer shall follow the instructions provided below for preparation of the cost proposal. All elements 
described are required to be submitted except for the alternative cost proposals. 

Proposers are to prepare base cost proposals for five (5) year and ten (10) year contract terms as 
requested in Section 5.7.1 solely on the program specifications set forth in the RFP documents without 
considering any exceptions or alternatives. 

The proposal assumptions, operating statistics, and cost proposal information submitted by Proposer 
will be evaluated to determine the reasonableness of the Contractor’s compensation requirement and 
will serve as a baseline for establishing Rate Year One Contractor’s compensation and future 
adjustments to Contractor’s compensation. The cost proposal shall be firm and valid for a period of one 
year from the submittal date of the proposal. 

Within 14 days of request by the County, the selected Contractor shall revise the cost proposal forms 
and submit adjusted proposed costs that shall reflect any alternative programs which will be included in 
the scope. These “adjusted proposed costs” will be included in the executed Agreement. The County 
may request additional detailed cost and operating assumptions to fully understand the adjusted cost 
proposal and verify its reasonableness. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 32 

5.7.1 Base Cost Proposal 

Proposer shall be required to submit a complete set of cost forms for the Base Cost Proposal. 
When Proposers complete the Base Cost Proposal for the core programs (Forms provided as 
Attachment 7), proposals shall be made based on the following assumptions: 

1. All collection services described in the Agreement shall be included in the scope.

2. The provision of the collection services shall be governed by the terms and
conditions of the Agreement.

3. New services shall commence DATE.

4. For the purposes of preparing the cost proposal, please specify the processing fee to
be charged for recyclables materials. Please breakout the processing fee to reflect
transportation costs/ton and the actual tipping fee or rebate charged at the processing
facility.

5. For the purposes of preparing the cost proposal, the number of accounts and
container lifts to be serviced by Contractor shall be as specified on the designated Cost
Proposal Form. The account data provided on the cost forms is actual 2022 data.

6. For the purposes of preparing the cost proposal, the tonnage collected by the
Contractor shall be that specified on the designated Cost Proposal Form.

7. For the purposes of preparing the cost proposal, the fees to be paid to the County
shall include the following:

• 8% Franchise Fee
8. Proposers shall propose annualized costs associated with implementation of the
new collection services. The Proposer shall estimate one-time implementation costs,
annualize the costs over five (5) and ten (10) years, and present the annualized costs.
The annualized implementation costs shall assume full implementation of new services
on DATE. These implementation costs shall be allocated on the designated Cost
Proposal Forms.

5.7.2 Alternative Cost Proposals 

Proposer may present, at its option, alternative cost proposals. If the Proposer prepares an 
alternative cost proposal, they are still required to submit a Base Cost Proposal. These 
alternative proposals are proposals that are different than the base cost proposals. The 
alternative cost proposals shall be based on the technical description provided by the Proposer 
pursuant to Section 3.8 of this document. 

If a Proposer chooses to present an alternative proposal for a collection strategy other than that 
discussed in the RFP or Agreement, Proposer is required to submit an additional, complete set 
of the Cost Proposal Forms provided as Attachment 7, documenting an alternative cost 
proposal. Forms shall clearly indicate “Alternative Proposal for _______” on each page of the 
additional cost proposal.  

5.8 Other Proposal Forms 

5.8.1 Proposer Code of Conduct 

Each Proposer shall complete and submit the Proposer Code of Conduct Affidavit (Attachment 
2). The Proposer Code of Conduct Affidavit shall be signed by the designated representative 
authorized to bind the proposing company and shall be submitted at the Pre-Proposal Meeting. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 5. Submittal Requirements 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 33 

Proposers may email a PDF version of the signed document to the email address provided in 
Section 4.4.1 to meet the deadline and concurrently mail the original, signed Code of Conduct to 
the address provided in Section 4.4.4.  

5.9  Additional Information 

Additional information or data relevant to the proposal is optional and may be included by a Proposer as 
an attachment to the proposal. 



Storey County, Nevada Section 6. Proposal Evaluation Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 34 

SECTION 6 - PROPOSAL EVALUATION PROCESS 

This section describes the proposed process for evaluating proposals and selecting the collection 
Contractor. Section 6.1 describes the evaluation process for the contract award recommendation to the 
Board of Supervisors. Section 6.2 presents the evaluation criteria. Note that the County reserves the 
right to modify this process in any way and at any time during the RFP and Contractor selection process.  

6.1 Proposal Evaluation Process 

6.1.1 Evaluation and Selection Process 

A detailed evaluation of the proposals will be conducted, and the proposals will be 
ranked. A comparative description of the proposals and evaluation results will be 
prepared. The evaluation and recommendation will be presented to Board of 
Supervisors.  The Supervisors will review the recommendation and approve that 
recommendation or form an alternative recommendation. 

6.1.2 Evaluation Tasks 

The following tasks will be completed as part of the evaluation process. 

• Review of all proposals received for compliance.

• Analysis of financial capabilities of companies.

• Reference checks.

• Evaluation of reasonableness and competitiveness of cost proposals.

• Request for clarification information from the Proposer.

• Rating of proposals using a quantitative method based on the criteria presented in
Section 6.2.

• Ranking of proposals using the established evaluation criteria.

• Preparation of a report including the comparative summary of proposals, the
evaluation results and rankings.

During the process, Proposer will be required to attend any interviews, allow site visits, 

and give presentations to the County if requested and as applicable.  

6.2 Evaluation Criteria 

Proposals will be numerically scored and ranked using the criteria and weighting described in 
this section. The scores assigned will reflect the extent to which criteria are fulfilled relative to 
other proposals.  

The evaluation criteria and maximum score that can be achieved for each criterion is presented 
in Table 6-1.  



Storey County, Nevada Section 6. Proposal Evaluation Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 35 

Table 6-1 Evaluation Criteria and Weighting 

The County reserves the right to act in the best interest of its residents and businesses, including 
the right to reject a proposal that is given the highest quantitative scoring in the evaluation 
process if the proposal is not in the best interest of residents and businesses. 

The potential factors that may be considered when developing the score for each criterion are 
presented below.  

6.2.1 Responsiveness (Pass/Fail) 

Proposer must be fully compliant with the RFP and procurement procedures as 
demonstrated by submittal of all elements required by Sections 3 and 5 of this RFP; full 
completion of all cost proposal forms required in Section 5.6; compliance with process 
guidelines presented in Section 4; and adherence to the code of conduct signed by the 
Proposer. 

6.2.2 Company Experience 

1. Collection Experience. Demonstrated experience of company providing the
requested or similar services to other jurisdictions. If the Proposer is a joint venture,
demonstrated experience of parties working together.

2. Service Initiation Experience. Demonstrated experience of company’s ability to
implement new collection services and new franchise agreements and obligations
that are like the County services in comparable sized communities.

3. Management and Customer Service Systems. Demonstrated capabilities of the
company’s existing management and customer service systems’ abilities to track
and monitor contract compliance, quality of collection service, and call center
responsiveness and to report data required (see Article 8 of the Agreement). In the
event the company proposes use of a new or modified system, the extent to which
such system has the potential to meet the County’s needs and contract
requirements will be evaluated.

4. Key Personnel Qualifications. Extent and relevance of the qualifications and
experience of key personnel proposed for the transition team and on-going
management of the County’s collection operations.

Evaluation Criteria Weighting 

Responsiveness to RFP Pass/Fail 

Company Experience 15% 

Company Financial Ability 10% 

Service Approach 25% 

Cost Proposal 40% 

References 10% 

Number and Materiality of Suggested Changes to Agreement Noted 



Storey County, Nevada Section 6. Proposal Evaluation Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 36 

5. Past Performance Record. Review of company’s history with litigation and
regulatory action (including, by way of example, but not limited to nature of past
and pending civil, legal, regulatory, and criminal actions; history and nature of
payments of liquidated damages); regulatory compliance related to equipment and
facilities including compliance with land use permits, storm water discharge permits,
state highway requirements, etc.).

6.2.3 Company Financial Ability 

1. Financial Stability. Financial strength and ability of company to acquire equipment
and provide financial assurance of performance based on review of its audited
financial statements and its proposed financing plan and the relationship of the
County’s Agreement to the company’s total annual revenues.

6.2.4 Service Approach 

1. Collection Approach. Reasonableness and reliability of the proposed collection
methods (including, by way of example, but not limited to technology, equipment,
and containers); reasonableness of productivity and operating assumptions
including, by way of example, but not limited to number of routes, route drivers,
route hours, stops per route, and other operating statistics), if applicable; and
reasonableness of assumptions.

2. Collection Facilities. Plan for providing the facilities needed for equipment storage
and parking, maintenance, and administration. Level of assurance provided, if any,
about site acquisition and timely development of necessary facilities if not
proposing an existing, operational and permitted facility.

3. Recycling Program. The nature, reliability, and innovation of proposed recycling
programs and potential of such programs to divert recyclables from landfill disposal.

4. Public Education and Promotion Program. Compatibility of the proposed education
program, staffing level, and program ideas with the needs of the County and the
requirements of Article 5.11 of the Agreement; and, the quality of public education
samples relative to other Proposers.

6. Employee Retention Plan. Employee retention plan to meet or exceed requirements
described in Section 3.6.3 of this RFP.

7. Implementation Plan. Reasonableness of implementation schedule and ability to
meet deadlines (including, by way of example, but not limited to reasonableness of
equipment procurement schedules, implementation staffing levels, public education
program, container/cart distribution, new corporation or maintenance yard
development, contingency plans, etc.).

8. Capacity. Reasonableness and reliability of the proposed facilities for transfer,
disposal and/or processing of solid waste and recyclable materials, including
documentation of existing facility permitting/approvals and/or guarantee of
sufficient capacity for tonnage from the County service area, and the
reasonableness of proposed material transport plans.

9. Customer Service. Customer service approach, staffing levels, and County-specific
training programs.



Storey County, Nevada Section 6. Proposal Evaluation Process 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 37 

10. Billing System. Billing approach, and procedures for handling customer billing
activities. 

6.2.5 Cost Proposal 

1. Reasonableness of Cost Proposals. Logical relationship between proposed costs and
operational assumptions for the base cost proposal.

2. Competitiveness of Cost Proposals. Cost competitiveness relative to other
proposals. 

6.2.6 References  

1. Jurisdiction Satisfaction. Satisfaction of company’s references with the services
received in the past 10 years (including, but not limited to, implementation,
customer service, call center, billing, payment of fees, reporting, and the handling of
contractual issues).

6.2.6 Number and Materiality of Suggested Changes to Agreement 

The number, nature and materiality of suggested changes to the Agreement will be 
considered in evaluating proposals. 

6.2.7 Alternative Technical Proposals 

The County is not obligated to evaluate or select alternative proposals. Alternative 
proposals will be considered by the County if the County concludes, in its sole 
discretion, that the alternative proposals warrant evaluation and analysis. Such 
evaluation will consider the reasonableness and reliability of proposed collection 
methods, technology, equipment, and containers; and the reasonableness of 
productivity and operating assumptions (including, by way of example, but not limited 
to number of routes, route drivers, route hours, stops per route, and other operating 
statistics). 

At the County’s option, the reasonableness and competitiveness of one or more 
alternative proposal(s) may be evaluated. 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 1 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 1: Draft Franchise Agreement for Collection Services 
(Provided as separate document.) 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 2 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 2: Proposer Code of Conduct 

PROPOSER CODE OF CONDUCT 

Storey County is planning to request and receive proposals for Franchise Collection Services within the 

jurisdiction of Storey County.   

Storey County has a desire to maintain a process free from any undue influence and the appearance of 

impropriety.  The County prepared this “Proposer Code of Conduct”.  

A potential proposer (“Potential Proposer”) is defined as any individual or entity involved in making a 

proposal to the County under the request for proposals (“RFP”). Each Potential Proposer is individually 

responsible for ensuring compliance with the following Code of Conduct. The Potential Proposer’s 

responsibility to comply with this Code of Conduct shall extend to the Potential Proposer’s employees, 

agents, consultants, lobbyists, or other parties or individuals engaged for the purposes of developing or 

supporting the Potential Proposer’s proposal.  

The Proposer Code of Conduct is presented below: 

1. Ex Parte Communications Prohibited

From DATE until the execution of the Agreement with the selected Proposer, Potential Proposers are 

prohibited from having any verbal or written communications (ex parte contacts) with any Supervisor 

related to any matter related to the RFP process, except in the course of a legally noticed meeting of the 

Board of Supervisors, or any subcommittee of the Board, or in conjunction with an ex parte contact 

arranged by and involving the County staff and/or consultants. If any such unauthorized ex parte contact 

occurs, the Supervisor shall disclose its occurrence at the next meeting of the Board of Supervisors that 

next follows the said ex parte contact.  

2. Gift and Compensation Prohibited

From DATE until the execution of the Agreement with the selected Proposer, Potential Proposers are 

prohibited from giving any gift of any monetary value, or compensation of any kind to a Supervisor or 

any County staff member or consultant. Please be aware that any Supervisor who accepts such a gift or 

compensation may be subject to censure by the Board of Supervisors. Any County staff member who 

violates this policy may be subject to discipline including termination of services, and any consultant 

who violates this policy may be subject to termination of services. Any Potential Proposer who violates 

this policy as to gifts or compensation may be subject to disqualification by the Board of Supervisors 

from the RFP Process.  

3. Collusive Activities Prohibited

From DATE, until the execution of the Agreement with the selected Proposer, collusive activities among 

Potential Proposers are expressly forbidden and will likely result in immediate disqualification from the 

Collector Selection Process.  If two or more Potential Proposers are developing a joint proposal, the 

Potential Proposers must notify Sloan Vazquez McAfee using the email provided in Section 4.4.1 no later 

than thirty (30) days prior to the deadline for submission of proposals.  This notification will be kept 

confidential until after submission of all technical and cost proposals.  

The following affidavit is submitted by Proposer as a part of this proposal: 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 2 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 2 

The undersigned deponent, of lawful age, being duly sworn, upon his oath deposes and says: that he has 

lawful authority to execute the within and foregoing proposal; that he has executed the same by 

subscribing his name hereto under oath for and on behalf of said Proposer; that Proposer has not 

directly or indirectly entered into any agreement, express or implied, with any Proposer or Proposers, 

having for its object the controlling of the price or amount of such proposal or proposals, the limiting of 

the proposals or Proposers, the parceling or framing out to any Proposer or Proposers or other persons 

of any part of the agreement or any part of the subject matter of the proposal or proposals or of the 

profits thereof, and that he has not and will not divulge the sealed proposal to any person whomsoever, 

except those having a partnership or other financial interest with him in said proposal or proposals, until 

after the selection of the Contractor and completion of the RFP process.  

Deponent further states that the Proposer has not been a party to any collusion among Proposers in 

restraint of freedom of competition; by agreement to make a proposal at a fixed price or to refrain from 

submitting a proposal; or with any County official or employee as to quantity, quality, or price in the 

prospective agreement; or in any discussions between Proposers and any Storey County official 

concerning exchange of money or other things of value for special consideration in the letting of an 

agreement; that the Proposer/Company has not paid, given or donated or agreed to pay, give or donate 

to any official, officer or employee of Storey County directly or indirectly, in the procuring of the award 

of agreement pursuant to this proposal.  

4. Submission of Code of Conduct

The signed, notarized Code of Conduct must be submitted as described in Section 4.3.1. Proposer Code 

of Conduct.   

I declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing is true 

and correct and that this Code of Conduct was executed on this _____ day of 

___________________, 2023 at ___________________________________________________. 

SIGNED BY: ____________________________________________________________________   

TITLE:        _____________________________________________________________________ 

 Subscribed and sworn to before me on this  _____  day of ______________________________, 

2023 at _________________________________.    

Notary Public My Commission expires: 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 3 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 3: List of County Facilities 

List of County Facilities and Public Receptacle Locations 

Description Address Containers 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 3 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 2 

Description Address Containers 

Currently no service at the following locations; County may add service at these or future sites 
at a later date: 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 4 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 4: Demographic Summary 

The information presented below is for information purposes only.  Each proposer should take whatever 

steps it believes are necessary to determine the actual service requirements of Storey County and 

understand service conditions in Storey County when preparing a proposal. 

Storey County 

Storey County is located in the state of Nevada and is one of the fastest-growing economies in the state. 
In 2018, over 18,000 people were employed in the county.  Technology, manufacturing and logistics are 
the main sectors. In 2010, manufacturing jobs were less than 500, increasing to over 11,000 by 2019, 
many of them making battery storage. Logistics jobs increased from 1,300 to 4,000 in the same 
period. In 2014, 5,000 people were working in the county, increasing to over 18,000 by 2018, mostly in 
the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center. The Tesla Gigafactory 1 has been constructed there. 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the county has a total area of 264 square miles (680 km2), of 
which 263 square miles (680 km2) are land and 0.7 sq mi (1.8 km2) (0.3%) is covered by water. 
Its county seat is Virginia City. 

According to the United States Census, population and housing estimates for the County are as follows: 

Population and Housing Data1 

Population 4,0102 

Housing Units 1,990 

Occupied Housing Units 1,742 

Vacant Housing Units 248 

Persons Per Household 2.30 

The data is intended only to provide a broad overview.  The County asserts no claim as to its accuracy. 

1 Source: US Census Bureau Profile of General Population and Housing Characteristics: 2010 
2 US Census 2020 estimate is 4,104 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 5 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 5: Service Data 

The County has obtained from the current Authorized Collector the following data regarding Service.  
The County neither warrants nor accepts responsibility for the accuracy of the information. 

Current Residential Curbside Customers: NUMBER 

Current Commercial Cart/Bin/Compactor Solid Waste Service: 

Size 

Commercial Cart/Bin Compactor 

1 X 
Week 

2 X 
Week 

3 X 
Week 

4 X 
Week 

5 X 
Week 

6 X 
Week 

1 X 
Week 

2 X 
Week 

3X 
Week 

32 Gallon Cart 

64 Gallon Cart 

96 Gallon Cart 

1 YD 

1.5 YD 

2 YD 

3 YD 

4 YD 

5 YD 

6 YD 

7YD 

Routed Roll-Off 

Locks 

Current Commercial Cart/Bin Recycling Service: 2022 Annual Tonnage: 

Size 
Commercial Cart/Bin Type Solid Waste Recycling 

1 X Week 2 X Week Residential 

32 Gallon Cart Commercial 

64 Gallon Cart Roll-Off 

96 Gallon Cart 

1 YD 

1.5 YD 

2 YD 

3 YD 

4 YD 

5 YD 

6 YD 

7YD 

6 YD Compactor 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 6 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 2 

Attachment 6: Current Rates 

RESIDENTIAL Rate Eff. DATE 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

COMMERCIAL Rate Eff. DATE 

Cart Services 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Temp Bins 

$ 

$ 

Extra Bin Pickups 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Miscellaneous Rate Eff. DATE 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 6 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 3 

COMMERCIAL BIN RATES Rate Eff. DATE 

1 Yard Bins 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 1x Week 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 2x Week 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 3x Week 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 4x Week 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 5x Week 

1 - 1 Yard Bin - 6x Week 

2 Yard Bins 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 1x Week 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 2x Week 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 3x Week 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 4x Week 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 5x Week 

1 - 2 Yard Bin - 6x Week 

3 Yard Bins 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 1x Week 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 2x Week 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 3x Week 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 4x Week 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 5x Week 

1 - 3 Yard Bin - 6x Week 

4 Yard Bins 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 1x Week 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 2x Week 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 3x Week 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 4x Week 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 5x Week 

1 - 4 Yard Bin - 6x Week 

6 Yard Bins 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 1x Week 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 2x Week 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 3x Week 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 4x Week 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 5x Week 

1 - 6 Yard Bin - 6x Week 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 6 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 4 

Services Per Week 

QTY 1 2 3 4 5 6 

1 

2 

3 

2 Yard Bins - Rates Effective DATE 

Services Per Week 

QTY 1 2 3 4 5 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

3 Yard Bins - Rates Effective DATE 

Services Per Week 

QTY 1 2 3 4 5 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

4 Yard Bins - Rates Effective DATE 

Services Per Week 

QTY 1 2 3 4 5 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

6 Yard Bins - Rates Effective DATE 

Services Per Week 

QTY 1 2 3 4 5 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 6 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 5 

ROLL OFF - BINS Rate Eff. DATE 

Bin Rates* 

Compactor Rates Rate Eff. DATE 

10 YD COMPACTOR 

15 YD COMPACTOR 

20 YD COMPACTOR 

24 YD COMPACTOR 

25 YD COMPACTOR 

28 YD COMPACTOR 

30 YD COMPACTOR 

40 YD COMPACTOR 

20 YD SELF-CONTAINED COMPACTOR 

COMPACTOR RATE PER YARD** 

Miscellaneous Rate Eff. DATE 



Storey County, Nevada Attachment 7 

RFP for Franchise Collection Services DATE Page 1 

Attachment 7: Cost Proposal Forms 

Cost proposal forms are provided as a separate Excel Spreadsheet 
to all companies that RSVP for the pre-proposal meeting. 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval to appoint county representative to the
Historic Fourth Ward School and Museum Board.

• Recommended motion: I _(commissioner), move to approve the appointment of
Commissioner Clay Mitchell to serve the remainder of one county representative term on
the Historic Fourth Ward School and Museum Board.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This is a non-profit board that serves to preserve and utilize the Historic
Fourth Ward School.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     28



Page 1 of 1 

List of Storey County Board and Committee Appointments for 2023 

Amended May 16, 2023 

1. Legislative Representative – Clay Mitchell and Austin Osborne with others, including
department heads and staff as needed

2. Nevada-NACO – Jay Carmona with Lance Gilman as alternate.

3. Nevadaworks – Lance Gilman with Lara Mather as alternate

4. Friends of Storey County Senior Center Board – Lance Gilman

5. Storey County Safety Committee – Chris Hannum, Committee Chair

6. Comstock Cemetery Foundation Board – Honey Menefee

7. Carson Water Subconservancy District – Jim Hindle with Austin Osborne as alternate

8. State Land Use Planning Advisory Council (SLUPAC) – Kathy Canfield

9. Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS/USDA) – Kathy Canfield

10. Washoe-Storey Conservation District – Kathy Canfield

11. Truckee River Flood Management Authority, Technical Advisory Committee – Lance
Gilman with Kathy Canfield as alternate

12. Comstock Historic District Commission – Clay Mitchell

13. Nevada Commission for the Reconstruction of the V&T Railway – Clay Mitchell

14. Saint Mary’s Art Center – Jay Carmona

15. Historic Fourth Ward School and Museum Board – Jay Carmona Clay Mitchell

16. Economic Development Authority of Western Nevada (EDAWN) – Austin Osborne

17. Western Nevada Development District (WNDD) (Elected official seat) – Clay Mitchell

18. Western Nevada Development District (WNDD) (Appointed official seat) – Honey
Menefee

19. Northern Nevada Development Authority (NNDA) (elected official seat) – Clay Mitchell

20. Northern Nevada Development Authority (NNDA) (appointed official seat) – Lara Mather

21. Northern Nevada Transportation Management Association – Lara Mather

22. Storey County Wildlife Advisory Board – Rob DuFresne, Greg Hess Sr., Greg “Bum”
Hess, Casey Kelly, and Rich Bacus

23. Virginia City Tourism Commission: Paul Hoyle (hotel representative); Ron Gallagher (at-
large representative); Angelo Petrini (business district representative); A. Perry (motel
representative); and Jay Carmona (county commission representative).

Notes: 

1. Friends of Storey County Senior Center, a non-profit 501(C)(3), will accompany and provide

grant assistance and other support to Storey County Senior Services.

2. Before a County Manager position was created in Storey County, the board members

would oversee certain departments of the county directly. This oversight may no longer be

necessary with a County Manager now overseeing all appointed departments, and,

therefore, a board member representative for Public Works is not assigned at this time.

Also, the Fire District is overseen by the Fire District Chief, and that appointed Chief is

overseen by the Fire District Board. Therefore, the same is represented for the Fire District

list.



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/16/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
•
• A. Alkalinea LLC – Out of County / 13109 Davos Dr. ~ Truckee, CA
• B. Big Bear Springs – General / 184 S. C St. ~ Virginia City, NV
• C. Frazier Industrial Company – Contractor / 91 Fairview Avenue ~ Long Valley, NJ
• D. Harder Built Construction LLC – Contractor / 1802 N. Carson St. Unit 100 ~ Carson

City, NV
• E. M&M Excavating & Landscape Services LLC – Contractor / 120 Inventors Pl. ~

Sparks, NV
• F. Olivier’s Organic French Crepes – Food Truck / 454 Moran St. ~ Reno, NV
• G. Pacific Decorative Concrete Inc. – Contractor / 5421 Stationers Way ~ Sacramento,

CA
• H. Quality Fence of Nevada – Contractor / 59 Red Rock Rd. ~ Moundhouse, NV
• I. Summit Line Construction Inc. – Contractor / 441 W. Power Line Rd. ~ Heber, UT
• J. Superior Installation Services Inc. – Contractor / 1230 Crowley Circle ~ Carrollton, TX
• K. Texas Republic Signs, LLC – Contractor / 2211 Pech Rd. ~ Houston, TX
• L. Western States Electric – Contractor / 1101 National Dr. Ste. D ~ Sacramento, CA
• M. Wikborn Ventures, LLC – Home Business / 19 Toll Rd. ~ Virginia City, NV

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470966

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to
the new business license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

    29



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office May 04, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the May 16, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. Alkalinea LLC – Out of County / 13109 Davos Dr. ~ Truckee, CA

B. Big Bear Springs – General / 184 S. C St. ~ Virginia City, NV

C. Frazier Industrial Company – Contractor / 91 Fairview Avenue ~ Long Valley, NJ

D. Harder Built Construction LLC – Contractor / 1802 N. Carson St. Unit 100 ~ Carson City, NV

E. M&M Excavating & Landscape Services LLC – Contractor / 120 Inventors Pl. ~ Sparks, NV

F. Olivier’s Organic French Crepes – Food Truck / 454 Moran St. ~ Reno, NV

G. Pacific Decorative Concrete Inc. – Contractor / 5421 Stationers Way ~ Sacramento, CA

H. Quality Fence of Nevada – Contractor / 59 Red Rock Rd. ~ Moundhouse, NV

I. Summit Line Construction Inc. – Contractor / 441 W. Power Line Rd. ~ Heber, UT

J. Superior Installation Services Inc. – Contractor / 1230 Crowley Circle ~ Carrollton, TX

K. Texas Republic Signs, LLC – Contractor / 2211 Pech Rd. ~ Houston, TX

L. Western States Electric – Contractor / 1101 National Dr. Ste. D ~ Sacramento, CA

M. Wikborn Ventures, LLC – Home Business / 19 Toll Rd. ~ Virginia City, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  


	Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of conferring with county management and legal counsel regarding labor negotiations with the Storey County Firefighters’ Association IAFF Local 422. This meeting will commence at
	Consideration and possible approval of the Agenda for the May 16, 2023, meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 21, 2023,
regular meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 23, 2023,
special meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the March 30, 2023,
special meeting.
	Business License First Readings -- Approval
	Approval of claims in the amount of $1,019,295.71.
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District Final Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.
	To approve Lara Mathers, Storey County’s Business Development Officer to renew The System of Award Management (SAM) account on behalf of the Fire District.
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Sewer Final Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Final Budget.
	Authorize the County Manager to approve a contract modification with the United States Geological Survey (USGS) to continue a five-year program of voluntary monitoring of groundwater levels and quality, aquifer conditions,
	Consideration and possible approval of amendment to  rental agreement with Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC (Nova) for the purpose of performing geological, geotechnical, environmental (Phase I and Phase II), engineering and r
	Consideration and possible approval of the CVS and Allergan Settlement Participation forms.  By these forms Storey County releases any claims it may have in the ongoing opioid litigation proceedings against CVS Pharmacy  and its associated entities as wel
	Allow the Public Works Director to sign the quote from Snoquip in the amount of $212,000.00 ordering a new Loader Mounted Larue D45 235 HP Cummins Tier 4 engine with wireless controls to be paid for out of the 2023/2024 Fiscal Year Budget upon delivery i
	To authorize the County Manager to accept and sign a proposal from Clayton Homes for the replacement of the Sheriff's Office Lockwood Substation at 420 Canyon Way, Lockwood for an amount not to exceed $300,000.00.  The work will include the removal and
	Consideration and possible approval acceptance of Assignment and Assumption of Lease by Comstock Cemetery Foundation, Inc. (CCF, Assignor) and Storey County (Assignee) with approval by Consolidated Virginia Mining Company (Landowner) predicated upon compl
	Review and Comment on Storey County RFP for Franchise Collection Services Draft (Draft RFP). Direct staff to incorporate changes to Draft RFP, complete the Draft Collection Service Agreement, and bring both documents back to the board at a future meeting
	Consideration and possible approval to appoint county representative to the Historic Fourth Ward School and Museum Board.
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.

	State: Nevada
	StateEmail: aosborne@storeycounty.org
	StatePhone: 775 847 0968
	StateCity State Zip: Virginia City NV 89440
	StateAddress 2: 26 South B Street
	StateAddress 1: PO box 176
	StateAuthorized Official: Austin Osborne
	State NevadaEmail: aosborne@storeycounty.org
	State NevadaPhone: 775 847 0968
	State NevadaCity State Zip: Virginia City, NV 89440
	State NevadaAddress 2: PO Box 176
	State NevadaAddress 1: 26 S. B Street
	State NevadaAuthorized Official: Austin Osborne
	Governmental Entity:  Storey County
	Date: 
	Title: 
	Name: 


